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Corporate Information
2[FEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors as now constituted is listed below:

Executive Director
Mr. Wang Jia Jun (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Director
Dr. Xiao Zhixin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hon Kit
Dr. Liu Yongping

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wang Jia Jun
Mr. Tam Sze Kin

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Tam Sze Kin

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Wong Hon Kit (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Yongping

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Wong Hon Kit (Chairman)

Dr. Liu Yongping

Mr. Wang Jia Jun

NOMINATION AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Jia Jun (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Hon Kit

Dr. Liu Yongping
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Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
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Century Yard, Cricket Square

P.O. Box 902
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KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Yangchun Dongmen sub-branch, PRC
China Construction Bank Corporation
Meizhou Wuhua Station branch, PRC
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Wuchun City sub-branch, PRC
Bank of Communications Co., Limited

Hong Kong Branch

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

31/F, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

11 Pedder Street

Central, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
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WEBSITE

www.wanjia-gp.com
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Wanjia
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the audited financial results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year

ended 31 March 2024.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

The Group continues to focus on pharmaceutical wholesale and
distribution business, and provides hemodialysis treatment and
consultancy service business in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

Looking back at the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
made various adjustments business strategy such as streamlined
the business operations in the PRC market to control operating
costs, implemented an effective cash flow management strategy,
and assessed the business expansion plan with a more prudent

approach.

Despite the PRC's slowing economy and regional geopolitical
tensions, the Group's business remains robust and resilient as
the total revenue of the Group for the year was approximately
HK$181.092 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$7.390 million as compared to 2023. The gross profit was
approximately HK$54.740 million, representing an decrease of
approximately HK$2.196 million as compared to 2023. The loss
for the year attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately HK$39.977 million, mainly due to the impairment
loss on goodwill, the refund certain excessive charges in relation
to hemodialysis treatment to the relevant county medical security
bureau, and the provision in expected credit losses on trade and

other receivables.
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Management’s Statement
EEERS

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group will centralise its resources in developing the
hemodialysis treatment and consultancy service business. The
Group will look to further develop its hemodialysis treatment
and consultancy service business through organic growth and

acquisitions.

Looking forward, the Group will focus on developing such
segment through establishment of new self-operated hemodialysis
treatment centres and provide hemodialysis consultancy service
to hospitals in the PRC so as to expand its operating scale and

further penetrate in the market.

The Group believes that the demand for hemodialysis treatment
services in the PRC market is still far from being met and has
great potential for development. Based on the Group’s experience
and strength in the medical field, we will continue to further
explore and expand our existing businesses to further penetrate
the hemodialysis sector, and it will become the driving force for
building our Group's influence in the market and create better

return to the shareholders.

The Group will continue to pay attention to different investment
opportunities, identify appropriate businesses and projects for

shareholders, and increase shareholders returns.
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Management’s Statement
EHEERS

APPRECIATION g

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere EANERRESTHEBERKETIALTE
gratitude to the management team and staff for their tireless BRREEREL ZFEE 2R H -
dedication that helps fuel the Group’s healthy development. In LESh  KATHEZERR - EBBHEEAETRZ
addition, | would also like to thank all our shareholders, business FEYFRARHSH R_E-_OFE - xA2T#H
partners and customers for their continuous support. In 2024, the BEBZ DT ARREIZERIAGERIIR
Company will continue to work tirelessly to create long-term value

returns for the shareholders.

Wang Jia Jun TR &
Chief Executive Officer E {5
Hong Kong, 21 June 2024 FBA ZE_MESBZ+—H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENRRAH

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Summary of the results of the Group for the financial year ended
31 March 2024 is as follows:

8

Total revenue was approximately HK$181.092 million (2023:
approximately HK$173.702 million), representing an increase
of approximately 4.25% over 2023.

Gross profit was approximately HK$54.740 million (2023:
approximately HK$56.936 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 3.86% over 2023.

Loss from operations was approximately HK$39.438 million
(2023: profit from operations was approximately HK$4.473

million).

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$39.977 million (2023: profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$1.820 million).

The basic and diluted loss per share was approximately
HK$7.14 cents (2023: basic and diluted earnings per share
was approximately HK$0.32 cents).

The Group had total cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$18.228 million as at 31 March 2024
(2023: approximately HK$9.876 million).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holdings company and the Group
is engaged in the business on pharmaceutical wholesale and
distribution business, and hemodialysis treatment and consultancy
service business in the PRC.

Looking back at the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
made various adjustments business strategy such as streamlined
the business operations in the PRC market to control operating
costs, implemented an effective cash flow management strategy,
and assessed the business expansion plan with a more prudent
approach.

Despite the PRC's slowing economy and regional geopolitical
tensions, the Group's business remains robust and resilient as
the total revenue of the Group for the year was approximately
HK$181.092 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$7.390 million as compared to 2023. The gross profit was
approximately HK$54.740 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$2.196 million as compared to 2023. The loss
for the year attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately HK$39.977 million.

Total revenue generated from pharmaceutical wholesale and
distribution business for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$51.536 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 1.42% as compared to 2023.

Total revenue contributed by the hemodialysis treatment and
consultancy service business for the year ended 31 March 2024
was approximately HK$129.556 million, representing an increase
of 6.7% as compared to 2023. All employees of the Group spared
no effort to actively implement and complete all development
goals under the leadership of the Board and the management
team, we are proud to see a growth rate in this business segment
during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENRRAH

Segment information
During the year, the revenue of the Group was principally

generated from: (1) pharmaceutical wholesale and distribution

business and (2) hemodialysis treatment and consultancy service

business in the PRC. Financial information in respect of these

operations is presented in Note 7 to the consolidated financial

statements.

1)

2)

10

Pharmaceutical wholesale and distribution business
The Group has a large and broad customer base through
our distribution network in Fujian Province in the PRC. The
Group distributes pharmaceutical products to our customers
located principally in the Fujian Province. Our customers
can be categorized into three types namely hospitals
and healthcare institutions and end customers such as
companies operating pharmaceutical retail chain stores,
independent pharmacies, and outpatient departments of
community hospitals, healthcare service stations and clinics.
In the early part of 2019, the medical reform policy further
controlled the pharmaceutical costs in public hospitals
in Fujian Province which reduced the overall size of the
pharmaceutical distribution business in public hospitals. In
addition, the distribution policy broke the original rules that
essential medicines in public hospitals in Fujian Province were
only distributed by 10 wholesale companies, thereby causing
material adverse impact in the operation and its overall
performance of the Group in pharmaceutical wholesale and
distribution business.

Revenue from this segment was approximately HK$51.536
million (2023: approximately HK$52.278 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 1.42%. Loss from
this business segment was approximately HK$1.352 million
(2023: Loss from this business segment was approximately
HK$1.130 million).

Hemodialysis treatment and consultancy service
business

In respect of the hemodialysis treatment business, the
Group currently operates several self-operated hemodialysis
treatment centres spread across the Guangdong Province,
PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Revenue from this segment was approximately HK$129.556
million (2023: approximately HK$121.424 million),
representing an increase of approximately 6.7%. Loss
from this business segment was approximately HK$29.538
million, mainly due to the impairment loss on goodwill, and
refund certain excessive charges in relation to hemodialysis
treatment to the relevant county medical security bureau
(2023: Gain from this business segment was approximately
HK$15.450 million).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue was approximately
HK$181.092 million (2023: approximately HK$173.702 million),
accounting for an increase of approximately 4.25% as compared
to 2023. The increase of revenue was generated from the
hemodialysis treatment and consultancy services business in the
PRC.

Other revenue

Other revenue, primarily including interest income amounted to
approximately HK$0.043 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: approximately HK$0.153 million).

Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 March 2024, selling and distribution
expenses amounted to approximately HK$35.758 million (2023:
approximately HK$34.798 million), representing an increase of
approximately 2.76% as compared to 2023. The increase in the
selling and distribution expenses was due to the increase of

marketing expenses, transportation and logistics costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENRRAH

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$29.789 million (2023:
approximately HK$24.584 million), representing an increase of
approximately 21.17% as compared to 2023. The increase was
mainly due to the refund of certain excessive charges in relation
to hemodialysis treatment to the relevant county medical security

bureau, the share option expense, and staff costs.

Finance costs

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the finance costs of the
Group were approximately HK$1.711 million (2023: approximately
HK$2.018 million), representing a decrease of approximately
15.21% as compared to 2023, due to less interest payment from

borrowings.

Loss/(profit) for the year attributable to owners of the
Company

The Group has recorded loss for the year attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$39.977 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: profit for the year attributable to

owners of the Company was approximately HK$1.820 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The loss was mainly due to among others, the following reasons:

(a)

the provision in expected credit loss of approximately
HK$4.595 million, mainly due to the overdue trade and

other receivables from customers;

each of the Group's two hemodialysis treatment centres
(the

county medical security bureau (the

“Centres”) have been requested by the relevant
“Bureau”) in the
Guangdong Province, the PRC to refund certain items
charged by then relating to hemodialysis treatment
between 2020 to 2023 in the amount of approximately
HK$6.0 million. During the inspection by the Bureau in
2023, the Bureau considered that some ancillary services
rendered by the Centres to the hemodialysis patients
during 2020 to 2023 were excessive. Hence, the Centres
were required to refund those claimed fees in connection
with the excessive services to the Bureau. Such amount has
been fully settled before the year ended 31 March 2024.
Notwithstanding the refund request from the Bureau,
the Group has obtained the legal advice to the PRC law
which opined that the request for refund was not an
administrative penalties but merely a demand for refund to
the Bureau. Such refund does not denote any breach nor
violation of any rules and regulations with the hemodialysis
treatment practices on the part of the Centres. The PRC
legal adviser further opined that the Centres’ medical
insurance claiming position are in normal settlement status
and the operation of the Centres during 2020 to 2023
were in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
in the PRC. As at the date of this report, the Centres are
still carrying out its operation as usual. However, it is
expected that the overall profitability of the Centres in the

coming years will be decreased; and
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENRRAH

14

the provision of impairment loss of goodwill of
approximately HK$22.310 million (the “Impairment”) for
the Current Period. The Impairment was primarily due to (i)
cost control measures imposed by a county’s medical security
bureau in the Guangdong Province, PRC to limit the medical
treatment fee that can be charged for each patient’s visit by
the hemodialysis treatment centre which thus will reduce
the overall revenue generated by the hemodialysis treatment
centre; and (ii) the opening of an another hemodialysis
treatment centre in the Guangdong Province, PRC in 2025
will require additional capital investment and funding which
in turn will lower the projection of the cash flow forecast
in 2024 and 2025 respectively. The Board would like to
emphasize that the Impairment is a non-cash item and has

no effect on the Group’s daily operations and cash flow.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

EHtRZzEERERBESE (THE)
#922,310,0008 T BEREERUT
AEXE ()PTEHERE —ERNER
RIERBHRBEAEF BT RASXRE
MRBEMEERP O EEE AR IR
il > I & 53 A VA B RO B RS IR A T T 4R
B KB —RILRBENAERBROR
CE_AEREPEERERE EE
KM EARME SR AIEEEZ
EMNEM_S_EEMNREFEER
ZHEA - EEGELRA BEAIER
THEE HAEEHEEERRERE

/—E/
Wi R o



Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Overall financial position

The Group had total cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$18.228 million as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately
HK$9.876 million). The increase was due to the improvement
on the trade receivables settlement. The Group recorded total
current assets of approximately HK$58.392 million as at 31 March
2024 (2023: approximately HK$76.869 million) and total current
liabilities of approximately HK$30.361 million as at 31 March
2024 (2023: approximately HK$38.074 million). The current ratio
of the Group, calculated by dividing the current assets by the
current liabilities, was approximately 1.92 as at 31 March 2024
(2023: approximately 2.02).

Gearing ratio

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio which was
calculated based on outstanding debts (comprising borrowings,
amount due to a director and lease liabilities) less cash and cash
equivalents over total equity (including all capital and reserves
attributable to owners of the Company) was approximately 0.08
(2023: approximately 0.13).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2024, no member of the Group was engaged
in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no
litigation or claim of material importance was known to the
Directors to be pending or threatened against any member of the

Group.

Capital commitment
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no material capital
commitment (2023: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2024, the total issued share capital of the
Company was approximately HK$28.011 million (2023:
approximately HK$28.011 million) representing 560,222,136
ordinary shares (2023: 560,222,136 ordinary shares).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENRRAH

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The following is the key risk and uncertainty
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to the Group or which may not be material now but could

turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

PRC government policy

The Group is very concerned about external regulatory
compliance and environmental changes, and a management
team is responsible for timely collection, interpretation and
promotion of external regulatory requirements. The Group's
management, together with the business line, will also discuss
changes in the external environment, assess the impact of
regulatory requirements on the existing business, and develop
targeted countermeasures. The Group's compliance team will
provide professional advice on the latest regulatory requirements
and conduct compliance reviews on the compliance of existing

regulations.

Foreign exchange and goodwill impairment risks

Since almost all transactions of the Group are denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars, most of the bank deposits
are being kept in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars to minimise
exposure to foreign exchange risk, the Directors consider that the
Group's risk exposure to currency fluctuations to be manageable.
Therefore, the Group had not implemented any formal hedging
or other alternative policies to deal with such exposure during the

year.

Impairment test for goodwill is based on the forecast of future
cash flow and contains the management’s relevant assumptions
and professional judgements. Goodwill is exposed to certain risks

of impairment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains the level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flow. The management
manages liquidity risk by monitoring the utilisation of borrowings,
adequacy of reserves and banking facilities by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 193 (2023: 202) full time
employees (including the executive Director) as shown in the
following table:

EREMmRA

RENE & AR

EEERBEZRARNERES  AEEEE
THFEEEIARUABRTEREERER
ERBET RN ENRERREEFEEE
KE - EEBERRIESTABNNGERE
BREEBEZEFARBRES R EMEEE
MHERBER FERERIRITRENTEE R

& & B B BT R
REZBZWNF=A=+—H F%£EERF193
B (CZEI=F:202%) 2HES (B1FEHIT
BE) HBEHNTR:

Number of staff

Location th 24 BT A#
Hong Kong &% 6
Mainland China AR [ P 3t 187

For the year ended 31 March 2024, staff costs (including directors’
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$22.481 million
(2023: approximately HK$20.221 million). The Group remunerates
its employees based on individual performance and qualification.
Apart from the basic remuneration, staff benefits include share-
based payment, the contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme, discretionary bonus and medical coverage in Hong Kong;
and basic insurance for the elderly, basic medical insurance, work
injury insurance and unemployment insurance to the employees in
the PRC.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any charges on the
Group's assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

However, one of the Group’s self-operated hemodialysis treatment
centres in Huidong, Guangdong Province, the PRC, namely
Huidong Centre was disposed at RMB3.5 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$3.990 million) on 31 March 2023. As of 11
May 2023, the disposal was completed, and the Group recorded a
gain on disposal of Huidong Centre with approximately HK$3.009
million. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 31
March 2023 for further details.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-H1ERELES

ABOUT WANIJIA GROUP
In 2013, Wanjia Group Holdings Limited (“Wanjia” or the

“Company”; or together with its subsidiaries as the “Group”
or “we") was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). It is an investment
holding company that primarily operates in the pharmaceutical
wholesale and distribution business, as well as the hemodialysis
treatment and consultancy business in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). We uphold the operation philosophy of
“Integrity is the foundation, Morality comes first” and adhere to

the operation objective of “Benefit the society and community”.

Operation

Philosophy
EEERES

Integrity is the
foundation,
Morality comes first.

HERE ERAE

Our Business

The Group is a leading provider of hemodialysis and consultancy
services in the market. We are committed to transforming care
delivery to improve the quality of life of our patients and strive to

become the largest provider of kidney care services in the PRC.

Our pharmaceutical wholesale and distribution business in the
PRC serves an extensive and diverse customer base. The Group
sells pharmaceutical products to customers primarily located in
Fujian Province. We categorize our customers into three main
groups: hospitals and healthcare institutions, companies operating
pharmaceutical retail chain stores, and end customers like
independent pharmacies, outpatient departments of community

hospitals, healthcare service stations, and clinics.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

The Report to the 20th CPC National Congress, delivered by
General Secretary Xi Jinping, prioritized the development of
promoting the construction of a healthy China and safeguarding
people’s health. In 2024, the Group continued to follow the policy
guideline of “Benefit the society and community.” The Group will
centralize the resources on hemodialysis treatment and consulting
services. In the future, the Group will focus on establishing new
self-operated hemodialysis treatment centres and providing
hemodialysis consulting services to hospitals simultaneously. Going
forward, the Group plans to explore market opportunities in other
cities and regions within the PRC, aiming to expand its business

operations and scale.

In the Reporting Period, the Group worked with a sustainability
consultant to identify environmental, social, and governance
("ESG") related risks. The goal was to refine the Group’s
sustainability governance policies and reporting disclosures.
Important sustainability issues were identified based on industry
trends and business developments, focusing on climate change,
product and service safety, and anti-corruption training. The
Board of Directors will consider strategies to address the identified
risks, aiming to formulate a more comprehensive approach to

sustainable development.

The Board expresses its sincere gratitude to all shareholders,
business partners, and customers for their ongoing trust and
support of the Group, as well as recognizing the dedication
and efforts of every employee. The Group will continue to be
committed to integrating the ESG concept with its business
development, strive to create opportunities and look forward to

sharing the harvest with all stakeholders.

RIE-#HERELRRS

O] EE R R E
PHARBELBOFE_TRESEF B
FRAEERETRERMREARER-
RIE_MF AEMBEBRERIBTFHE
BB NBRAH sEBREPERE
TREN AR R A MRS o KK > ZEER
EEANBUNNBEORBEMAERF O I
ERSBRERDBREMEART BREX
FoAEEFHEFREMBHMMERR
MG E B HBEREFESMREE -

HREHE AEEARFEERERGE XU
MRRE - ERAERR  UTEEENA
RESROEBRABRENE -RIETES
DREBERBETEZNAFENERE
EHMIRGEELC - ERRRBLZEURK
B IEEN - EEE i E S I8 BB & R e
REEUEILEZENAFEERG A

EXEOHEBERR - EBBARTRAHEE
EN—BEEENXFRTHBRSY LHE
UETHHFERMEARTEBA - AEE R
BEIXBER THRESHIABBEER
R HERRFHE-—ROZWE-

BEEEEZERBRATE 19
202324 3R



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERELES

ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the ninth ESG Report (the “Report”), which aims
to provide stakeholders with a better understanding of the
Group's progress in terms of corporate social responsibility and
sustainability issues by presenting the Group’s policies, measures,
and performance related to environmental, social, and governance

matters.

Reporting Period and Scope

The Report encompasses the Group's pharmaceutical wholesale
and distribution, as well as hemodialysis treatment and
consulting service businesses for the year ended 31 March 2024
(the "Reporting Period”), unless otherwise specified. The
Reporting Scope is the same as last year’s report. The disclosure
of environmental key performance indicators (“KPIs") focuses
on the Group’s pharmaceutical wholesale and distribution and
hemodialysis treatment and consulting service businesses in the

PRC, while the disclosure of social KPIs covers the entire Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Reporting Principles

The Report discloses environmental and social KPIs in compliance
with the “Comply or Explain” provisions specified in Appendix
C2"Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the
“Guide”) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange. The Group adheres to

RIE-#HERELRRS

wERA

FREKBEEZFA(ESF LEHRR) (TEH
MA) MigRC2 GRIF-HERERREES)
(T$5511) R IRETIBRRE NREREHERT
RERMERBEVIER -TEBERTSE
BRERRFHUTZEREFEA -

the following three reporting principles in the preparation of the

Report.

Materiality EE 1%

Quantitative 21t

The Group conducted an internal materiality assessment
to effectively identify the issues that are material to the
Group and stakeholders during the Reporting Period in
a more comprehensive manner.

REBERAFEET T ABEE T LM A M5
HAEEEBREMEALEMENEE-

The Report has disclosed KPIs in a quantitative
manner where appropriate. The KPIs are calculated
with reference to “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” and “Appendix 3: Reporting
Guidance on Social KPIs” of “How to Prepare an ESG
Report” published by the Stock Exchange.
HERITHER T  ABREUECHARIRBIRER T ER
REMIER - HRARARERIE RS2 T B PATT 389 (1
ARERRE - HEREARS)PIMET | IRRMAREA
HIERERIES I AR = - H ERARESISIRERS
Sl IETEE

Consistency —E %

The Report applies consistent statistical methodologies for meaning comparisons of ESG data over time. In case of

any changes in the reporting scope or methodologies, they are explained for stakeholders’ reference.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERELES

Data Collection
The information and data cited by the Group are derived from
official documents of the Group and have been reviewed and

approved by the Group's Board of Directors (the “Board”).

Report Version and Access

The Report is published annually and is available in both
traditional Chinese and English versions. The electronic version
of the Report can be downloaded from the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Group (https://www.wanjia-gp.com). Should
there be any discrepancies or inconsistencies between the English
and Chinese versions of the Report, the English version shall

prevail.

Feedback

The Group appreciates the insights and opinions of its diverse
stakeholders and is committed to continuously enhancing
its sustainable development performance. If you have any
suggestions on the Report or the sustainable development

strategy of the Group, please feel free to contact us.

Address: Suite 1801, 18/F, The Gateway, Harbour City,
25 Canton Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@wanjia-gp.com

Company website: info@wanjia-gp.com
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SUSTAINABLE GOVERNANCE

A well-established governance structure is essential for ensuring
the Group’s sustainable development, with the Board playing a
pivotal role in overseeing the management of ESG risks, which
involves evaluating, prioritizing, and managing the material
ESG issues and risks. Additionally, the Board bears ultimate
responsibility for managing the Group’s significant risks.
Meanwhile, the Board will set and manage the ESG-related targets
and review the progress and completion of them. The Board also
regularly reviews the relevant ESG policies and measures, and
effectiveness of sustainable development. To further strengthen its
ESG and sustainability efforts, the Company has engaged Riskory
Consultancy Limited as a sustainability consultant to provide

expert advisory services.

Effective risk management is a crucial component of corporate
governance, with the Board conducting regular assessments of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. Employment contracts and Employee
Handbook also provide clear definitions of employee codes of
conduct and formulate corresponding measures for violations or
unethical behaviours. For details on corporate governance, please

refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE-HIERERES

BUSINESS ETHICS

Upholding top-tier corporate governance standards is vital for
the Group’s reputation and competitive edge in the industry.
Integrity plays a crucial role in achieving this goal. The Group
adopts a zero-tolerance approach towards activities such as
bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering. The Group has
implemented a well-defined governance structure that conducts
periodic reviews and oversight of corporate management policies
and practices to ensure compliance.

The Group rigorously complies with all pertinent laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China, Criminal Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Interim Provisions on Banning
Commercial Bribery, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615 of the Laws of

Hong Kong).
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e Employees are required to declare their relationship with any other personnel

Employee Code of Conduct
and Professional Code

BITARBEKBETH

and

of the Group and other partner companies prior to their employment and
shall abstain from such business activities that may cause conflict of interests;

éI?‘)\Hﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁEE$E£53$l&ﬁﬁA{’E%uE’JﬁcﬂﬁﬂﬁAEEﬁf% » 3lfi FE E B
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Flago

HEIE

Our staff are explicitly instructed to refrain from accepting any benefits from
suppliers or partner companies under any circumstance.

FFIARIERE TEEMABR TEHFY

SEERAMHEERSEARNEM

e Employees can inform their supervisors, designated responsible personnel, or
senior management of any suspected violations or unethical conduct;

BETIUREMIRERIFE

Whistleblowing Policy BIEE ;

BROASNEZTE - BEEEARSHK

24

LIWER

W0,

Upon receipt of the report, designated responsible personnel will investigate
and provide solutions to all complaints and allegations contained in the report
and report the results of the investigation to the Review Committee; and

W BRE IEEEEAGHREANFAA R RIGEEL AL LR HER
FE RENEEZECERATER ) &

If the management identifies a serious breach, consideration will be given to
referral to the judicial authorities to ensure that the Group operates with the
highest ethical and professional integrity.
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During the Reporting Period, we conducted anti-corruption
training for directors and staff to boost their integrity awareness,
understand relevant legislation, and prevent internal business

corruption.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any legal
cases regarding corrupt practices. The Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations in relation
to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering that have a

significant impact on the Group.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder opinions are crucial for the Group’s long-term
growth and success. The Group highly values these opinions
and continuously strives to enhance communication channels to

actively gather and understand their views and expectations.

We communicated with stakeholders through various channels, as

summarized below:

RIE-#HERELRRS
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Stakeholders Major Communication Channels Concerns
HinE FEBERE =T
Investor and e Annual general meetings e Corporate governance
Shareholder BRRBEAE AFAE
REERBRRE
e Annual and interim reports e Business compliance
° .l FERPHRE EBEHR
an
'. ° e Press release and announcements e Return on investment
a e WHERRAS KRE[E#HK
e Company website
NGIE DS
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Stakeholders Major Communication Channels Concerns

Fin& FTEBEERE R HRIA

Customer e After-sales services e Quality and safety of products and services
-1a & 1% RS ERRRENRERER

e Customer feedback forms, hotline and

*** emails

00 ERRBRME RERE
o b 0t

e Company website

NSIE D

e Customer rights protection

EREDRE

Supplier and Business o Site visits

Partner FihEER
HEBRRBRH

* Business conferences
XBas

e Supplier assessments

e Fair procurement process

NFRBRIE

e Timely delivery of supplied goods/services

KB R A R RS

A T E
Employee e Trainings e Staff salary and benefits
B8 &l BT #HMREF
‘ e Performance review and meetings e Health and safety of working environment
RIS B mE ITERENRRREZSR

o

¢ Internal announcements and
publications

B AERTIY

e Suggestion box
BRE

e Training and career development

S E 39
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Stakeholders Major Communication Channels Concerns
FinE FEBERE RAEEE
Government and e Routine reports e Compliance with laws and regulations
Regulatory Authority PIITERE BT ERERER
R REEEHE
e \Working conferences
‘ THEE=® e Sustainable development
S AIREER
] I I I l e Supervision on compliance with
local laws and regulations

BB TAMEZRMERNEE

Community e Community activities e Community involvement
HE HEES HESH

* e Charitable donations e Environmental protection awareness
BEBEw IRIR (R B
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e Social media
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group engaged an independent sustainable development
consultant to evaluate the materiality of ESG-related issues.
Additionally, the Group performs internal assessments to gauge
the impact of these issues on stakeholders, aiming to identify and

address their expectations and concerns.
The procedures for the materiality assessment are as follow:

Issue Identification

il Bl 558 =8

| ol

sorted out.

EEMFE
AEEMBFETBUNTREERERMKTG
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By referring to the new requirements of the Stock Exchange and the Guide, and

communicating with stakeholders, the material ESG issues of the Group were

BBSEEBMIFA(RE-HERELARSIES D REFHEBRER  BEY
HAREEREENRE - HERELHEE

Review and Examination

[0 /B8 e 2 4R

&

Confirmation of

Material Topics

EEMEEEIL

Combining the expectations of major stakeholders and the influence of different
sustainable development issues, we reviewed and re-assessed the material issues
identified in 2022/23.

HETERFNENPRERTRARE HERESZENTERNTE  HMAYH
2022/23F E#HNEEMZEETRIRE R BRI

Based on a review of the various ESG issues, we agreed that material topics
in the Reporting Period have not changed significantly compared to those in

2022/23. During the Reporting Period, 8 issues are classified as material topics.

The material topics will be disclosed in this Report.

ERNHKRBE -HERERE

During the Reporting Period, 8 issues have higher materiality and

BB HELBRSFEMKE -

highlighted in this report, including Wastewater Management,
Combatting Climate Change, Anti-Corruption, Customer
Satisfaction, Data Security and Customer Privacy Management,
Product Health and Safety, Product Quality Management,

Employee Communication.
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Environment Aspect

IRIZEME

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Operational Practices Aspect
EEEMAEE

1. Air Emission Management

REEHMEE

2. Energy Management
BERERE

3. Environmental Compliance

RIEER

4. Expenses on Environmental
Protection

RIRRERX
5. Greenhouse Gases Management

BERBEE

6. Waste Management
EEEYE IR

7. Wastewater Management

EEKEIR

8. Combating climate change

FEH RIREE

Note 1:The highlighted issues are identified as having higher material

during the Reporting Period.

9. Anti-Competitive Behavior
Management
RFERITRERE

10. Anti-Corruption
R&B

11.Company Profitability

AT EFIEE

12.Customer Satisfaction

ERREE

13.Data Security and Customer

Privacy Management

BEREREFRLER

14.Innovation and Intellectual
Property Rights
B 3 e N 38 £ 1

15.Product Health and Safety
EnERRZZR

16.Product Quality Management
EmmEERE

17.Supplier Management
MR EE

B REREEERS

RIE-#HERELRRS

Social Aspect
#tgRm

18. Anti-discrimination

= %2148

19.Community Relations

HERIE

20.Diversity and Equal Opportunity
ZREhTFEHXE

21.Employee Communication

EE &S

22.0ccupational Safety and Health
BEZERER

23.Social and Economic Compliance
HEREESR

24 .Talent Management

AT EE

25.Training and Development

B3I R B F

26.Prevention of Child and Forced

Labour

B3 Lk B T e 58 ) 55 &

ot

ZMHNEENEREF
e’

>l

S ©

BEREEERERAR
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RIE-HERELES

OPERATING PRACTICES SEREG

The Group's pharmaceutical wholesale and distribution business FEENERMBNAOHEBEASTRER
prioritizes drug safety and effectiveness. As a responsible drug HNEZEMMBERME - EFRERENEY HIH
distributor, the Group implements effective quality control BoRMEEEARE - FE - HERERBE
measures throughout the procurement, storage, sales, and REMABXNNREZERER  BREYRE
transportation processes to ensure the quality of medicine. The REAERHBEERBULSEERT AEEE
Group is dedicated to offering professional services that prioritize =~ ZERLBM D HEFIBERETER B R E
the convenience of our customers. The Group strictly adheres to mEEEERMAIENERER 8FEER
the laws and regulations set forth by the State Food and Drug FRAS

Administration in pharmaceutical wholesale and distribution

operations, including but not limited to:

Relevant Laws and Regulations

HRZERRIER

e Medicinal Product Administration Law of the People’s Republic of China;

(PEARANMBERZEER);

e Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China;
(PEAREMBEESED;

e Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests;

(PEAREMBHBEERRREL);

e Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China;
(PEAREMBEZERNE);

e Regulation on the Administration of Medical Institutions;

(BB E R ;

e Measures for the Administration of Medical Quality;

(BROEEEIE),

e Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and
EBEOFAS6E(EAER FARR) 15F)) 5 &

e Trade Description Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
BB EMIFE3625 (R BAIRAE ) o
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The Group has implemented an effective quality management
system to help employees fulfill their responsibilities in compliance
with relevant laws and regulations. The system plays a key role in
protecting our customers’ personal information from unauthorized

access, as well as ensuring the quality of our after-sale services.

The nature of the Group’s business does not involve intellectual
property rights. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
in relation to health and safety, advertising and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress

that have a significant impact on the Group.

Supplier Management

The Group considers its suppliers as partners and aims to build
mutual trust and win-win cooperation. The Group is committed to
fulfilling its mission of providing pharmaceutical products to the
community and distributing medicine to healthcare institutions.
Given that the Group primarily operates in the pharmaceutical
wholesale business, it places a greater emphasis on the stability of

its supply chain.

The stability of the supply chain directly affects the quality
of patient treatment, as patients need a specified number of
drugs according to their treatment plans. In order to ensure
the stability of supply chain, the Group has established a long-
term relationship with a variety of large and medium-sized
pharmaceutical suppliers from various provinces across the nation
as means to diversify our supply chain and maintain stability of
supply. During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged a total
of 34 medicines and consumables suppliers which all located in
the PRC. During the Reporting Period, we have assessed all of our

suppliers.

RIE-#HERELRRS

FEFEEBENRAUNEEEERG  UEH
SETHEETHRAZRZIRNBRATETER
HE-HHEFREZERFNBAAEN T HKERRHE
RERRBEET+OEE-

AEM R AW R A ERE - RSHARE > &
ERLEANBFENREERBRERMRS
WRREEZE ES RBERLEBEEURME
RAENERRRA MBEERELEEX
TENEH

HrERER

FEEBEEERAGFEREH SHEMRER
BYBE -GRARNMAGR SEERNET
AitEREENERRMDBREEIRERE
HEm ENTERTELEERMABES
FILEMER G EENTEM -

HEENRECERZERELRNMRE
EnBEREREBEEHGEAIRBEEHE
WEY - HRAEERENTZEE F&EEE2H
BEMSRAPEHBEMEFREYL T RBS
ERfR US TEHERBERHERE RS
B AEEHAMEERROHERERER
BURFE-REHE R HAEHES
TG
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RIE-HERELES

Before a supplier is included for the Group, a strict and thorough
investigation is conducted to evaluate their suitability. Approved
suppliers are reassessed annually to ensure compliance with
Group’'s requirements. In addition to price and quality of
goods, the Group also has specific requirements regarding
the environmental policies of its suppliers. We require the
suppliers to comply with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations of the country in which they are located, and the
Quality Management Department will conduct supervision and
verification. All suppliers were assessed in accordance with the

same set of procedures.

The Group stays in contact with its suppliers through various
channels to understand their needs and identify collaboration
opportunities. For example, the Group holds a supplier
appreciation meeting every year to provide a platform for the
exchange of opinions and potential business plans. We will
also continue to monitor the quality of our suppliers’ medicines
to ensure the quality and safety of medicines through the
implementation of a quality control system. To further ensure the
quality and safety of the products we sell, suppliers have provided
quality assurance agreements to products. Whenever a supplier
delivery their products, the Quality Management Department
must carry out acceptance for each shipment to avoid sending
nonconforming drugs to customers. We also regularly engage with
suppliers for feedback on product quality, continuously improving

and working together to develop solutions for mutual benefit.

32 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Product and Service Quality

The Group has established a Quality Management Department
to set and implement quality objectives and monitor each
department’s performance. This department is responsible for
ensuring consistent quality throughout the supply chain. The
Quality Management Department manages product quality

according to the following procedures:

RIE-#HERELRRS

EmkREmE
AEBRILTEESEEAP AEHENE
MEEER LHEESIHANKRE A&
BEEAREEMHEENEEREN—-REE
ERRRUTEFEEERmE !

Visit each department regularly to carry out internal review, risk assessment,
, and analysis of the results
EHEFAEEMFIETAMEZ  RETEREEDT

REMEREBIEREZ

Propose suggestions for improvement and enhancement

review and follow-up

TMEERRTFERE RS RRE

Results generated from the assessment are submitted to the management for

Proper storage conditions for medications are essential to preserve
their quality and efficacy. The Group’s storage and transportation
facilities are designed in accordance with national regulations,
with monitoring systems in place to closely track temperature and
humidity levels and prevent any negative impact on the medicines
due to changes in the surrounding environment. Additionally,
the Group has implemented a medicines recycling management
system to facilitate systematic recycling when necessary.
Management must notify the Food and Drug Administration in
the event of any recalls. During the Reporting Period, no sold or
shipped products of the Group were recalled for safety and health

reasons.

FHE#FERHNARFEEENNNERE
B FEENERMEDRENRAENE
BRRE EESFFRMBRBERARETES
RAERRE URFRENREREEIRE
HEMRIAZE -AEETEHEEYE K
EEHE UERAERERARGMETR
K- EEBEMAEEAAREAHEEREN
BREREEEER REHHE tEEILE
FREENEEXERMRREARREEMRM
AU -
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We understand and address the concerns and needs of patients,
caring for them both in service and emotional aspects. The Group
will regularly check and evaluate patients’ health indicators and
propose treatment plans. The Group not only cares about the
patients’ health condition, but also the patients’ emotions. For
example, we offer transportation to patients in remote areas for
treatment and extend assistance and gifts to those in need to

express our care.

HZAPTHRLERIBRENTERMNERE > FILH
MEERBMER T EEEMMH -AEEE
EHRHRANRRERETRE FFERE
HERADFE - EBEFERBORARNRKSE 75
FEERARBR - Al ZFABREMEER
ERMEBEERBUERER AR LTEOAF
WASREMBMAEYE  URERMN
B -

Our lucky draw event that shows our care

for the patients

HANHEEHRET T RABRENHIR

After-sales Service and Complaint Management

We highly value customer feedback and prioritize their interests.
The Group is dedicated to continually improving the quality of
its services and has established a system to manage customer
complaints. To gauge customer satisfaction with its products and
services, customer service representatives from the Group regularly
contact customers. In addition, we have a collection box to collect
customers’ opinion in order to more effectively to understand
customers’ expectations. All customer feedback and complaints
are handled by the customer service department, and records in
detail for future reference. In cases of complaints that involve
major incidents, the Group forms an investigation team to follow

up and identify potential issues.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received no complaints

related to products and services.
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Customer Privacy Protection

In the course of operations, employees of the Group frequently
need to access customers’ and patients’ information. However,
employees are not allowed to disclose customers’ and patients’
information to anyone under any circumstance. Access rights of
computer system have been set to prevent unauthorized personnel
from accessing restricted information. The Group's computer
system is updated on a regularly basis to prevent information

leakage due to cyber-attacks.

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

We highly value every employee, considering them our most
significant and valuable assets. Consequently, the Group is
dedicated to creating an optimal working environment for the
staff. The Group is committed to protecting the rights and
interests of employees and complying with employment-related
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations in relation to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination
and other benefits and welfare that have a significant impact on

the Group.

RIE-#HERELRRS

ERRRE

HEEEET FEENETIEERTERSE
ERMBENEE - BEEE@RBRAT BT
BAARERRBEANER BERARE-
FEENERAKERBAAENREFNE
MR LB IERBRENASHNZREIFM-
FEFEERARTECHETEN BRR
FMEHBLERINR

EBST

BMEEERS—NUETI  AAMAZEM
REENREENEE Rt AEERAON
RETRIERENTIFRIE -AEERNF
[EE T ETRERERIERER
BREERRR(PEAREMBEHZEE)  (F
ZEARHENBESSHERZ (PEARKNER
HERBE)REREZGBSTE(REERG) -

BREPRE cEBTANEETAREERE
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Employee Overview ETHE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of 193 AT _NE=ZRB=+—H KAER—HE
(2022/23: 202) employees, except for one part-time employee, all F193I B T (2022/23FE : 2021i) > k&7 —
others are full-time employees. The distribution of employees by  {IFBETI > HAZBET - U TFIRF4H

gender, age group and geographical region is as follows: SRR MR s FRAN R EE PN E T 2
L

Total Workforce Unit 2023/24 2022/23

ETHY =R v —E-= £
—HEE —=EE

By gender

iR 8 5

Male person(s) 49 52

Bt A

Female person(s) 144 150

e i3 A

By age group

BRERANES

Below 30 person(s) 96 97
30T A

30-40 person(s) 51 49
30-40%% A

41-50 person(s) 30 36
41-508% A

51-60 person(s) 10 15
51-603% A

Above 60 person(s) 6 5
605% XA £ A

By geographical region

i ER S

Mainland China person(s) 187 192
[ At A

Hong Kong person(s) 6 10
BH A
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During the Reporting Period, the total turnover rate is 28%
(2022/23: 17%), which the distribution of employee turnover rate

by gender, age group and geographical region is as follows:

RIE-#HERELRRS

IREHAR  BERAEMARLEERA28% (2022/23
FE17%) UTABRMER - EEER RitE
B PHEERKLEE

Employee Turnover Rate Unit 2023/24 2022/23

BTIRRE Efl —¥-= —E-C
—mEE —EEE

By gender

RS S

Male percentage 22 19

B4 Bt

Female percentage 31 17

ek Bt

By age group

BRERANES

Below 30 percentage 38 15

30BE AT Ba

30-40 percentage 25 22

30-407% BOL

41-50 percentage 10 11

41-50%% Bt

51-60 percentage 30 33

51-60%% Bt

Above 60 percentage 0 0

60m U £ Bt

By geographical region

it E 8 5

Mainland China percentage 17 18

A E P Bo

Hong Kong percentage 29 10

BE B

Total turnover rate percentage 28 17

AR b B
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Employment Policy
The Group has developed an extensive employment management AEBEEET T RSN EESEAL L1

system and cultivated a team of highly skilled professionals. BT S ERAEEN A A B A F B ER
The Group signed employment contracts with the employees S ETEITRESH - ST R EDS 1Y

employed. The contract lists out the terms of employment, as well

{2 B R

=)

REFHOEMNERE  SiEFHM SRR

as the rights and benefits of both parties, including remuneration,

ILEEE AR URES T#E - R

probationary period, and termination of employment contract

arrangements, to protect the rights and interests of employees.

BREEERMRERRFALUT HERGRESE

Our employment management system emphasizes the following

key areas:

Working Hours and Leaves

Recruitment and Promotion

38

Remuneration

e M

O

X

\/

T (F R R HA

BEREA

2

The remuneration of the Group’s employees is determined in accordance with
the duties and responsibilities of the relevant staff and the market trend.

TEEEEFMREMEIRERBEETISBEEE

The Employee Handbook sets out the employee’s working day and overtime
work arrangements. Employees can enjoy paid annual leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave and breastfeeding leave according to their
positions.

(BIFM)FIBEIMNIFAREBRTENZH ETHRAKBREETHE
B-BR-ER BERRELKRS

Regardless of gender, race, physical disability, marital status, religion, political
preference, or sexual orientation, we ensure that all employees receive fair
treatment and equal opportunities. Recruitment and promotion of our staff are
only based on work performance and capabilities. The Group’s Human Resources
Department arranges annual performance evaluation for our staff to provide
them with performance feedback, as well as to allow employees to understand
their own ability and room for improvement. The performance evaluation also
provides valuable information to management, helping the Group identify
talents for taking leading roles for the Group's future development.

Aam MR~ ik BREGE - BRKI R BENIENR > RFBREREE
ITHREBIATFTHERTERG ETREREANAR  HMIAFREEIN
ITHRRBERENTIGE - FEENASHHSFHLER/ETETENGE &
BEFEIRVURBEER BETITHRESESI RNEZEH R BTG
NRHEEERHEEEEN ERERRELHESAT  TEERRRNEE-
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The Group's employees in the PRC participated in defined contribution schemes
associated with relevant provincial and municipal governments, under which
the Group and the employees in the PRC are required to make monthly
contributions to these schemes in accordance with relevant requirements. The
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds to the pension in accordance

Benefits and Rights ) ) .
with the requirements of the relevant local and municipal governments. The

EF R R
Group has arranged the Hong Kong employees to join the Mandatory Provident
‘:, Fund Scheme, a defined contribution scheme managed by an independent

trustee whereby each of the Group (the employer) and the Hong Kong
aAd employees make monthly contributions to the scheme in accordance with
relevant legislations.
FEENTEESNZ2ERBEAME TRNRENREMNRHE  AEA KR
HobEREEHAREBRESEMZEFFEMFHER AEERPRAMNKE LR
ARBEBRE THRARESMEERR AEECLHHEETEESS HAT
MABREHE PH—BIUGHEAETEZEEERAE -AEE (BF) REE
AR BI9RREREA S A mZ st 8 fFHHR -

Work Life Balance THIT(EELEF

The Group highly prioritizes achieving a healthy work-life balance. FEESEERBRIFEEFENTEE L
Furthermore, the Group regularly organizes a variety of staff S ANEETHHAMSEE T ES > UEEM
activities to foster social interaction, build stronger relationships, RES BUEBRZNRG LEHBIE THER

and help alleviate stress among employees. EYk

We organized team
building activities.
KMASTBEXRE
BREH o

We organized staff birthday

parties.
We held celebratory RFAMT BT EERS-
events “Doctors’ Day“to
thank our employees.

PR T TERATEN ) BB
BLoE o LURK 3 3 P9 AV
=
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Labour Standards

We maintain a zero-tolerance policy towards child and forced
labor. The Group adheres strictly to the Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labor and the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Minors to prevent the
employment of underage workers and forced labor. To safeguard
against such practices, we implement a comprehensive array of

preventive measures.

During recruitment, identity cards are thoroughly verified to
ensure applicants meet the legal working age requirements.
In addition, confirmation of employment requires approval
and review by multiple departments to ensure compliance and
minimize the possibility of hiring child labour. In case of child
labour or forced labour, we will immediately ask the personnel to
stop work and investigate the recruitment process of the Human

Resources Department to avoid the same situation in the future.

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Group is committed to promote physical health among
its employees and places a strong emphasis on both their
psychological and physical well-being. Additionally, the Group
is committed to providing a safe working environment for its
employees. Employees are expected to adhere to safety guidelines
and prioritize personal hygiene. We formulated safety and
health policies in accordance with relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Law of the People’s Republic of

China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases.
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The Group's work-related injury rate and work-related mortality
rate remained at zero. The number of working days due to work—
related injuries is zero during the Reporting Period. The Group
did not have any work-related fatalities in the past three years
(including the Reporting Period). During the Reporting Period, the
Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws
and regulations in relation to provide a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards that have a
significant impact on the Group.

Health and Safety Measures
fERRS R 28

RIE-#HERELRRS

FERNIEXRRAIXETRERRZT K
EERKREHELERTHERTFERR
RBE=ZER (BERSHE) TREZLEER
TIETEZ - RS HAME > A5 B AR EBEMA
BEERARARMZEIRERFEREES
BEBEMCINZRZRRG MEEER
EEXEEATENER

e Provide fire and emergency drill for employees;

RETRMEHD REZRR ;

e In case staff are involved with tasks which may be potentially hazardous, appropriate instruments and suitable

safety equipment are provided to the employees;
RIRZEBRECHRIGNETIRHBEEIARZZRE;

e Physical examinations are arranged annually by the Group. In case of any abnormal health conditions are

identified, follow-up actions will be taken, and internal transfers may be performed where applicable to reduce

further exposure to incompatible work environments;

BEARBIZHIRERE URFEETANEURARE  REFTFREMEREORERRE ;

e Offices are designed with the ergonomics consideration to reduce the likelihood of occupational injuries; and

MAERBARIBRER BREEHNITENAELE S &

e Provide refreshments to staff during summer period to reduce the risk of heat stroke.

BEXRERETRERM REXAPENARE-
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EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group emphasizes the importance of staff training and
development for sustainable business growth. We actively
encourage employees to pursue ongoing education and training
to acquire new knowledge and expand their skillsets into new
areas. An annual training plan has been developed to provide
diverse internal and external training opportunities to enhance

employees’ professional knowledge and personal skills.

Given the frequent revisions of government policies and
regulations concerning medications, the Group offers subsidies for
employees to continuously update their professional knowledge.
Upon completion of the training courses, reviews are performed in
effort to further optimize future in-house training programs. We
also provide further education opportunities to our nursing team
as we arranged them to attend training in hospitals in the top-3

tiers.

An induction training program is provided to all new recruits to
facilitate their understanding of the Group. The training program
covers the Group's history, operating philosophy, business process
and corporate culture. Since the specifics of tasks and situations
encountered during daily work cannot be taught comprehensively
in a classroom environment, experienced staff are arranged to
guide new employees and provide them with guidance daily to

adapt to the job position smoothly.

ST RAE
FEEBAETHINERBNAIFERS
BRRNEEM -RARBEBE TRHEET
B AN R A% - B2 8 3 R0 ok Be ¥ R AT SRR © T AP
B #E F E a8 0 R EHS RS
BIEANEE  URABEINEXZMBANMEA
HE

ENRNHERNBRNEZREEET F
EEABTIRMBU UWEMMRKEERE
FEMH o TAIEIERZR R FETRER
& WE—F B BRAEIEIERTE - ZATT
HEEEBREHEZRFFBRETENN
e

BPAMAERARBE TREARENE
NEBmMATHRAER - BIRERELTE
BEL -EEERS EFEFREEXIC-H
RERERBEFREZABERAELFEPE
ENITHERREEHER RARHFERE
THEEMET SHARFRMIES BRF
JIE 1) 328 & T {'F fes 1L

Job training section for all nurses.

MR E T IRMEEEIIRE

Health Insurance training for employees.

AETRHBRBEREI
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During the Reporting Period, training data by gender and

wEHIRE > IR KB EERE 2 EIIHK

employee category is as follows: BAOTF :

Employee Training Unit 2023/24 2022/23

& & 153 (i 2= g
“EE —=HEE

Percentage of employee trained

ZINEIESLE

By gender

%R 25

Male percentage 73 60

B B

Female percentage 88 92

e i Bt

By employee category

RESENES

Senior Management percentage 57 33

BREERE Bt

Middle Management percentage 57 81

FREIERE B

General staff percentage 88 88

—mRET Bt

Average training hours completed per employee

BRETIZINTI9RH

By gender

RS 5

Male hour(s) 13 133

B4 =

Female hour(s) 11 143

74 NS

By employee category

RESENES

Senior Management hour(s) 19 173

SREERE 1)V

Middle Management hour(s) 12 173

PAREIEE INERF

General staff hour(s) 11 132

—fRET INEF

Note 3:  To optimize the comparison of data between 2023 and 2024. HE3: ARTEBIMEER2023FM2024FEH

the 2023 data of these item were restated.

Hif - BEEAN023FHBEENE
;\,‘Eo
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RIE-HIERERES

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is a socially and environmentally responsible
corporation that acknowledges the importance of environmental
protection during business development. The Group is dedicated
to promoting the development of a green cycle that encompasses
the environment, society, and economy. The Group remains
committed to minimizing any negative environmental impact
resulting from its operations, even though its business activities do

not significantly affect the environment or natural resources.

The Group strive to comply with laws and regulations related
to environmental protection, including but not limited to the
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Environmental Impact Assessment, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Wastes, Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Regulations on the Administration of
Medical Wastes, Measures for Medical Wastes Management of
Medical and Health Institutions, Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 311 of the Law of Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Law of Hong Kong).

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations in relation to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that have

a significant impact on the Group.

a4 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

IRIG (RoE
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Combatting Climate Change

With the international community increasingly focused on climate
change, the Group acknowledges the risks this global issue poses
to our business operations. The effects of climate change have

resulted in more frequent occurrences of extreme weather events.

In the pharmaceutical wholesale and distribution sector, more
frequent and severe weather events (such as heavy rains and
typhoons) could disrupt drug transportation and prolong delivery
times to medical institutions. For hemodialysis treatment and
consulting business, extreme heat or cold may affect patients who
need hemodialysis treatment, for example, it may worsen their

physical condition.

The Group has developed policies such as Typhoon Contingency
Plan to address the potential threats posed by climate change
regarding the possible impacts of these extreme weather
conditions. We develop appropriate workflows and measures,
including back-up plans, to prevent or mitigate the impacts of
climate change on the transport or treatment of medicines. In
addition, we have developed extreme weather management
measures to address more frequent extreme weather events due
to climate change. For instance, our Employee Handbook details
specific work protocols for different typhoon and rainstorm
conditions, ensuring employee safety while sustaining business

operations.

As a responsible company, we are also committed to reducing
wastes and greenhouse gas emissions from our business, providing
energy management and efficiency improvement of energy
consumption equipment, thereby reducing greenhouse gas and

exhaust emissions.

RIE-#HERELRRS

EHREE(E
BERERTGEREMEIRGECHE &
EERHBEAE—EHUEHERRMAEBEE
HRHOER RESECERNHIRRREFIE
BHE-

TERBBEMOHEE  BRENMZENX
REMFWNBRMEER) FTREE PEERER
IE R ) B R A A M R o 7S RGBT A
BREHEG BREXANRCAEETHE
BEETIREMABBENBAERTE  FlUW
BAgESTHERERSE.
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RIE-HERELES

During the Reporting Period, we also utilized carbon offsets to
achieve the above goals. The carbon offset project we have
utilised is the Hebei ChengAn Biomass Cogeneration Project
(Project ID: 3797) from the United Nations Clean Development
Mechanism (“CDM"), which focuses on generating electricity by
utilising local straw from cotton. The electricity generated from
this project is sold to the Hebei Provincial Power Grid, replacing
the capacity of coal-fired power plants. The project contributes to
greenhouse gas emission reduction, comprehensive utilization of
resources, environmental protection, and providing job
opportunities and increasing income of local residents. Certified
Emission Reductions (CERs) from this project were also used for
carbon neutrality at the 19th Asian Games Hangzhou 2022 and
the 4th Asian Para Games Hangzhou 2022.

REHE BMEAABRIEERER LS
BoHEKMEANKIEHEERH SEZFRE
E#E (TcoMl) A ibmR EMEREHE
IHEB (EBMSR - 3797) » ZIBEEERAA
EMRTEREREEE MEENEHLHER
TEEM BERTHRESHNEEIEN -EE
EHEEMRBALVEERBHR SEFAE
B RERR RAEMBERIEETMERS
FIE IO UL A o 5% 18 B B9 1% 58 R HF 2 (CERs)
AR-ZZE__F85t+thEnNDREGgN_F
ZEMMNEREERMRPM o

e,
© ==
VOLUNTARY
CANCELLATION
CERTIFICATE

Reasan for cancellation

e v ey ikl fmste it by reersane
P ey
Number of umits ]

46

©

Carbon Offsets Certificate issued by UNFCCC
H Bt S B RIRE{EHEZR QA L(UNFCCO)EITRY
WRIEHEE

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIF-HHERERES

During the reporting period, we participated in “Earth Hour EREHN EM2NTHERERAEESE
2024" organized by the World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF), (WWP)4B#EHY " 20243t Bk —/)NBF 1 & Eh > BAFAIE
turning off non-essential lights and electrical appliances for one HERESHER —/NE B EABE X
hour, changing personal habits, and supporting sustainable Rl R@EMEEA

lifestyles.
Wanjia Group Holdings Limited
Suppert “Earth Hour 2024 and Share your pledge
bisiaskisn st dpdve ity
Notification from WWEF after joining Earth Hour 2024
REWWFR BRI ZERAE 201 20243 Bk — /B )
[
Air Pollutants and Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") EBEREAEREEE
Management

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s greenhouse gas WEME AEENEEREHBNEERE
emissions primarily stem from electricity consumption at our REMERFRHEENLRBENFONE
pharmaceutical storage warehouse and hemodialysis centers. HE-SEEERODBEMGRERP LAY
All warehouse and hemodialysis treatment centers are equipped FERIRIEZEG R I B GRIEFHEHE
with environmental control measures that regulate temperature MRERRE  BREFMAFRFENN@RE-
and humidity in accordance with seasonal changes, ensuring the

quality of the medicine stored within these premises.

BEREEERERAR
. 2023/24 giﬁ a7
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RIE-HERELES

The Group's logistics department oversees goods delivery,
resulting in fossil fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.
Acknowledging the potential environmental impacts of its logistics
activities, the Group has optimized the delivery routes taken by its
vehicles to minimize fuel consumption and associated emissions.
The Group is committed to reducing overall emissions and
greenhouse gas output through these measures.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s air pollutants and GHG

emissions data are as follows:

FERNYRBPEEEMEE  BEENT
IEAME B EETRERER - KM
LRI EMRMAERXRE  BERK
MELHERERER -AEBROINBBRE
EiE R D BEFRAREREFINE -

REHE cEENERRAERBEHKRH
BT

Types of Emission Unit 2023/24 2022/23

213 & il Bl —g=-= —2__
—HEE —=HE

Air pollutants

BE R HER

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 12.14 66.77

sty NI

Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg 0.29 0.34

k=Rt NI

Particulate matters (PM) kg 0.80 5.53

LSRR NI

Greenhouse gas emission’

BEREHEK

Scope 1 - Direct emissions Tonnes CO:2 equivalent 55.77 64.46

HEN —EEHENR AW _FERES

Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions Tonnes CO:2 equivalent 634.31 641.76°

#E2 — AR EE B RWE_FERESE

Total GHG emission Tonnes CO2 equivalent 690.08 706.22°3

MAERBEHRE AM_HIEREE

Intensity Tonnes CO:z equivalent/ 0.00? 0.00?

thousand HK$ revenue
BE AM_EEHREE THE KR
Note 1:  Greenhouse gas emissions are calculated in the unit of carbon B BEEREHREBEU_SIEREER
dioxide equivalent. e
Note 2:  The actual value is 0.004. B2 BEREEHFA0.004°
Note 3:  To optimize the comparison of data between 2023 and 2024. B3 ATERMMLEEK2023FEM2024F W

the 2023 data of these item were restated.
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RIE-HERELRS

Sustainable Energy Consumption ERER

The Group is devoted to implementing energy-saving initiatives ~ ANEBER DR BRI AEIE I > LUR 5 8ER XY
aimed at improving energy efficiency and reducing consumption. R /D REREHE - BREHE RM2ETH
During the Reporting Period, we participated in Earth Hour R BEAESEHEBMNHIR—/N\EIES > UL
organized by the World Wildlife Fund to support energy reduction SRRV AR R EH mIEEE o

and combatting climate change.

In addition, our internal energy-saving measures include: 4N s FPIRIR EBENAEHE FE B35

Switch off electrical devices when they will not be in use for an extended
period
EREANEERAEFREREENESR

Arrange inspection by designed personnel to ensure electrical equipment and

lighting are switched off during non-office hours

LHRIEABKE > H(RE 2SR A K IRBBTEIE 2 By i B 1R 15 A B

Use energy efficient equipment
EREERE

Promote energy saving practices including green commuting, carpooling

through employee handbook
FREETIFMRASEIHEHNEER  QERBEBHITHMZE A E

Limit the use of air conditioning by setting the facilities to 26 degree Celsius

REEXRSRER RLRARERME26E

BEEEEZERBRATE 49
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RIE-HERELES

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s energy consumption

data is as follows:

wEHRE > HAINETRHFEEIENT ¢

Types Unit 2023/24 2022/23

551 B 2= g
“MEE “EFE

Direct energy

Ei#sEiR

Petrol consumption MWh 171.29 191.50

FUHEFE T8 T R &

Diesel consumption MWh 8.65 4.24

SROMIHFE T1E F FL B

Natural gas consumption MWh 16.82 37.11

RARHFE FEFEE

Indirect energy

R $ERE TR

Purchased electricity MWh 1,112.23 1,051.893

SMBE TEF FL B

Total energy consumption MWh 1,308.99 1,284.743

4BEERAE T8 T R &

Intensity MWh/thousand HK$ revenue 0.01 0.01

BE FEFRE,FHETRE

Waste Management

The Group is devoted to executing waste reduction strategies
at the source and ensuring the proper disposal of all waste to
minimize environmental and ecosystem impacts. To achieve this
goal, the Group has established waste management procedures
that outline the proper classification and disposal of waste

generated during daily operations.

Note 3: To optimize the comparison of data between 2023 and 2024.
the 2023 data of these item were restated.

S0 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For hazardous waste, the Group returns medicines requiring
disposal to the supplier or delivers them to government-
designated medical waste contractors, in accordance with our Loss
Reporting and Destruction Policy. During the Reporting Period,
the Group did not encounter any material cases where goods
required return to the supplier due to defects nor generated any
hazardous. For non-hazardous waste, we support waste reduction
at source and actively upgrade its electronic office system, such as
enterprise resource planning system to enhance communication
among employees and reduce the use of paper for information
dissemination. We promote recycling and have implemented

specific waste recycling procedures:

RIE-#HERELRRS

HRNAESERY +E5EREGRIBEHKRE
BRE)RBERENERREGEEHIRM
MHNEENBREYENS BREHEF
EEXRFRINENERAAREMFERE H
BEIUNEEERYAERENER -EE
EEREYAE  RAFIRERE  RIBERR
BEFMARG FAIMEEERFERF LR
MAEMBE T ZHENEE  ERILURLDER
MESXNFENS HMREREREBA LE
T REE R BEY EIUAE fF

Classification 9 %8
Sperate general waste in

Collection Y&

the office and provide waste
classification facilities at
different locations

BMAE—REYDE > WRE
Fir R R B 1R 11 BE =4 73 SR =% T

. /.

Collect classified waste regularly

ERR D ERNEMETRKE

Recycling [E]1U%

Utilize local recycling facilities to
recycle generated wastes

F A = #h 7Y [5] Uk 5% i [ UK PR &2
EHREEY)

AN

-

Beyond hazardous and non-hazardous waste, the hemodialysis
process generates substantial medical wastewater. The Group
strictly adheres to the laws and regulations in relation to medical
sewage discharge to dispose of such wastewater, through
collecting it in a sewage tank, and discharge it to municipal
sewage pipes after biochemical treatment and chlorine dioxide
disinfection to make sure the sewages are upon reaching water
quality standards. Throughout the Reporting Period, we diligently
monitored the wastewater and performed sampling tests to

confirm the absence of intestinal infectious bacteria.

BRTYASKRESNERY MREFBRRE
BELEAENBEBEK - AEEBRKERE
BEKBEBNERERREREEELERE
Ko m—IREREK KBETRER-SR
ERHES I EKEEREEHREBHBISK
EE-REHE RMRBEREKILEITH
AR ERERBEERAMAR -

BEEEEZERBRATE S)
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RIE-HERELES

During the Reporting Period, the Group's waste produced is as HREHE AEENEEYHEENT :

follows:

Types of waste Unit 2023/24 2022/23

EEEYER Efi —EZ= —2__
“MEE “EFE

Hazardous waste

BEEEEY

Total Tonnes 20.55 63.63

e yNU

Intensity Kg/thousand HK$ revenue 0.11 0.37

BE AR/ FHETKRE

Non-hazardous waste

BEREY

Total Tonnes 13.53 6.85

we YN

Intensity Kg/thousand HK$ revenue 0.07 0.04

RE AR/ FRTHE

Wastewater

pip 3

Total m3 1,001.64 860.24

e IR
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Water Conservation B9k &R

The Group’s business does not significantly involve water use, FEBMEBULARSRAERAK RMEE
and we have not faced any issues in sourcing suitable water. The BEERAKESEtNRBIEMAEE - AER
Group’s primary source of water consumption is the daily usage T EMBAKEKEREEIAERK A2
by its employees. To promote water conservation and improve ik RiIEEBAKYE A& BB W30 AK
water efficiency, the Group has included internal water usage B MACE TF M) > W AR KA EE
guidelines in its Employee Handbook and strives to integrate FRo It 4h » AN S B IR TE % F SR BA TR AR - LUK
water conservation into its operations. Furthermore, the Group BETITHRAEEENAKITA REHM &
has strategically placed reminders in restrooms to motivate SEFEAKERNESENT :

employees to embrace responsible water usage practices. During

the Reporting Period, the Group’s data on water consumption is as

follows:

Water Consumption Unit 2023/24 2022/23

KREFHFE Efi —EZ= —g-C
—HmEE —EEE

Total m?3 57,176.00 50,560.30

L I 7K

Intensity m3/thousand HK$ revenue 0.32 0.29

BE MHRFHETHE

Reducing Packaging Material L aRME

The Group consumes packaging materials for the delivery of FEFBHECEMERERRIVER TR
pharmaceutical goods to its customers. We try to avoid providing FrFERFHR -BRREBZ -BRMASZSEER
plastic bags to our customers to limit the use of plastic bags. MEFEHEENS RV EBERE - RS
During the Reporting Period, the Group’'s consumption of M AEENEEYEEREENT ¢

packaging materials is as follows:

Packaging Material Unit 2023/24 2022/23

BRYEHE Efi —EZ= —2__
—MEE —=HE

Total Tonnes 132.00 122.05

we YN

Intensity Kg/thousand HK$ revenue 0.73 0.70

RE AR/ FTHETHE
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RIE-HIERERES

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to serving its customers with dedication
while also prioritizing community welfare. As a company that
provides hemodialysis treatment and consultancy service business
in the PRC, we focus on promoting health activities and promoting
the message of kidney health caring in the community. Our
efforts to help the local community were not only demonstrated
by the provision of health care services but also the participation
in charity events. On March 22, we also responded to the “Skip
Lunch Day” organized by The Community Chest of Hong Kong,
encouraging employees to donate their lunch money to the
Community Chest to raise funds for services for Street Sleepers,

Residents in Cage Homes and Cubicles.

HERE
FEBRNRUETRBEHRBER  ARE
FEBHLERU - FA AR ERREHD R
BNMABRREAEBTNESRE RATINE
HEHEERELTE EHEMTIEMERNR
B-HMAEHEMHENS AT ERRER
HERRB L BE2HETESEH 38228
HAERTER LT R/MWH AmTE [
BH  EBREIRTFEEBGE DS UF
EETRERE RERREREEREMHR
5o

Skip Lunch Day 2024

ATEENRI W SRR NN
To bemefit "Sersioes lor Street Sleepers, Residents in Cage
Hiimhies 3o CUbeChes” Sisppornd B T COMUTRInLY £ hest

- [P E I.. ",m'u-u

Tom Cowwrra Camr

e [HTIR B 82433

2024F AT

Poster for Skip Lunch Day 2024
TEMMIRAIBER

Looking ahead, the Group eagerly anticipates making even greater
contributions to the community. We strive to use the resources to

support people in need and promote healthy living.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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HKEX'S LISTING RULE APPENDIX C2 Kt3Zpr Eh R EMIERC2 (IRIE + 11
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE EREAImEISs|YZED|
REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Subject area Content Chapter/Disclosure
TEHE AR HEREEE

Mandatory Disclosure Requirement

S R AR E

Governance A Statement from the board containing the following elements: Sustainable
Structure ()  disclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues. Governance
BEAREE (i the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the  EIFEEEEA

process used to evaluate, prioritize and manage material ESG-related
issues (including risks to the issuer’s business); and

(iii)  how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals
and targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s
business

HESEZHNER ERHBETIAS !

() HEEEEHRE - HERELAEENEE;

(i) BEFENRBE-HEREAEESH KK  SIFTE  BREIIK
EEEENRRE - HERELERSE (BEHETAEBNRAR)
B ; &

(i) EBGNARIRIE-HEREGEMBERNES - LEREE MU
AEBFITAEHBERE-

Reporting Principles A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the Reporting Reporting Principles
E ¥R = B Principles (materiality, quantitative, and consistency) in the preparation of ¥R /R Al

the ESG Report

HANBRETRERRE HEAREARSFNETREAERRR (EEMK -

=R —M) -

Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and Reporting Period
BE 2R 6 [E] describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are and Scope
included in the ESG report. HREHEREE

BERE - HERELABRSHNERLE MM ENLETRIAETAA
RIE-HERELARSHBIZ

BEEEEZERBRATE S5
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HKEX’S LISTING RULE APPENDIX B3 Fr L Th R RE Pk C2 (IRIR ~ 1
C2 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND ERERHREIES )RS -&
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

INDEX- continued

Subject area

FTEHR

Content Chapter/Disclosure
AR HEREEE

“"Comply or explain” Provisions

MR 38 <F A AR R 1 15 S

A. Environment

7

Aspect A1: Emissions

AVERTRH

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A1.1
A SR 4B SIS IEAT 1

Information on: Environmental

(a) the policies; and Protection

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant IRiEfR:&
impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and

land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

EERKEERBHR mAKERI MM S - AERBEEEEYNELE

E3: N

(a) HBZE; R

(b) BFHETAFREARTENHERZERKRAGNER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Air Pollutants

B TEEE R B RABE I B o and Greenhouse
Gas ("GHG")
Management

BEREEREEE

S6 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE-#HERELRRS

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX- continued

Subject area

FTEHR

Content

RE

Bk 32 By L i3 37 7€ M 8% C2 (IR ~ 1
BERERHGIESI )RS —&

Chapter/Disclosure

HERSEE

Aspect A1: Emissions — continued

AVEETRY — 18

KPI A1.2
B A RIS 1RA1 .2

KPI A1.3
B S4B IS HEAT 3

KPI'A1.4

BB EIEIRAL.4

KPI A1.5
B AE IS IRATS

KPI A1.6
PR AR5 1RAT.6

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions

(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.
E?% (EN) RicREE EE2) RERBEHERES (UNEEE) & (W0
BER)BE-

Total hazardous waste produced (tonnes) and where appropriate, intensity.

FRELEBEEEEYEE UEH) k WER) BE-

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity.

FRELEREZEEYEE CUEE) kK (WER) BE-

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

HIFrsT IR EBRRAE §|J‘ LB IR ERENRY D BR o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and

Air Pollutants
and Greenhouse
Gas ("GHG")
Management

E_ _‘:&IJII].:I: _LE%k b2

Waste Management

BEEMERE

Waste Management

BEEMERE

Air Pollutants

and Greenhouse

Gas ("GHG")
Management
BRKRAERRBERE

Waste Management

a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. EEEYEIE
HAREEERBEEEEYNS E > REMPTETIIAREE B R R AES
ELEBIZRFRENA S R

BEREEZERBRAR
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HKEX'S LISTING RULE APPENDIX
C2 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX- continued

Subject area

FTEHR

Content
AE

Bk 32 By L 75 38 7€ M 8% C2 (IR1R ~ 1
ERERHRGIESI )RR

Chapter/Disclosure

HERSEE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

A2ERfER
General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A2.1
B A IR 1RA2.1

KPI A2.2
SRR 15 1RA2.2

KPI A2.3
PSR I51RA2.3

KPI A2.4
PR I51RA2.4
KPI A2.5

R SR RFEIEA2 .5

S8

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water, and

other raw materials.

BERERER (BFEER K REMEME) BIBR-

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (Kwh in "000s)
and intensity.

REMISONERRIEZEREEE UTETERGS KEE-

Water consumption in total and intensity.

MEKEREE-

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

PRSI IR EERERNE B R BEINELEBRARKINT B -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s), and steps taken to achieve them.
A SKBUE R ACR LRI B E AR URFETIINAKN @ B ERAE
D BL BRI TR -

Total packing material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

N mFIAEEMHNEE UUMEE) k (NER) SEEEMGE-

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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HKEX’S LISTING RULE APPENDIX B 3ZFr L ThF RE P R C2 (IR1R ~ 1
C2 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND ERERHREIES )RS -&
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

INDEX- continued

Subject area Content Chapter/Disclosure
FEHE NE HEREEEM

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
ABIRIERRAE R

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment Environmental

—MRIRE and natural resources. Protection
BEZTAHRERRAERERNEATENBER IRIERE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and Environmental

RERAENISIEA3.1 natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Protection
WX IHHRBERRABENEATLERECRNEEEHATENTT RIERE
o

Aspect A4: Climate Change
ALRAREE

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues Combatting Climate

— AR E which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. Change
HETAEEFENERRZHEBEENBE- FEH mizE 1L
KPI A4 .1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, Combatting Climate

RASEEMISIEA4.1 and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage Change
them. P& ¥t Rz b
MUK KREEEHETAELERENEAREGEHEBAEE  REHTH
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HKEX’S LISTING RULE APPENDIX B3 Fr L Th R RE Pk C2 (IRIR ~ 1
C2 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND ERERHREIES )RS -&
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

INDEX- continued

Subject area Content Chapter/Disclosure
FEHE NE HEREEEM
B. Society

HE

Employment and Labor Practices

EBREKRSELER

Aspect B1: Employment

B1ETE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B1.1
B S AR R 45 1EB1 1

KPI B1.2
B AR I51RB1.2

Information on: Caring for

(a) the policies; and Employees

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant BEE8 T
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,

working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

ERFMREE - BEREA TENE - BRHA -FTERE - Z2b -RIK

MUREMEFBEREFA

(@ HBR; R

(b) BFHETABEATZENHEBERERAGINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical Employee Overview
region. BIHME
BUR - BESRE - FRANRMES DNESEEH -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employee Overview
TR FRARN RMES HHEERKLEE ETHE
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Subject area Content Chapter/Disclosure
FEHE NE HEREEEM

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

B2fERRE %2
General Disclosure Information on: Occupational Safety
— R E (a) the policies; and and Health

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Wi %2 B EE

impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

FRMZE2TIFRERREESBEEHELGEN

(@ KRR

(b) BEBTFHETABEATZENMHERZEERRANER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past Occupational Safety
REER4EXNIS1EB2.1 three years including the reporting year. and Health

BEZF (AREERFE) SERATTHNABKRLIEE- B2 HER
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Safety
RASEEMIEIER2.2 AITGIEARIEAH- and Health

B2 HER

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how Occupational Safety
R R4S SNF51EB2.3  they are implemented and monitored. and Health
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Aspect B3: Development and Training

B3% B K 5l

General Disclosure The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category Employee

— AR IR ER ERRAEREBIT TER SRR # K 5 AERYBUR o i1 ESh o Development and
Training
BT #REAEI
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category.  Employee
RASEAENIEIER3.1 U RESENETHNZIEEET DL Development and
Training
BT #REE
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Employee
R SR AENFS1EB3.2 employee category. Development and
BN kEEHENE S SREEERZINN TR Training
BT #REAEI
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AR HEREEE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

B4%5 T # 8

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B4.1
8 SR 4B S35 1EB4. 1

KPI B4.2
A SR 4B 351EB4.2

Information on: Labour Standard
(@) the policies; and T AR

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRAMIEET SEG% T :
() BER; K
(by BFHBTABEATZEWNEREZERRFINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and Labour Standard
forced labour. & T8
iRt R BRI RIS LU R E T Keaaflss To

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Labour Standard
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FEHE NE HEREEEM

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

BSfitFEHE E 12

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.  Supplier

— AR IR ER EEMEENIRIE R ERAMEBER- Management

HEmER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supplier
RABAEMIEIERS. 1 HHES SNHERHE - Management
HEmER

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supplier

R R4S SMFS51EB5.2  suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored. HEBERE
Mt ERAERAHEENES AENTEREMNNHEEH®E  UREH
EBARNRITRERSE

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks Supplier

RE B4 %M F51EB5.3 along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
Mt BRI HERESERONIRRERTERARAVES  URERNT MHEFERE
REER G

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Supplier
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored.

RISRAENIEIRBS.4 HMAEREMEFHREESARFREMKRBNEN  UREMRHITR HEBERE
BERFEe
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AR HEREEE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

BeEmMET

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B6.1
8 S8 48 S35 12B6. 1

KPI B6.2

A SR 4B S35 12B6.2

KPI B6.3
oA S 4R 30 15 1RB6.3

Information on: Operating Practices
(a) the policies; and EiEIEA
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
ERFRMEERNRBNRREEZE B RERMLREEUARBENA
ER
(a) HBZE R
(b) BFHETAREARTENHERZERKRRAGNER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety Product and Service
and health reasons. Quiality

EENEEXERBPTRZL2EEREAMARKNED L EmkRBEE

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they After-sales Service

are dealt with. and Complaint

BEANRERMRBENRFBEEURERH X Management
EBRBRRKFE
b

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual Operating Practices

property rights. EIEER

e R RE S EEARNIES -
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility — continued
BeEmMBE—4&

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
RASREMI5IER6.4 HMAEBMEBRREREREBIKRER -

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how
RS 4& %I54EB6.5 they are implemented and monitored.
B BEEERMRIE R REER  UREARITRERS %

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BITR&ES

General Disclosure Information on:

—ARI EE (a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BERAR LEBARR ~ $1 R ~ EREF ROk R ERAY ¢
(@) HBR; R
(b) BFHETABEATZENMHERZEERRANER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
REER4ESNISIEB7.1 against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption — continued
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KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and  Business Ethics
BSR4 %I54EB7.2 how they are implemented and monitored. EEEE
BB EHRRTE R BREF > URMBEMAITRERS -

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Business Ethics
RASREMIGIER7.3 HWHREFTRETRMNKRESE- mEBEE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

Bt @I E
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Community
— R E communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take Investment
into consideration the communities’ interests. HERE
BRUHESHERTREEMEHERENRFRAXRFEHEERLE
FZAIBR ©
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Community
RAEAEMIEIERS. 1 FHFEMER- Investment
HERE
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus areas. Community
RARREINIEIER8.2 EHEIHBEFMBAER- Investment
HERE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Wanjia Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) acknowledges
the need and importance of corporate governance as one of the
key elements in creating shareholders’ value. The Company is also
committed to achieving high standard of corporate governance
that can properly protect and promote the interests of all
shareholders and to enhance corporate value, accountability and
transparency of the Company.

The Company strived to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and complied with the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) as stated in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing Securities on Main Board (the “Listing Rules”) of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company has adopted the code provisions in the CG Code
as its own code of corporate governance, save as the deviation
from the code provision C.2.1. The roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separate pursuant to code provision
C.2.1 as disclosed in the section “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer”. The board of directors (the “Board”) considers that the
Company was in compliance with all applicable code provisions
set out in the CG Code from 11 October 2013, being the date of
listing of the Company, to the date of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) since 11 October 2013, being
the date of listing of the Company, up to the date of this report.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its model code
for securities transactions by Directors. The Company, having
made specific enquiry, has confirmed with the Directors that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is

vested in the Board.

The Board takes responsibility to oversee all major matters
of the Company, including the formulation and approval of
all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk
management systems, and monitoring of the performance
of the senior management. The directors of the Company
("Directors”) make decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company. Currently, the Board comprises four Directors,
including one executive director, one non-executive director

and two independent non-executive directors:

Executive Director
Mr. Wang Jia Jun (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Director
Dr. Xiao Zhixin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hon Kit
Dr. Liu Yongping

Mr. Ho Man, an independent non-executive Director, has
resigned from the Company on 30 April 2024 to devote

more time in pursuit of his personal career development.

Their biographical details and relationships among the
board members, if any, are set out in the section entitled
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”

in this annual report.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies
and management of the Group’s businesses to the
executive Director, senior management and certain specific

responsibilities to the Board committees.
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Training and Support for Directors
The Company encourages the Directors to participate in
professional development courses and seminars to develop

and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Pursuant to C.1.4 of the CG Code, directors should
participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains

informed and relevant.

Effective from 11 October 2013, the date of listing of the
Company, up to the date of this report, regulatory updates
and relevant materials on amendments of the Listing
Rules have been sent to the Directors for their awareness
of the latest development on regulatory requirements, to
ensure that they are fully aware of the responsibilities and
obligations of directors under the Listing Rules and relevant

regulatory requirements.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
for the Directors to cover their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The coverage and the sum insured under

the policy are to be reviewed regularly.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. After the former
chairman resigned from the Company in 2014, there is no
position of the chairman. The company did not have the
chairman during the year ended 31 March 2024. The Board
considered that the existing Board members were able to
share the power and responsibilities of chairman among

themselves during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Mr. Wang Jia Jun has been appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company since 1 April 2020 and up to
the date of the report. The Company will, from time to
time, review the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance structure and consider whether any changes,
including the establishment of the role of the chairman, are
necessary.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Each of the executive Director, non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract or letter of appointment with the Company
for a specific term. Such term is subject to his or her re-
appointment by the Company at an annual general meeting
upon such Director’s retirement and offering himself for re-
election.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third
of the Directors who have been longest in office since their
last election or re-election are also subject to retirement by
rotation at the annual general meeting. All retiring Directors
are eligible for re-election.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Following the resignation of Mr. Ho Man on 30 April 2024,
the number of independent non-executive Directors fell
below three and the Company fails to meet the requirements
of having at least three independent non-executive Directors
on the Board under 3.10(1) of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). In order to comply with the
Listing Rules, the Company will make its best endeavour to
identify suitable candidate(s) to fill the casual vacancies on
the Board for the position of independent non-executive
Director as soon as possible within three months from the
effective date of his resignation pursuant to Rule 3.11 of the
Listing Rules. Further announcement(s) will be made by the
Company as and when appropriate.
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The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with
the Company for a specific term of three years.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, the Company Secretary of the Company, Mr. Tam
confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended 31
March 2024.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee, an Audit Committee and
a Remuneration Committee (collectively “Board
Committees”) with defined terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the Board Committees are posted on the
website of the Company and of the Stock Exchange, and
are available to shareholders. Members of each of these
committees are independent non-executive Directors. The
list of the Chairman and of members of each committee is
set out in each of the following Board committee section.
The meeting procedures follow the statutory procedures for
Board meetings.

The committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and in appropriate circumstances, the
Company can retain external auditors, financial advisors and
lawyers and other relevant independent professionals to
provide independent professional advice to assist members
of the committees in fulfilling their responsibilities.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 24
September 2013 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rule and a copy
of which is posted on the website of the Company and of
the Stock Exchange. During the financial year, the Company
had revised the Terms of Reference for its Remuneration
Committee in order to fully comply with the amendments
to the Listing Rules in relation to corporate governance
that took effect since 1 January 2023. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the approach under code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code and made recommendations to
the Board on the Group’s overall policy and structure for
the remuneration of Directors and senior management. The
members of Remuneration Committee for the year and up to
the date of this report are:

Mr. Wong Hon Kit (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Yongping
Mr. Ho Man

(Resigned on 30 April 2024)
Mr. Wang Jia Jun

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include

(but without limitation):

(i)  making recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and
the senior management and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing

policies on such remuneration;

(i) determining the remuneration packages of all
individual executive Directors and the senior
management and making recommendations to the
Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

and

(iii) reviewing and approving compensation payable to the
executive Directors and the senior management for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure
that it is consistent with the relevant contractual terms

and is otherwise fair and not excessive.
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The role and function of the Remuneration Committee
include the determination of specific remuneration package
of all executive Directors, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and making recommendations to
the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee considers factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-

based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet once during
the financial year. During the meeting, the Remuneration
Committee will review the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors, independent non-executive Directors

and senior management. Regarding details relating to share
option schemes reviewed by the remuneration committee,

please refer to Share Option Scheme section.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
was established in 24 September 2013 with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A and A.2.1 of
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rule and a copy of which is
posted on the website of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange. The members of Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee for the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Mr. Wang Jia Jun (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Hon Kit
Dr. Liu Yongping
Mr. Ho Man
(Resigned on 30 April 2024)
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The primary duties of the nomination and corporate

governance committee include, but are not limited to:

(a) reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board on a regular basis and making recommendations

to the Board regarding any proposed changes;

(b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of,

individuals nominated for directorship;

(c)  making recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief

executive officer of the Company; and

(d) keeping the effectiveness of the corporate governance

and system of internal controls of the Group.

Amendments of the Company’s Articles of Association have
been made during the year, please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 28 July 2022 for details.

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee shall
meet once during the financial year. During the meeting,
the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee will
review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and review
the arrangement for re-election of all the retiring Directors
at the forthcoming general meetings of the Company and
the terms of reference of the Nomination and Corporate

Governance Committee.
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The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee has
adopted a Board Diversity Policy (“Policy”). The Company
continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness of its
Board and to maintain the highest standards of corporate
governance and recognises and embraces the benefits
of diversity in the Board. A diversity of perspectives can
be achieved through engaging directors in possession
of gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, required experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service, etc. The composition,
experience and balance of skills of the Board are regularly
reviewed to ensure that the Board retains a core of members
with longstanding knowledge of the Group alongside new
Director(s) appointed from time to time who bring fresh
perspectives and diverse experience to the Board. The Board
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
with due regard for the benefits of diversity in the Board.
The Board will continue to review the Policy to ensure its

continued effectiveness on an annual basis.

As the Board currently comprises 4 male members, the Board
considers the need to nominate at least 1 female member
into the Board, so as to achieve the board diversity purpose.
The Nomination Committee will conduct the selection of
right candidate by the end of 2024. We will take initiatives
to identify suitable female directors through various

channels.

As at 31 March 2024, gender ratio of the workforce is
25% male and 75% female. We will continue to maintain
gender diversity among all our staff as the goal and review
our policies on employee recruitment and management in a
timely manner in accordance with the Company’s business

development and needs.

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee held

2 meetings during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 24 September
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and a copy of which is posted
on the website of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.
In order to comply with the amended CG Code, the
Board adopted the revised terms of reference of the Audit
Committee on 31 December 2018. The members of Audit

Committee for the year and up to the date of this report are:

Mr. Wong Hon Kit (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Yongping
Mr. Ho Man

(Resigned on 30 April 2024)

All of the committee members are independent non-
executive Directors. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, but are not limited to:

(a) reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standard;

(b) monitoring integrity of financial statements of the
Company and the Company’s annual report and

accounts and the interim report;

(c) reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems;

(d) reporting to the Board on the matters set out in the
code provisions as stated in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

The Audit Committee shall hold at least 2 regular meetings
in a year to review and discuss the interim and annual
financial statements of the Company. Additional meetings of

the Audit Committee may be held as and when required.
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The Audit Committee shall meet with the external auditors
at least once a year. The external auditors may request a

meeting if they consider necessary.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee
held 3 meetings.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed internal control and financial reporting
matters for the year ended 31 March 2024. The Group's
audited consolidated financial results for the year ended 31
March 2024 were reviewed by the Audit Committee, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards and

requirements and that adequate disclosures has been made.

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The
Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be nominated for
appointment as the auditors of the Company at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

Corporate Governance Function
The Board is collectively responsible for performing corporate

governance duties including:

(a) to develop and review an issuer's policies and practices

on corporate governance,

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior

management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices

on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to

employees and Directors; and

(e) to review the issuer’s compliance with the Code and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Under the Company’s Code, the Board may delegate part
of the above duties to the Company’s board committees.
During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Board
has, on its own and through the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee and Audit Committee, fulfilled the
above corporate governance duties. The Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee assisted the Board to
review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management.
The Audit Committee assisted the Board to review the
Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report and the policy on compliance

with legal and regulatory requirements.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’

ATTENDANCE

CG Code provision C.5.1 prescribes that at least 4 regular
Board meetings should be held each year at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of a majority of
the Directors, either in person or through other electronic
means of communication.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board has held
9 meetings. One executive Director and all independent
non-executive Directors attended all the meetings. The
non-executive Director has attended 7 out of the 9 Board

meetings.

All members of the Board and the Company’s external
auditors attended the 2023 annual general meeting (“2023
AGM").
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Attendance record of each Director at the 2023 AGM and
the meetings of the Board, together with the meetings of
the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee during the year ended 31 March

2024 are set out below.

REEZZENE=B=+—HLHF
EBEZEHE_S_=—FRITBEKX
BEREZEEH EREZ M RRE
LREEERAZEGEEZRETIN
To

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERY/ EERY

Nomination
and Corporate
Audit  Remuneration Governance

Board Committee Committee Committee 2022 AGM
Rek  ZECCE
Name of Directors Exfte Ezxg BYZEY FNZEE MEERZET RRAEAD
Executive Directors BER
Mr. Wang Jia Jun TRERELE 9 NAR @ 3 2 1
Non-executive Director FuTES
Dr. Xiao Zhixin AHERE 7 NAREH NARE NAREH 1
Independent non-executive Directors BikHTES
Mr. Wong Hon Kit BEGRYE 9 3 3 2 1
Dr. Liu Yongping EERY 9 3 3 2 1
Mr. Ho Man (Resigned on 30 April 2024) ks (RZB5-mE
ME=1+H#E) 9 3 3 2 1
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year. The Directors have prepared the consolidated financial
statements of the Group on a going concern basis, and
have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards,
with applicable disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and pursuant to the relevant statutory requirements. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which reflect the financial information of the Group

with reasonable accuracy.

In respect of code provision D.1.3 of the CG Code, Directors
are not aware of material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company's external
auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, are set out
in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on

pages 113 to 122 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for
maintaining the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems to safeguard the assets of the
Group. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance

against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to assist the

Board in fulfilling the above responsibilities.
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During the year, the Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group,
which covers all material financial, operational, compliance
controls and risk management functions, and considered the
risk management and informed the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function. The Board concluded that the risk management

and internal control systems are adequate and effective.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The key elements of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems include a well-defined management
structure with limits of authority, clear policies, standard
operation procedures, and risk control self-assessment
conducted for all major operating units of the Group. The
system is designed to provide reasonable assurance of no
material misstatement or loss and to manage risks failure
in operational systems and achievement of the Group's

objectives.

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, but the
management is responsible for designing and implementing
internal control systems to manage all kinds of risks faced
by the Group. The operating units and support functions are
facilitated and coordinated by the management, and ensure
that risk management processes and mitigation plans follow
good practices and guidelines established in their day-to-day

operations.

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing basis. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems is
evaluated at least annually to update the progress of risk

monitoring efforts.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

Management will assess the nature and impact of risk, and
report issues to the Board. The Group identifies outside
and inside events by reviewing its external and internal
environment and stakeholders, which have an influence
or potential influence on the Group’s ability to achieve its

strategy and business objectives.

The Board, according to the risk report, would take
appropriate action to eliminate the risks. Risks which cannot
be accepted or are beyond the Company’s risk appetite are
transferred, eliminated or controlled through risk mitigation
measures. Each risk mitigation measure has a process owner
who is a Department Manager and a target completion date
is assigned to ensure accountability. Risks owners are also
responsible for monitoring the status of the risk mitigation

measures for risks under their purview.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the

Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company has an internal audit function. The Board
and Audit Committee review the internal control issues
identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’'s risk management and internal control
systems. To further enhance control awareness, the Group
has also approved launching a whistleblowing policy for
employees to raise any concerns about possible improprieties

in any matter related to the Group.

Inside Information Policy

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination
of inside information to ensure inside information remains
confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such
information is efficiently and consistently made. The
Company’s legal advisor also assists the Board to assess
whether the relevant information is considered to be
inside information which needs to be disclosed as soon as

reasonably practicable.
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Conflict of Interest

If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board, the
individual is required to declare such interest and to abstain
from voting. The matter is considered at a Board meeting
attended by Directors who have no material interest in the

transaction.

The Group also adopted certain internal control policies to

manage potential conflicts of interest.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS' REMUNERATION
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has been appointed

as the Company's external auditors since the Company’s
incorporation. There was no disagreement between
the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external

auditors.

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditors,
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March
2024 is set out below:

P 3R
HEEREFTERTERBZIXN S NER
PEANZER ZBATERHRERF
HOURERR - ARFEERRZ T
TEHREAMNGZEFHRZEFEER
&=

FEETERAETAREZERRUER
BEMNZER-

B 4% 2k £ 2 T
EEGHMEBRERADAFAD
MRIEEEEASATZIBEY
Mo EFERBREAGERE B
RERERNERUA S ELRERS
I o

BE_Z_ME=-A=+—HLEE>
MEBZRBRIFEZRZMEMNEQT
SNEZBEIEE S MEFMAERAR
ZFEENETIMT

Amount (HK$'000)

Nature of services BRFEMEE £% (F#&7)
Audit services BEIZRFE 650
Non-audit services JEEIZARTE S
Total 4mst 650
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group's business
performance and strategies. The Group also recognises
the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enable shareholders and

investors to make appropriate investment decisions.

Subject to the Listing Rules, any one or more Member(s)
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on
a one vote per share basis, shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
or resolution specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such

requisition.

The members of the Board, Board Committees and the
external auditors are present to answer shareholders’
questions in the annual general meeting of the Company.
Meeting circulars are distributed to all shareholders before
the annual general meeting and special general meetings
in accordance with the timeline requirement as laid down
in the Listing Rules and the articles of the Company. All the
resolutions proposed to be approved at the general meetings
will be taken by poll and poll voting results will be published
on the website of the Stock Exchange and of the Company

after the meetings.

J.
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As a channel to promote effective communication, the
Group maintains a website where information on the
Company’s announcements, financial information and
other information are posted. Shareholders and investors
may write directly to the Company at its principal place of

business in Hong Kong with any inquiries.

The Company has in place a Shareholders” Communication
Policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to

ensure its effectiveness.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Jia Jun (“Mr. Wang”), aged 35, was appointed as the
chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive
Officer”) with effect from 1 April 2020 and the executive
Director since 31 August 2018. Mr. Wang was also appointed as
the vice president of Zhuhai Shengchuang Medical Investment
Management Company Limited® (BH A BEKLEEERTRA
7)) (an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
since 1 September 2022 and is responsible for developing and
implementing business strategies of the Company in the PRC. Mr.
Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business Management from
Stony Brook University in the United States of America in 2011.
He also obtained a master's degree in Health Administration from
Columbia University in the United State of America in 2017. He
has over 5 years of experience in the areas of business analysis
and development across major cities in the PRC.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Xiao Zhixin (“Dr. Xiao"”), aged 83, was appointed as a
non-executive Director, with effect from 15 October 2021. Dr.
Xiao has over 50 years of experience in both medical practice
and management in the healthcare sector in the PRC. He
obtained a bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine from lJilin
Medical University* (FMEHRIKE)in the PRC in 1964. Since his
graduation from the medical school in Jilin Medical University,
Dr. Xiao has worked as a medical practitioner in Jilin No. 4
People’s Hospital* (F #4589 A R E&Bx) until May 2018. From May
2018 to July 2018, Dr. Xiao was a medical practitioner in Jining
Rencheng Hanjun Beauty Hospital” G ZE (L2 =R ER) . Dr.
Xiao was a medical practitioner in Zhuhai Jiulong Hospital” (Bk
EBABEERRD) from July 2018 to April 2019. From April 2019 to
present, Dr. Xiao is a medical practitioner in Zhuhai Yimei Ladies

Medical Beauty Clinic* Gr/BRERIBBEZSZ.

4 English translations of official Chinese names are for identification
purpose only.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESREREBASREESAR

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Hon Kit (“Mr. Wong”), aged 57, is an independent
non-executive Director since 11 April 2013. Mr. Wong obtained
a Diploma in Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University
in July 1991. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong was the independent
non-executive director of Lerthai Group Limited (stock code: 112)
between December 2018 and 15 August 2022, a company whose
shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange till
15 August 2022, the date on which the listing of the company’s
shares was cancelled by the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was also
the independent non-executive director Xinhua News Media
Holdings Limited (stock code: 309) between February 2020 and
31 August 2021.
hold any directorship in any other public companies the securities

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong did not

of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last three years.

Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the corporate finance
industry. He has held various positions, including chief financial
officer, director and company secretary in different companies
in Hong Kong, where he has experience in handling corporate
finance transactions such as mergers and acquisitions, capital fund

raising and restructuring.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Dr. Liu Yongping (“Dr. Liu”), aged 68, is an independent non-
executive Director since 27 February 2014. Dr. Liu is a practicing
solicitor in Hong Kong and a consultant of a law firm in Hong
Kong. Dr. Liu has over 20 years of experience in the capital
market and merger and acquisition legal services sector. Dr. Liu
graduated from the University of London with a master’s degree
in law in 1987 and from the University of Oxford with a doctor’s
degree in philosophy in 1994. Apart from his appointment with
the Company, Dr. Liu has been acting as an independent non-
executive director of Yue Da International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 629, formerly known as Yue Da Mining Holdings Limited)
since June 2010; and an independent non-executive director of
Logan Group Company Limited (stock code: 3380) since 30 March
2023, all being listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Save as disclosed above, Dr. Liu did not hold any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three

years.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Tam Sze Kin (“"Mr. Tam"), aged 54, holds a bachelor’s degree

of business administration in finance awarded by Simon Fraser
University in Canada. Mr. Tam is a member of The Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada and a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tam has over 20
years of experience in accounting, corporate finance, financial
reporting and company secretarial field. Mr. Tam had also held
senior management positions in the listed and private limited

companies in Hong Kong.
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Report of the Directors
ENEHRE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Wanjia Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) has pleasure in presenting to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) its report
together with the audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31

March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company while its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in pharmaceutical wholesale
and distribution business, and provides hemodialysis treatment
and consultancy service business in the PRC. Details of the
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note

24 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of the business review as required
by Schedule 5 to Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622),
including future development in the Group’s business, can be
found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of
this annual report. The above section form part of this “Report of

the Directors”.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group’s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
also implements green office practices such as promoting the use
of recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching

off idle lighting and electrical appliances.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group's businesses and

enhancing environmental sustainability.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s operation for the year by business
activities is set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements and the paragraphs headed “Business Review" under
the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this

annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2024 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 123 to 130 of this

report.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure
on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the
Company, a new dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) is
adopted by the Board on 8 November 2018 which aims to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits whilst
preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future growth

opportunities.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Dividend Policy of the Company establishes the principles to
ascertain amounts that can be distributed to its shareholders as
dividend by the Company. Subject to the applicable law and its
Articles, the Company’s dividend payout will be determined based
on available financial resources, investment requirements and

taking into account optimal shareholders return.
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Report of the Directors
ENEHRE

While determining the nature and quantum of dividend payout,
the Board would take into account the following factors, inter

alia:

° Our financial results;

o our cashflow;

. our shareholders’ interests;

o general business conditions and strategies;
o our current and future operations;

o our liquidity and capital requirements;

o taxation considerations;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 264 of
this report. The summary does not form part of the audited

consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group acquired property, plant and equipment at cost of
approximately HK$3.409 million during the year. Details of the
movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
The Group’'s employees in the PRC participate in defined

contribution schemes provided by the relevant provincial and
municipal governments under which the Group and the employees
in the PRC are required to make monthly contributions to these
schemes in accordance with relevant requirements. The Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds to the pension in
accordance with the requirements of the relevant provincial and

municipal governments.

The Group has arranged the Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee whereby each of the Group
(the employer) and the Hong Kong employees make monthly
contributions to the scheme in accordance with the relevant

legislation.

Details of the Group’s contributions to the retirement benefit plans

are shown in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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Report of the Directors
ENEHRE

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserve of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on pages 127 to 128 respectively. Pursuant to applicable
statutory provisions of the Cayman Islands, the Company did not
have reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders as at
31 March 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman lIslands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-

rata basis to existing shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no purchase,
sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities by the

Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 8.44%
of the Group's revenue and the Group’s five largest customers in

aggregate accounted for approximately 19.21%.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount
of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
represented approximately 51.77% of the Group’s total value
of purchases. The Group’s largest supplier accounted for

approximately 22.06% of the Group’s total value of purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had any interests in the share

capital of the five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) during the year
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Jia Jun (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Dr. Xiao Zhixin

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Hon Kit

Dr. Liu Yongping

Mr. Ho Man (Resigned on 30 April 2024)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Dr. Xiao Zhixin, the non-executive Director, and
Mr. Wong Hon Kit, the independent non-executive Director of the
Company, will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Report of the Directors
ENEHRE

Mr. Wong Hon Kit (“Mr. Wong"”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since April 2013. Pursuant
to Code Provision B.2.3 of the Corporate Governance Code
under Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, if an independent non-
executive Director has served more than nine years, such Director’s
further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by the Shareholders, hence Mr. Wong's re-election
will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
Shareholders at the AGM. In view of Mr. Wong having served
as an independent nonexecutive Director for more than nine
years, the Board took into consideration Mr. Wong's valuable
contributions, impartial opinions and independent guidance over
the years at office, the continuing demonstration of his character,
integrity and experience, and is of the view that Mr. Wong has
and will continue to maintain his independence and will be able
to continue to discharge his role as an independent non-executive
Director effectively and independently. The Board is also of the
view that Mr. Wong's in-depth understanding of the Group's
business operations and his extensive experience and expertise
in the areas of corporate finance and accounting can continue
to bring a wide spectrum of insights to the Board and is in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
The Company has received from Mr. Wong a confirmation of
independence according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and Mr.

Wong did not engage in any executive management of the Group.
All other Directors will continue in office.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set on pages 87 to 89 of this annual report. Details of the
emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
are set out in Notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial

statements, respectively.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the

independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Wang Jia Jun has been appointed as an executive Director of
the Company by way of a service contract with the Company for
an initial term of three years commencing on 31 August 2018
which will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving to the other party not less then three months’ notice in
writing. Mr. Wang Jia Jun has entered into a letter of employment
with the Company to act as the Chief Executive Officer with effect
from 1 April 2020.

Dr. Xiao Zhixin has been appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company by way of a service contract with the Company for
an initial term of three years commencing on 15 October 2021
which will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving to the other party not less than one months' notice in
writing.

Mr. Wong Hon Kit has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company by way of letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 11 April 2013 which will continue thereafter
until either the independent non-executive Director or the
Company may terminate the agreement by giving the other party
not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Dr. Liu Yongping has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company by way of letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 27 February 2014 which will continue
thereafter until either the independent non-executive Director or
the Company may terminate the agreement by giving the other
party not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ho Man has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company by way of letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 14 February
2018 which will continue thereafter until either the independent
non-executive Director or the Company may terminate the
agreement by giving the other party not less than three months’
written notice in writing. Mr. Ho Man has resigned from the
Company on 30 April 2024 to devote more time in pursuit of his

personal career development.
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Report of the Directors
ENEHRE

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the heading “Continuing connected
transactions”, no contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interests whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision that provides for indemnity
against liability incurred by Directors is currently in force and was
in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

REMUNERATION POLICY
The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Remuneration Committee and is based on merit,

qualifications and competence of employees.

The remuneration policy of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the Group’s operating

results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and those of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
are set out in Notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING

BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, Ms. Yung Kai Lai
(“Ms. Yung”), spouse of Mr. Wang Jia Jun, the executive Director,
had invested in certain clinics which were engaged in hemodialysis
treatment. As advised by Ms. Yung, the clinics that she invested
in are allocated in other cities of the PRC that the Group's clinics
had no presence there. The Board noted the fact that hemodialysis
patients could not travel long distance, e.g. cross cities, for
treatment due to their health issues and affordability. Hence, there
is no direct competition between the hemodialysis treatment offered
by the Group and that offered by the clinics invested by Ms. Yung.
Save as disclosed, as far as the Directors are aware of, none of the
Directors or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Group or has any other conflict of
interest with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

Disclosure of Interests

(a) Directors’ interest and short position in the securities
of the Company
As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares of the Company (“Shares”), underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which will have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which will be
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein or which will be required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) contained in
the Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long position in Shares and underlying Shares of the RAERERG RIEHR G ZFE
Company
Total Total Approximate
interests interests in percentage
in ordinary underlying Aggregate of issued
Name of Director Nature of interests Shares Shares interests Shares
HE BT
RE@ERZz RERRKZ (430
Esns EmttE Rz 4REE R Wiz HBHESH
(Note 3)
(M¥3E3)
Mr. Wang Jia Jun Interest of spouse 156,862,198 2,500,000 168,755,611 30.12%
("Mr. Wang”) (Note 1)
FEBEE foB#s
(TEXEL) (MizE1)
Beneficial owner - 9,393,413
BEBEEA
Mr. Wong Hon Kit Beneficial owner - 340,419 340,419 0.06%
("Mr. Wong") (Note 2)
=EARE (REE)D BHEBA
(PFzE2)
Dr. Liu Yongping Beneficial owner = 340,419 340,419 0.06%
("Dr. Liu") (Note 2)
B TEL (TRHEL)) BHEEBA
(PFzE2)
Mr. Ho Man Beneficial owner - 340,419 340,419 0.06%

("Mr. Ho") (Resigned on
30 April 2024) (Note 2)

ks (MaLED)
(RZE2ZmEm™A=+H
B (M3E2)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Wang is the beneficial owner of 9,393,413 share options.
Mr. Wang (being the spouse of Ms. Yung) is deemed to be
interested in 2,500,000 share options owned by Ms. Yung.
Power King Investment Development Limited (“Power
King”), a company wholly-owned by Ms. Yung, owns a total
of 156,862,198 Shares. Each of Ms. Yung and Mr. Wang is,
therefore, deemed to be interested in the 9,393,413 and
2,500,000 share options respectively and the 156,862,198
Shares held by Power King, under the SFO. Ms. Yung resigned
as the Director with effect from 15 October 2021.

2. Mr. Wong, Dr. Liu and Mr. Ho are interested in share options
which can be exercised to subscribe 340,419 Shares, 340,419
Shares and 340,419 Shares, respectively. Mr. Ho has resigned
from the Company on 30 April 2024 as the independent non-
executive Director. All of the 340,419 share options which he

interested in were cancelled on 30 April 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors
of the Company were not aware of any other person (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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1. EEREA9,393413(PERENSHE
BEAEh4E (BELTHER WRIE
RS R THEAEM2,500,00015 8 AZ #
ARG BIEREERERAT (TH
Bl —EHESXIE2EHRENRR) #
BHA$156,862,1988% 8815 - E It > iR#%
BERPERA ST RERESE
WARED BN H B E9,393,4131%
$22,500,00017 B R # 5 156,862, 198%
BOTPEEER SRIEHTES
BZEZ—F+RA+HEHEEK-

2. BEE BT RALEHRERES
AR ZEERETETES R
85340,419B% B& 19 ~ 340,41982 IR 17 &
340,419 M A ENR T ZINE
MA=+HEXATAFETEILIFNIT
ER o HEARRZNEE340,41910 8
BREBNR_-_SZNFEMNB=1+HF#H-

BREXKRBEEIN - RM_Z_NFE=A
=+—H ' FARAFNEFLFAMEEMH
AL (FRBDEFREEZTHRAER
SN RERB RO HEMAKRG FEER
BEFAPERGIFE336FARETAR
FEZEMAIGEHRZEEIKA -
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(b) Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions

in shares and underlying shares

As at 31 March 2024, other than the interests of a director
or chief executive of the Company as disclosed under the
heading “Directors’ and chief executive’s interest in shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations” above, the following persons
(not being a director or the chief executive officer of the
Company) have an interest or a short position in Shares
or underlying Shares which would be required to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

(b)

FERRMNIRG KRR 28 R
 §

RZEBE_WNE=A=+—H KLEXTE
ERFTETHRABRERAE REMBEBE
Bz RNk EEREZEm —
BFRBAABEEFNEETHAEZ
B UTAL (FRBZEEFHITH
MEFRIN RIRODJERARKRG FEER
BESRAERGIEXVEE2RE3D 5
ZRENARB A R FTIRE 2
HRE > AT ABREZFRPE
1RBIB336RFEZECL MmN K
=1

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares total issued
Name Nature of interests (Long position) Shares
HB#T
AL ECE
W aiE Ems RIZ&E (FE) BB SE
Power King (Note 1) Beneficial owner 156,862,198 28.00%
miE (fisE1) BEmEAA
Expert Wealth Investments Limited  Interest in controlled corporation 156,862,198 28.00%
(Note 2)
Expert Wealth Investments Limited — F S #E&EEER (i3E2)
Grand Harbour Finance Limited Interest in controlled corporation 156,862,198 28.00%
(Note 2)
ShBMEER AT REEREE#ER (ME5E2)
Ng Kwok Fai Beneficial owner of controlled 156,862,198 28.00%
corporation (Note 2)
2 SEFEEzESEA A (MHsE2)
]02 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes:

Power King is interested in 156,862,198 Shares. The issued
share capital of Power King is wholly-owned by Ms. Yung.
Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which
Power King is interested in under the SFO.

Based on the notifications filed to the Company,
156,862,198 Shares owned by Power King were pledged
to Grand Harbour Finance Limited. Grand Harbour Finance
Limited is wholly owned by Expert Wealth Investments
Limited and Mr. Ng Kwok Fai is the controlling shareholder.
As all these companies were deemed or taken to be
interested in all the security in 156,862,198 Shares by virtue
of the SFO, and therefore Expert Wealth Investments Limited
and Mr. Ng Kwok Fai were deemed to have approximately
28.00% of interest in the Company as at 31 March 2024.
To the best of the knowledge, information and belief of
the Directors, after having made all reasonable enquires,
Grand Harbour Finance Limited and its ultimate owner(s) are
independent from and not connected with the Company and
its connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rule).

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their

spouses or children under 18 years of age were granted or

had exercised any rights to subscribe for any securities of the

Company or any of its associated corporations.
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B 2156,862,198 R B 17 1 # F 3L 78
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Expert Wealth Investments Limited®
ERARREBEREAEZERKRE B
RIREESRAGHERA -FIEZEA
SIWRAKE 156,862,198/ B 15
WFTEIRIRREE S > UL Expert
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SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED TO DIRECTORS
AND EMPLOYEES

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in the Share

Option Scheme section.

During the period ended 31 March 2024, there would have 81,473,892
share options granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme which remain

outstanding or unexercised, details of which are as follows:

Number of share options

EFRESERTZRERE

AQTBIRA 22 BB HFI R B 2 — 6 -

BE_T_NE=-A=+—HILHBE ERE_F
—=FRERES IR LS1,473,8920 BBk iE  2F
R MEITEIIRHRITE HeFBEUT

BREHE
Approximate
percentage of
the underlying
shares
for the share
options
As at Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled As at outstanding
Type of 1 April during during during during 31 March in the issued Exercise  Exercise
participants 2023 the year the year the year the year 2024  Date of grant Shares price  period
(Note 3) (HKS)
HWATERRE
S S Z R
Z%Z=F% ZEImE HEETRN
SHEER mA—-H REARE REATR RERKY REREHE =A=+-B KLEH WEABSL TRE T8
(Hit3) (&7)
Directors
B3
Mr. Wang 3,793,413 - - - 1,293413 26 October 2018 0.23% 0.668  (Note 1)
b3 “2-\E+AZ+RH (HfzE1)
- - - 2,500,000 24 April 2020 0.45% 0.190  (Note 2)
ZZ_ZEMAZ{MA (M2)
5,600,000 - - - 5,600,000 5 September 2023 1.00% 0.094  (Note 3)
ZZZZEARTA (Hf5E3)
Mr. Wong 140,419 - - - 40,419 26 October 2018 0.01% 0.668  (Note 1)
BRE —2-\£+AZ+5A (zE1)
- - - 100,000 24 April 2020 0.02% 0.190  (Note 2)
“2C2FEMAC+MA (M2)
200,000 - - - 200,000 5 September 2023 0.04% 0.094  (Note 3)
ZZZ=FNREA (Hf3E3)
Dr. Liu 140,419 - - = 40,419 26 October 2018 0.01% 0.668  (Note 1)
£l “E2-\£+AZ+5A (MzE1)
= 3 = 100,000 24 April 2020 0.02% 0.190  (Note 2)
“ECREMAC+MA (M£2)
200,000 - - - 200,000 5 September 2023 0.04% 0.094  (Note 3)
2Z=FNREA (M5E3)
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Number of share options
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EFTRS

BREHE
Approximate
percentage of
the underlying
shares
for the share
options
As at Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled As at outstanding
Type of 1 April during during during during 31 March in the issued Exercise  Exercise
participants 2023 the year the year the year the year 2024 Date of grant Shares price  period
(Note 3) (HKS)
MR E
S IS ZRER
ZEIZE ZEImE HEETRA
SHEE) ME—-B REARE REATE RERRH REREH ZA=+-B RKLAS MEQES e E8
(H3#3) (&7)
Mr. Ho (Resigned on 140,419 - - - 40,419 26 October 2018 0.01% 0.668  (Note 1)
30 April 2024)
ks (RZE-NE “Z-\E+AZ+55H (HfzE1)
MA=+RA#E)
- - - 100,000 24 April 2020 0.02% 0.190  (Note 2)
“ZC2EMACYMA (MzE2)
200,000 - - - 200,000 5 September 2023 0.04% 0.094  (Note 3)
ZZZ=EHATLA (M3)
Sub-total 4,214,670 6,200,000 - - - 10,414,670
bt
Employees 26,259,222 - - - 11,689,222 26 October 2018 2.09% 0.668  (Note 1)
(Note 4)
1 (fzx4) ZB-N\E+AZ+7iH (HzE1)
- - - 14,570,000 24 April 2020 2.60% 0.190  (Note 2)
ZZ_ZEMACZTMA (Kf3£2)
49,800,000 - - (5,000,000) 44,800,000 5 September 2023 8.00% 0.094  (Note 3)
ZZZ=FhAEH (GES)]
Sub-total 26,259,222 49,800,000 - - (5,000,000) 71,059,222
gt
Total 30,473,892 56,000,000 (5,000,000) 81,473,892
&t
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Notes:
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The share options granted on 26 October 2018 are exercisable
from 26 October 2018 to 26 October 2028.

The share options granted on 24 April 2020 are exercisable from
24 April 2020 to 24 April 2030.

The share options granted on 5 September 2023 are exercisable
from 5 September 2023 to 5 September 2033. The share options
granted will be vested over a period of twelve months from the
date of grant.

The fair value of the share options granted on 5 September
2023 determined using the Binomial model was approximately
HK$2,210,000. The significant inputs into the model were share
price of HK$0.092 at the grant date, exercise price shown above,
expected volatility of 59.904%,
3.89% and dividend payout ratio of Nil. The volatility measured at

annual risk free interest rate of

the standard deviation of expected share price returns is based on
statistical analysis of daily share prices from 11 October 2013 to 5
September 2023.

Among the 3,900,000 share options granted to the employees
of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC, these share options are
exercisable in the following manner: (i) up to 30% of the share
options granted to each grantee shall be exercisable on or after 24
April 2020 to 23 April 2021; (ii) up to further 30% of the share
options granted to each grantee shall be exercisable on or after 24
April 2021 to 23 April 2022; and (iii) all the remaining 40% of the
share options granted to each grantee shall be exercisable on or
after 24 April 2022 to 23 April 2023, and in each case, not later
than 24 April 2030.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

RZE—N\FE+AZ+BERENERET
R ZE—NE+AZ+ARHEZZIN\EL
BZ4+/<"BHAETE-

A —E_EFWNA +IEH$M%%ET
A _E_EFUNA_+HAE_E=ZFMN
BA-+HBEHBTE

RIZ_=ZFNBEARENBERETRZ
E_-FNARBEZZT=Z=ZFhABEAH
FITE-RENBRERBRE BEER2
8 7 HARE BR & o

REZEARXEENR_-_SEZ_=FNA
AHEHNERENAFEN%2,210,000
BT - ZEANEIERARBELNFZELE
HABRME0.0928 T LT E(E ~ TEEA R 1B
59.904% - EEERIEFE3.89% RTIRE
R -RBEHKRERBHNIZEERETZNRIE
DiRERE-E—=F1+B+—BEEZZ
—=ENBAENESERENASIHAE
B

PEAAGRFEHRBASEZEEREZ
3,900,000f7 BERG HE P > ZE BB TR U
THRITE (IASEBABHEZESZ30%
BREERR_-_SZTZEMA-_+HHEHZ®E
E-E_—FNAZ+Z=ZHITE (AKX
BAE—SRHEZRZ30%ERERN_-F
Z_—FNAZ+HNHRZZEBEE_ZT_F
MAZ+=ZH1T#; R(INAZEZAZE
ZAMBBRTI0%ERERR _S - _FINA
“t+HHgZzBEE=FONAZ+=H
T RREERT  AER-ZZ=S£MA
—+mH-



As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the shares of the Company (“Shares”), underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which will have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which will be
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein or which will be required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in
the Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing Rules,

were as follows:

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed under the headings”Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the company and its associated corporations” and “Share Options
Granted to Directors and Employees” above and particulars of the
Share Option Scheme as set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate and neither the Directors nor the chief
executive, nor any of their spouses or children under the age of

18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

According to the share option scheme adopted pursuant to the
written resolutions of the shareholder dated 24 September 2013
(the “2013 Share Option Scheme”), the 2013 Share Option
Scheme should expire on 24 September 2023. The share options
granted thereunder prior to the expiry date will continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the 2013
Share Option Scheme. At the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 15 September 2023, the shareholders of the
Company approved the termination of the 2013 Share Option
Scheme and adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2023
Share Option Scheme”) under which the Directors may grant
share options to eligible persons to subscribe for the Shares,
subject to the terms and conditions as stipulated therein. Unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, the 2023 Share Option Scheme
will remain valid for a period of 10 years from the date of its

adoption.

The 2023 Share Option Scheme provides the eligible participants
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with
the view to achieving the following objectives: (i) motivate the
eligible participants to optimise their performance efficiency for
the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attract and retain or otherwise
maintain an on-going business relationship with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group. The eligible participants include
the director(s) and employee(s) (whether full-time or part-time)
of the Company or any member of the Group as determined or
approved by the Board and the Remuneration Committee from
time to time and in compliance with the Listing Rules. The eligible
participants do not include service providers and service provider
sublimit is not applicable. The Company is entitled to grant up to
56,022,213 share options under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
during the Period. Details of the 2023 Share Option Scheme are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 26 July 2023. No
share options had been granted under the 2023 Share Option

Scheme.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions are set out in Note

37 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group had entered into a number of transactions with
connected parties which, upon the listing of the Shares on the
Stock Exchange, became connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules. These transactions are continuing
connected transactions exempt from the independent
shareholder’s approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the continuing connected transactions are as follows:

Tenancy agreement entered into with Mr. Wang lJia
Jun (“Mr. Wang”)

On 17 March 2022, Grand Motion Investments Limited* FESf
KREAMRAT (“Grand Motion”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into a car rental agreement (“Rental
Agreement”) with Mr. Wang which for rental of motor car. The
term of the lease is from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 with a
rental amount of HK$15,000 per month for the motor car and is

renewable upon the signing of a new rental agreement.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, under the annual cap,
and the total rental charge paid, the Group's total transaction
amount with Mr. Wang contemplated under Rental Agreement
was HK$180,000.

& English translations of official Chinese names are for identification

purpose only.
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Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions required
to be disclosed as non-exempt connected transactions or non-
exempt continuing connected transactions in accordance with the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2024. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have,
for the purpose of Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such
continuing connected transactions, for the reporting period, have
been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable to
the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)

independent third parties; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in

the interest of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company as applied the code provisions set out in the
CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Since
its listing on the Stock Exchange, the Company has complied
with the code provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31
March 2024, save for the exceptions explained in the Corporate

Governance Report in this report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and

regulations by the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on publicly available
information and the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has sufficient public float as required under Rule 8.08 of

the Listing Rules.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant events requiring
disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 March 2024 and
up to the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited who will retire at the forthcoming Annual General

Meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.
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Report of the Directors
ENEHRE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE
OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“AGM") will be held on Friday, 6 September 2024 at 11:00
a.m. at Suite 1801, 18/F., Tower 1, The Gateway, Harbour City,
25 Canton Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The register of members
of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 September 2024
to Friday, 6 September 2024, both days inclusive, during which

period no transfer of shares will be effected.

In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30

p.m. on Monday, 2 September 2024.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Jia Jun

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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B &3t E8H A RAF
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
WANJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wanjia
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 123 to
263 comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and

other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Independent Auditors’ Report
B EMEMERS

31/F, Gloucester Tower 7 fs

The Landmark IR

11 Pedder Street BATH 1198
Central B

Hong Kong AT R E 31

HRESEEEZERAERARNZERR

(REEHEZFMAILIERL )

ER

NIZEE (U TERBIEM) EFHIH
REI123E263ENBRERIZERERAA
(TEAT) REMBAG (RiBTEEE))
MNGEEMEBERK LEEMBRREERZ
T_ME=ZA=1+—HHNRESMBRARE
BEZHLEENGEEGaREMZEKE
R EERGEFREGERERER UK
FREUMBRERWE @EEAGHBEEN
REMBREMEE R

HPRR 2EREMBRREREERS
st g ((EREHMAE)) BHH(ER
MBHREER) (EEMBREEN) EE
MPAEMRIRT BSEER-_ZFT-_NF=A
=S+ HNGREMBRARBEZXBILEEE
NEEHMBREREFEREME LEBR
(BRBRBFRA)MIRBEREZHEME -

BEREEZERERAR
2023/24 3R

n3



Independent Auditors’ Report
BB E

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

na WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B EMEMERS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS - continued FIRE-tFE &
Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
i ] BAETENRNAEEMRENSA

Impairment assessment on goodwill

AR

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

I AT S TSR R M 20U RS I BEIR R M 5232 B 51 B ©

The Group has goodwill of approximately Our procedures in relation to the management'’s
HK$24,495,000 relating to provision of hemodialysis impairment assessment of goodwill included, but were not
treatment and consultancy service business in the PRC  limited to:

as at 31 March 2024. The management performed FHMMEEEHEERENHETHNREFSEERRER :
impairment assessments of the cash generating units
and concluded that impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$22,310,000 was recognised during ,
the year ended 31 March 2024. c:l;ulatlon; NN i .
EEEEERE S NES A= +—ARhEE D BEGEERTGAEMERNBRR KRG E

BRENBERRBHABRBEF ZEHEL224,495000 o  Assessing the methodologies used and the

o Engaging our valuation expert to evaluate the
assumption and methodologies used in the

o BEEHREELBEMETRENGLFLER appropriateness of the key assumptions based on our
RBE_Z_NMF=A=+—HLEEENEHERIDHE Knowledge of the relevant industry;
EE5384922,310,0005 7T © o  REBRMIBRITENBTEFAERNS AR

N BRENBEEMY ;
The management performs an annual impairment test

on the recoverability of the goodwill which is subjective o Evaluation of management Independent valuer's

in nature due to judgments having to be made of competence, capabilities and objectively;

future performance. o MEEEBUMGEMNEE -EHORETERNY;

EEEHEEZTREIMETFERENR  HIHH , .

PR R R IR M A A T8 o o Challenging the reasonableness Qf key assu.mptlons
based on our knowledge of business and industry;

The valuation of goodwill performed by an and

independent professional external valuer based on the 4 RIER YRR TEYNAS SRERBENS

value in use calculation. The valuation requires the R

application of significant judgement and estimation
by the management in determining the appropriate Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
valuation methodology to be used, use of subjective relevance of the input data used.

assumptions and various unobservable inputs. The e MBS E NS A SIS ERE M KRB o
valuation is sensitive to underlying assumptions applied
by the valuer such as pre-tax discount rates and growth
rate used and cash flow projection which can have a
significant impact to the valuation.

By BRI BEEARE T BB GENERERE  a/able evidence

B E A E A e R E R E T ey RPRARE R N2 RN 5 R
EEES G TRRRARRESETTRRHARE XV ARTRNERLS

T 1 th 2 35 ) e £ o o 321 (29 £ (8 T A 2 4

BB AR N EEEEEEARESBR

MARERFAA BEEURRSHEREA -

We found that the management’s judgment, estimates,
assumptions and methodologies made in respect of the
impairment assessment on goodwill were supported by

BEEEEZERBRAT 1S
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BB E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS - continued
Key audit matters

MBEEE

PEEFRE &

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EAETEARMARIEMRENFE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B S Bl ERETE

Refer to Note 5(b) and Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 3 to

the consolidated financial statements.

AR S I BRI (D) R 23U RAT S I B IR AR M 32 B 5% ©

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has gross trade
receivables of approximately HK$37,907,000 and
allowance for credit losses of trade receivables of
approximately HK$11,156,000. Provision is made for
lifetime expected credit losses on trade receivables.

R _E_ME=A=+—H> SH£EENEZREKMX
IHARZE#A #337,907,0008 5 MEBZEUKREZEE
BB #E N %11,156,0008 75 o B HE T 7L B 5 FE R
HNEHATEHAE ERIE1EH

N6 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on
allowance for credit losses of trade receivables included,
but were not limited to:

MEEEHEZRWREBEZEEHERBEFETGEMS > Hif
ZREFEEERRR

o Obtaining an understanding of key process on how
impairment is estimated by management;

o BEREEEMSHRENRREERE

o Testing on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing
profile of trade receivables by checking to the
underlying sales invoices;

e FERTHMMHEZEER UHEAFXAZEZ R
IRTRARE, 2 ZEHE S

o Testing on a sample basis, the subsequent settlement
of trade receivables against bank receipts;

o DA XHBIBITHWIRAEE S RUBERR N4
HENEMER



KEY AUDIT MATTERS - continued
Key audit matters

MBEER

Independent Auditors’ Report
B EMEMERS

PEEFE &

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EAETEAHMARIEMRENEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables
— continued

BB B ERETE— 8

Management applied judgement in assessing
the expected credit losses. Receivables relating
to customers with known financial difficulties or
significant doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for impairment
allowance. Expected credit losses are also estimated by
grouping the remaining receivables based on shared
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed
for likelihood of recovery, taking into account the
nature of the customer, its geographical location and
its ageing category, and applying expected credit
loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts
of the receivables. The expected credit loss rates
are determined based on historical credit losses
experienced and are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information such as macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables.

EREREIAANEERERERAH -FREMNY
HBRENRELAREST RERKRENE R BKRE
ERUFGERERE - CHAREAME EMEBEUE
KRG TEBRHGRERRRENAZEERAR
BEOHE TiREFEEKRATEMGAERRESEE
TRERABEREEEERENSBBRENIREAE &
HEEERXNDREELEFEHEREREE  1&H
BURMERKRAEEER I ETRFEEK
MIBRENHNEBREERR -

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
trade receivables and the estimation and judgement
involved in determining the expected credit losses
allowance of the trade receivables.

BB ERZSESRERENEEREEZEES
P& WRR TR 2 TR HA {5 & 5 18 18 8 P T B9 ik 51 B ) i o
- i

Inquiring of management for the status of each of
the material trade receivables past due as at year end
and corroborating explanations from management
with supporting evidence, such as understanding on-
going business relationship with the customers based
on trade records, checking historical and subsequent
settlement records of and other correspondence with
the customers; and
HEEEAEEARCEINIEAREZRKREN
R TEBZFEREESEBNEE MEARE
SR THMETFNRBEFRFZ ZKEXPNE
SREHEEHLRUREATRNEMBREER ; &

Assessing the appropriateness of the expected credit
loss provisioning methodology and examining the key
data inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness.
HEFRBEEEEBED ANER M RIRMmEREE
BB RS ARG LT EERE R TR M-

Based upon the above, we found that the estimation
and judgement made by management in respect of the
expected credit losses allowance and the collectability of
receivables were supported by the available evidence.
ERNEA&E BMEREEBMEWRIERBEEHE
B R E R ER Gt RABTH AT IS E B e

BEEEEZERBRAT N7
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BN S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon

(the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

N8 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- continued

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BB E

AUDITORS’" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BB E

AUDITORS’" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguard applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this

independent auditors’ report is Tien Sun Kit, Jack.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Tien Sun Kit, Jack
Practising Certificate Number: P07364
Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e REMETER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E_mE | 2=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
e 5 FHAT TH&T
Revenue U =5 8 181,092 173,702
Cost of sales SHE R4S (126,352) (116,766)
Gross profit EH 54,740 56,936
Other revenue Hh & 43 153
Other loss, net Htks1e > $ 58 10 (1,769) (733)
(Allowance for)/reversal of expected BE REMEIRIE 2 TaHE
credit losses on trade and other EEKEE (BH)
receivables, net %[0 » SR %A 5(b) (4,595) 7,499
Impairment loss on goodwill EmERERIE 20 (22,310) -
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (35,758) (34,798)
Administrative expenses THREX (29,789) (24,584)
(Loss)/profit from operations EEERE (FFR) #ER 11 (39,438) 4,473
Finance costs MBER 12 (1,711) (2,018)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BR#R AL (B538) EF (41,149) 2,455
Income tax credit/(expense) Fri8fiK% () 15 854 (517)
(Loss)/profit for the year EE (B518) iEf (40,295) 1,938
Other comprehensive expense TEERMZ2EAS
for the year
Item that may be reclassified HREEBEHEEMFEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BExmzEE
Exchange differences on translating of S BINSBEETE
foreign operations [EREXE (5,911) (9,812)
Other comprehensive expense TEEHMZ2EBAS
for the year (5.911) (9,812)
Total comprehensive expense FEEREBBAZHALE
for the year (46,206) (7,874)
BEEERZERERAT 123
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

EAmREMEET SR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

2024 2023
“EMEF —EZ=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Ffd 5 FHAT TET
(Loss)/profit for the year BT ALEMWN
attributable to: EE (F518) EF .
Owners of the Company KATHEEA (39,977) 1,820
Non-controlling interests JEER S (318) 118
(40,295) 1,938
Total comprehensive expense UTFTALEEEEE
for the year attributable to: MR EEE:
Owners of the Company KATHEEA (45,883) (7,987)
Non-controlling interests FEIER S (323) 113
(46,206) (7,874)
(Loss)/earnings per share: =ik (518 B :
— Basic and diluted — B AR RS
(HK cents per share) (=REAE) 17 (7.14) 0.32
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMIMsE R E R M B RRZ—8 D

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
SFeaRBgRRE

As at 31 March 2024 =2 mME=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-ME ROEEL = =
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B 5% F#ET FET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment E N 18 22,295 31,679
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 11,919 15,807
Goodwill meE 20 24,495 49,093
58,709 96,579
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =75 22 7,982 12,631
Trade and other receivables & 5 R H fh FE W zk 18 23 32,182 50,659
Cash and cash equivalents HEkFEEEEER 25 18,228 9,876
58,392 73,166
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFEHEZEE 26 - 3,703
58,392 76,869
Current liabilities RENEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENRIE 27 17,742 23,897
Lease liabilities HEad 28 2,364 2,569
Borrowings i=p= 29 1,691 7,450
Amount due to a director BT —%EERIE 30 8,450 =
Tax payables FE(T TR 1E 114 1,320
30,361 35,236
Liabilities associated with assets BN EATFEHEZEE
classified as held for sale HHEAN A& 26 - 2,838
30,361 38,074
Net current assets MENEEFE 28,031 38,795
Total assets less current liabilities BEHERRHEE 86,740 135,374
Non-current liabilities JEmENERE
Lease liabilities HE&E 28 11,545 15,147
Net assets BEEEE 75,195 120,227
BEEEEZERBRAT 125
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SFERBRRR

As at 31 March 2024 R=Z2—mME=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_mE | ==
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Ffd 5F FAT THET
Capital and reserves B KRG

Share capital &N 31 28,011 28,011
Reserves #fE 45,477 90,186

Equity attributable to owners of KABHEE AEL#ER
the Company 73,488 118,197
Non-controlling interests JEER R 1,707 2,030
Total equity R 4R 75,195 120,227

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2024

and signed on its behalf by:

Wang Jia Jun
Executive Director
F (£
HITEFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FEREEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Share Share Other  Share option
capital premium reserve reserve
23 RFEE At BREMS
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EYAGE SN
Non-
Contribution Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interest Total
i1 ERHRE i1 BithR Nt FERER a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEr TERr TEr TEr TEn FiEr FhEr Fhn FhEn FhEn T
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (d)) (Note (e))
(K(a) (K(b)) (W) () (Kt(e)
A1 April 202 W-E--£mB-A 28011 60,299 (2878) 5636 866,811 12,219 20821 (864,740) 126,179 1917 128,096
Profit for the year REEER - - - - - - - 1,820 1,820 118 1938
Other comprehensive expense for the year KEEEMRARS - - - - - (9,807) - - (9,807) (5) (9,812)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FEERENE/ (B%) 88
for the year - - - - - (9,807) - 1,820 (7,987) 13 (7,874)
Share-based payment (Note 36) MR AER2 3 (H536) - - - 5 - - - - 5 - 5
Transfer to statutory reserve BRTITRE - - - - - - 1402 (1,402) - - =
At31 March 2023 RZBZZ£=p=t+-A 28011 60,299 2,878) 5,641 866,811 2412 03 (864,322) 118,197 2,030 120227
Loss for the year FEEER - - - - - - - (39.977) (39.977) (318) (40,295)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FEEEM2ERE - - - - - (5.906) - - (5,906) () (5.911)
Total comprehensive expense for the year  AEE2HRZHE - - - - - (5,906) - (39.977) (45,883) (323) (46,206)
Share-based payment (Note 36) MROBERZ (5 (H336) = = = 1,174 = = = - 1,174 = 1174
Transfer to statutory reserve BRTEEME - - - - - - 102 (102) - - -
At31 March 2024 K-E-mE=R=+-A 28011 60,299 (2,478) 6,815 866,811 (3,494) 2,305 (904,401) 73,488 1,707 75,195
Notes: BT
her reserv B
@ St e . i @  HfnpEE
The reserve represen ifferen ween mpany” sy =
e reserve eF) esents the d eelce bet e.e the Co .p-a ‘ys S 0 48 45 A A B B U BE T I A B 0 A B A
sharels of nominal value of the pa|d-up .c.ap|ta| of sub5|.d|.arfes =BG T 1 B A ) 70 B 4R B U B (] 4
acquired over the Company'’s cost of acqumtpn 9f the subsidiaries S B A D) = B 2 LU 38 1 Uk BE — B I B
under common control upon the reorganisation and deemed AT RS
acquisition of a subsidiary's equity interest.
har ion reserv e
(b) Share option reserve (b) R RRAE E(E

The reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options grants to eligible persons,
including any full-time and part-time employee, director,
consultant or advisor of the Company and its subsidiaries

recognised in accordance with the share option scheme.

ZHEFBERREREASERINETS
ERAL (BEARAAKEMBEAREAZ
R MRS EE B AZER) MR
TREERENERIGHHRENQTE

BEREEZERERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEHEBR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

Notes: — continued

(c)

Contribution reserve

Capitalisation of the outstanding amount of approximately
HK$866,811,000 due from Timely Hero Enterprises Limited
(“Timely Hero”) to Hua Xia Healthcare Holdings Limited (“Hua
Xia”) on 3 September 2013 in consideration of (i) the allotment
and issue 1 share of US$1 in the share capital of Timely Hero
to Luxuriant Expand Global Investment Limited (“Luxuriant
Expand”), credited as fully paid up, at the direction of Hua
Xia; and (ii) the allotment and issue of a total of 100 shares of
US$1 each in the share capital of Luxuriant Expand, all credited
as fully paid up, to Hua Xia in consideration of its receipt of
1 share in Timely Hero at the direction of Hua Xia. Details of
the reorganisation were set out in the paragraph headed “The
Reorganisation” in the section headed “Corporate history,
development and Reorganisation” in the prospectus dated 30
September 2013.

Translation reserve
The reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in Note 3.

Statutory reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the Peoples’
Republic of China (the “PRC”), the subsidiaries of the Company
establishing in the PRC shall set aside 10% of its net profit after
taxation for the statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the
reserve balances has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ paid up
capital). The reserve fund can only be used, upon approval by
the Board of Directors and by the relevant authority, to offset
accumulated losses or increase capital.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SeERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
Pt E FHET FHET
Operating activities SEER
(Loss)/profit before taxation PR#R AT (B518) & F (41,149) 2,455
Adjustments for: HEIER
Interest income F 2 WA 9 (43) (33)
Finance costs =% 12 1,711 2,018
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERREITE
equipment 18 7,633 9,003
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 19 2,780 2,920
Allowance/(reversal of) for expected B 5 K E fh fE W zh 18
credit losses on trade and ZTRHEEBRERE
other receivables, net (#2[E]) > 58 5(b) 4,595 (7,499)
Impairment loss on goodwill EmERERE 20 22,310 =
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME -BER
equipment BB ZE1E 10 5,030 733
Share-based payment URMBAERZ TR 11 1,174 5
Gain on early termination of lease AR IEAE 2 & 10 (252) =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HBNEBAEZWE 10 (3,009) =
Operating cash flows before EEEE5HH
movements in working capital SERERE 780 9,602
Decrease in inventories EEHLD 4,039 498
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 & H fthfEUK =R IE
pAA 11,462 16,559
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 Kk E{thfE I RIE
B (6,930) (16,571)
Cash generated from operations XGRS 9,351 10,088
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid B E 2RISR (49) (703)
Net cash generated from operating ZEXIEFRS
activities REFME 9,302 9,385

BEREEZERERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SeERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—E_MmE | 2=
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Ffd 5 FHET FHET
Investing activities REER
Interest received BEUFE 9 43 33
Purchase of property, BEYE BEKRKH
plant and equipment 18 (3,409) (3,914)
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME - BERKZEZ
plant and equipment FRiSFRIE 50 37
Proceed from disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRIMEBAT Z
PRISTRIR 3,990 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) EBEEHFRE (FRFA)
investing activities H&3EE 674 (3,844)
Financing activities MEFRS
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAR (3.272) (3,874)
Proceed from borrowings REBEZFMEHRE - 11,564
Repayment of borrowings BERE (6,023) (4,992)
Proceed from amount due to a director FEf—REBEFEHIEZ
FRGTRIE 8,450 -
Repayment of amount due to a director {EEE—REEHIE - (3,500)
Interest paid on amount due to B —REBERIEZ
a director [SENEIES) (197) =
Net cash used in financing activities RiEXFEFAARS FEE (1,042) (802)
Net increase in cash and HERREZEEIER
cash equivalents YR EE 8,934 4,739
Cash and cash equivalents at FMZRERFEEEHEE
the beginning of the year 9,876 5,768
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4IFEFE SR &8~ 57 £ (582) (631)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZ[ERFEEEEE
at the end of the year 25 18,228 9,876
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these MMz AZEEaMIZRRZ—2D

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Wanjia Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted Company with limited liabilities
in the Cayman Islands. The Company's immediate holding
company and ultimate holding company is Power King
Investment Development Limited, a company incorporated
in British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). The Company’'s shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The address of the registered office of the Company is Third
Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands. The head office and
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is
located at Suite 1801, 18/F, Tower 1 The Gateway, Harbour
City, 25 Canton Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding Company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in pharmaceutical wholesale and
distribution business, and hemodialysis treatment and
consultancy service business in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"). The activities of its principal subsidiaries
are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as functional
currency of the Company, and the functional currency of
the most of the subsidiaries are Renminbi (“RMB"). The
Board of Directors considered that it is more appropriate to
present the consolidated financial statements in HK$ as the
shares of the Company are listed on the Stock Exchange. The
consolidated financial statements are rounded to the nearest
thousands (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

— iR EH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SFealBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’'s annual periods beginning on 1 April 2023 for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Policies

Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.

132 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

ERAMIIEREMBRSEN
(TERAMHHESEN) RE
BT 4

REFEAFERZMTERMRE
BEEAREETE

REFEE FEEEMRRESHBR
REREATIHBHEBEEHAMLE (IF
AEHAAT) BHZHITEEME
BEEAKREETE ZEWMITEEY
BREZEMNRHEETASELERAR-E
“-ENMB—HRBZFEEHEEGIE
M

BEMBREER RREH

F175% (B
ZEZZF+AK
“EC"FE"AN
BERMBREER
BT (BET %))
EEGHERESR GotfhstZER
(CHEN]
EEGHERNENR AME-RBMEL
(CHES) BEEREHEZ
EIERIE
EAGHERNE 2R BERRBRE-FIX
(CHES) HRERA
ERGHERNE IR B HRZRE
CHENN
PHERSEUEHR
REBR

BRTXFRESN  REEERAMIE
AMBREENREEITEFTGHEE
EAFERAEFEENMBRTRKER

B/ SBGEMBREABZIRBEELSE
=2 D)

e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS") - continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

- continued

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that it
no longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences.

ERAMIIERMBERSEN
(TERAMHHREEN) RE
EsTa—18

REFEAFERZMTERMRE
BEEREETS &

ERAEEEHERNE 125 (18574) —F
ME—XBRELXEERARZIEBER
HzwE

REFE - ZEBEEREAZEET
Ko ZEEITERERBGTERFE 125
F15RABRHIEEREG B RIEERE
BEZHIRCBEWE FEFHEE
BREERERRELERFEIRRKLA
HRERERZRS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SFealBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS"”) — continued
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
- continued
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction - continued

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i)  the Group has applied the new accounting policy
retrospectively to leasing transactions that occurred on
or after 1 April 2022;

(i)  the Group also, as at 1 April 2022, recognised a
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and
a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary difference associated with right-of-use-

assets and lease liabilities.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial position and performance,
except that the Group discloses the related deferred tax
assets of approximately HK$4,639,000 and deferred tax
liabilities of approximately HK$4,639,000 on a gross basis
but it has no impact on the retained earnings at the earliest

period presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS") - continued

Amendment to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SFealBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set

out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Basic of preparation of consolidated financial
statements - continued

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2

Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the

asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which

are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R E MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

138

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Basic of preparation of consolidated financial
statements - continued

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices

included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Material accounting policy information

The material accounting policy information applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied

to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the group has control. The group controls an entity
where the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the group. They are deconsolidated from date

that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the group. Inter-company
transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary

to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the

group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Subsidiaries — continued

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet

respectively.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its

subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to

one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information

- continued

Basis of consolidation - continued

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in

existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests
according to the Group's and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interest
(if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii)
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of
the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The acquired processes are considered substantive if they
are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,
including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes
or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay

in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised

in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
“Conceptual Framework"”) except for transactions and
events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
Levies, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify
the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.

Contingent assets are not recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Business combinations - continued

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and

the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,

except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits

respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the

accounting policy below);

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are

measured in accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of

the lease when compared with market terms.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Business combinations - continued

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a

bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liguidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are

measured at their fair value.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

FEMBREREREEREKX
BEIHREN &

EXEHHEREN &

EBSH-&

BERFERZAE  EAFERER
RRBBABFREZE REBR
AIUERAEZHRBBARKREZATE
(InA) 2@ AW BAHAEE
REIAEEERIREERZFER
BHZEZHFE - WMEBTMGE T
BrAlEELMAERERKREBEH
ZFHEEREEINE  EHUFERE
R WE AR R G EUARKRER
AUERAEZHRBBARKREZATE
(AB) 24> RIEREIF R EERA
MR R E U BB Wt o

BREEAREZBERFAEARENRSSE
RRLE P D GEREN B AR R EEZIF
TR PP R IFIE R AR
WREARAHAFEEZERIEEAL
PIHB A FEFE-FERETREE
RpMEZE HthEEZIFERESTD
BREAFTEE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Business combinations - continued

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised

in profit or loss.

FEMBREREREEREX
BEHREN &

EXEHHEREN &

EBSH-&
HAEAEEREZEHIEBRZAEBEE
HARBEZH AHARBREN U
HRZATFESE L5t AREHSH
FREBZREZ MO -FEERSE
ENRFAZRZHARNEQIFEEHET
MR st ERRERAR AN G 2R
(FE BB 8 KE A BIEs —F) INE
ERRKBEMEFEEZEEREBRZ
BIINEHEEZRE-

AHEERGTEPRRABRZHAREZ
HEB G RIE BURRIARBURD
B-DHEARaNHARERAERES
BRASEMSE HREEN DR
ETAREBE NRABEXNER/ZH
ARERERBSAHEMAEELT
B MRS AR i R P T o

BEREEZERERAR
b 2023/24 §$E 145



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R E MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

146

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Business combinations - continued

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had

disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts

recognised at that date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (“CGUs")
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the
amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of
and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

FEMBREREREEREX
BEHREN &

EXEHHEREN &

[
WEEBREEZBERREEREH
FREETE 2 A 45 B AE ] R st R E RS (U0
) JiRe

RAENETS BEEIRNSEE
hIE RS BN A G PR & AR
cEEBO(REELEM) @R
EEBMER)  REANBEREANE
OB EAT I AFAR —BE

ENhkmEzREELEN (RNFEE
SEMUAER) ESFETRENS  H
REBRETZEMAEBERERE
REHMETRENS MmN ERSHAM
FAWEEENBEMS  BEoEBEN
REELEM (RRSEEEMAR)
BEMARMETRENS HREEE
Bz a o zE DR EEREE > B
EEREEADEERURDZEME
PEZEABEZREE BREZE
i (XRREELEHENUAG) SREEZIR
HEREAEESEEZBEUZEME
Eo

RHEHEMREEELEEUNREELE
AN ERN—BREEEEMUR
BERGEESRAEELENRS
EHREP EXEERERTELEN
(RREELEEMANAN—EBEREE
FEA) PH—BEHFR FIRENESE
EHENDREBEFMEENER (HRSEE
BU) RBRESELEN (RREELEN
A PRENBONBEHREESE

BEREEZERERAR
b 2023/24 §$E 147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R E MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

148

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when
the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal
group) and its sale is highly probable. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify
for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the

date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the
criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the
Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant

subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for financial
assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 which continue to be
measured in accordance with the accounting policies as set

out in respective sections.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the services, or for administrative purposes
(other than construction in progress as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Buildings in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management, including costs of testing
whether the related assets is functioning properly and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for

their intended use.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets

are ready for their intended use.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Property, plant and equipment - continued
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than construction in progress less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the assets.
Any gain or loss arising on disposal and retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the

extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to

which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs,
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent

allocation basis can be identified.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the

relevant CGU or group of CGUs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets — continued

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of

future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets — continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an

impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date/settlement date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or

convention in the market place.

FEMBREREREEREX
BEHREN &

EXGHBEREN-&

ME-BERRBEURCEHEEE
ZiRE—&

R EHRERERED BEE (RREEE
BEUNREELEMAR) REEEE
He el & Ea 2z EIET A5t E » BN
ZEREBEFTBABEEERE (XRE
ELXBEUNREEELEMAR) BHERS
BRTHITEFHEEZREE BO
BIRMERBIBER RS PR o

EWMIA

MBREEAMBEENNRERERERS
TEANBRXNETNSHERSE -FrE
EFRBEAHENMBEE  BRXS
ENAERERIKRRILBI -EREE
NIHEMBFEERFRRHSHENE
MEAE—RRAETEER NI
BEER

i}

o

\

BEREEZERERAR
b 2023/24 §$E 153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R E MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

154

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at

FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the financial assets

are presented as “other income”.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;

and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Financial instruments - continued
Financial assets — continued
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — continued
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.
A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of

short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as

a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — continued

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the

asset is no longer credit impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivable and deposits) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in

credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Financial instruments - continued
Financial assets — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk — continued

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet

its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.

160 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

FEMBREREREEREKX
BEEREN &

EXGHBEREN-&

EMIA-&
MBEE-&
HMEBEEERME—&
() FEERBRAEEM—&
e BHBAEEXELRERN
BHHREEEE;

e BHBANEE KEIKM
BREHRERNAFEHHES
AAMES JEEREH
ANBREENKRIEB TR

T LT EBAE RN R EE
Ay BEHNTREREBE308
BB RAUREERARER
ZREM RIEFERSBEGERA
SEFNERGER

FEBEHERAEHNEER
BB NBEMBIRENE R
i B EMEET ) R A R EEAE
MR ERTRIPMEREER
B ARG AN °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into

account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Financial instruments - continued
Financial assets — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued
(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets— continued

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the

borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SFealBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL — continued
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and other receivables and deposits where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised

borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and

an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SFealBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Financial instruments - continued
Financial liabilities and equity instruments — continued
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at

amortised cost using effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
borrowings and lease liabilities) are subsequently measured

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and,
where applicable, other costs that have been incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition, is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. Cost necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SFealBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Revenue from contracts with customers
Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance

obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of

the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as

the Group performs;

o the Group’'s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group

performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Revenue from contracts with customers

- continued

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is

due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to same

contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

170

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Revenue from contracts with customers

- continued

The wholesale and distribution of pharmaceutics and related
products

Revenue from the wholesale and distribution of
pharmaceutical and related products is recognised when
control of the products has transferred, being at the point
the products are delivered to the customer and the customer
has accepted the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either
the customer has accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for

acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value

added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the

passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Provision of hemodialysis treatment and consultancy services
Revenue from the provision of hemodialysis treatment and
consultancy services are recognised at a point in time when

the services are rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
retirement benefit plans are charged to profit or loss in the
year incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. The Group has no further payment

obligations once the contributions have been paid.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer
MPF contributions expected to be offset as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms
of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The
estimated amount of future benefit is determined after
deducting the negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that
have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be

contributions from the relevant employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SFealBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Employee benefits - continued
Termination benefits
A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises any

related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the

benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)

after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion

in the cost of an asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair

value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is

expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share

options reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

174

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and

deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from (loss)/profit before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Taxation - continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in

the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Taxation - continued

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related
assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset
related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is

included in the accounting for the business combination.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms

of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Foreign currencies - continued

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to

profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive

income.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those

assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other revenue”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Related parties - continued

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies: — continued

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are

also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close family members of an individual are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative standalone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of

the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated

non-lease components as a single lease component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Leases — continued

The Group as a lessee - continued

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of carpark and office that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another

systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms

and conditions of the lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Leases — continued
The Group as a lessee - continued
Right-of-use assets — continued
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the

shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line

item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and

included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Leases — continued

The Group as a lessee - continued

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.

The lease payments includes:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)

less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued
Material accounting policy information
- continued
Leases — continued
The Group as a lessee - continued
Lease liabilities — continued

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under

residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Leases — continued

The Group as a lessee - continued

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate

lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;

and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of

the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at

the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains one or more additional lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component. The associated non-
lease components are included in the respective lease

components.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

Material accounting policy information

- continued

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial information, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they

share a majority of these criteria.

Segment revenue, expenses, results and assets include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment, but
exclude exceptional items. Segment capital expenditure is
the total cost incurred during the year to acquire segment
assets (both tangible and intangible) that are expected to be
used for more than one year. Corporate portions of expenses
and assets mainly comprise corporate administrative
and financing expenses and corporate financial assets

respectively.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainties at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of use assets and goodwill
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation, if

any.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher

of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

192

(a)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of use assets and goodwill

- continued

The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU (or a group of CGUs) and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which results
in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss
or further impairment loss may arise. For impairment
assessment, the Group has to exercise judgment and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts. Furthermore,
the cash flows projections, growth rate and discount
rate are subject to greater uncertainties due to
uncertainly on how the volatility in financial markets

may progress and evolve.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

(a)

(b)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of use assets and goodwill

- continued

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
goodwill subjected to impairment assessment were of
approximately HK$22,295,000, HK$11,919,000 and
HK$24,495,000 (net of accumulated impairment loss
of approximately HK$881,691,000) respectively (2023:
HK$31,679,000, HK$15,807,000 and HK$49,093,000
(net of accumulated impairment loss of approximately
HK$863,773,000)). Details of the impairment testing of
non-financial assets including goodwill are disclosed in
Note 20.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
other financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets at amortised
cost are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Detail of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in Note 5(b).

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade and other receivables are set out in Note
5(b) and Note 23.
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5.

194

(a)

(b)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. EFTH
Categories of financial instruments (a) ERMTAER
2024 2023
S 111 - —=E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Financial assets MEEE
Amortised cost 8 55 BY 7K 48,364 57,948
Financial liabilities HEaE
Amortised cost R A 41,792 49,063
Financial risk management objectives and (b) MABEBEEBRREE
policies
XEENFTESHIEGEES

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, borrowings, amount due to
a director and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a

timely and effective manner.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 5. *MTA-&
(b) HERMEEEERBE—

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables and bank balances. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with

its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. Information about
the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit
risk exposures and the related impairment assessment,

if applicable, are summarised as below:

Bank balances

Bank balances are determined to have low credit risk.
The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks and the credit risk is

low. Thus, no loss allowance is recognised.
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5.

196

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables, the Group has applied the
general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at 12m ECL, since the directors of
the Company assessed that there has not been
any significant increase in credit risk since initial

recognition.

In determining the expected credit losses, the Group
determines the ECL on these items individually based
on past default experience of the counterparty and
reputation, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-

looking information.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 5. *MTA-&
(b) HERMEEEERBE—

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

Trade receivables

In respect of the trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics. The Group has performed
historical analysis and identified the key economic
variables impacting credit risk and expected credit
loss. It considers available reasonable and supportive

forwarding-looking information.

Majority of the Group's revenue is received from
individual customers in relation to wholesale and
distribution of pharmaceutical and related products
and provision of hemodialysis treatment and
consultancy services. The Group's trade receivables
arise from wholesale and distribution of pharmaceutical
and related products and provision of hemodialysis

treatment and consultancy services.
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5.

198

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

Trade receivables — continued

As at the end of the year, the top five debtors
accounted for approximately 67% (2023: 58%) of
the Group’s trade receivables balance. In view of the
history of business dealings with the debtors and
the sound collection history of the receivables due
from them, management believes that there is no
material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
receivable balance due from these debtors saved for
the debtor related to the impaired trade receivables

disclosed in the below.

Management makes periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the trade receivables based on
historical payment records, the length of overdue
period, the financial strength of the debtors and

whether there are any disputes with the debtors.

Provision matrix — debtors” ageing

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ ageing by two business segments
to assess the impairment for its customers in relation
to its: (1) wholesale and distribution of pharmaceutical
business and related products business and (2)
provision of hemodialysis treatment and consultancy
services business because these customers consist of
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed on a collective basis by using provision matrix
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) as at 31 March
2024 and 2023.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

Provision matrix — debtors” ageing — continued

1) Wholesale and distribution of pharmaceutical

business

5. ST A&
(b) HERAMTERERKE &

155 B B il (B 5T 1 — 4

FE 1 AE [E — e kTR AR b — AR
BREBIIMBERTHEE

1)

Gross
Average carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
THEEE HEREE ESiERE
% HK$°000 HK$°000
F#ET F#ET
At 31 March 2024 HRZEZME
=BA=+—H
Current (not past due) BNHA (R HA) 5.7 6,474 366
1 to 90 days past due BHA1E90X 34.1 687 234
91 to 180 days past due #HAI1E 180K 100 41 41
Over 180 days past due  HHAFBB180K 100 2,517 2,517
9,719 3,158
Gross
Average carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
THEER HWEREE BE1EEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT TET
At 31 March 2023 RTET=
=A=+—H
Current (not past due) BNER (R#AHA) 2.4 6,231 151
1 to 90 days past due BHA1EI0XR = = =
91 to 180 days past due #HA91E 180K 22.4 477 107
Over 180 days past due  ZEAEBE 180K 93.4 2,928 2,736
9,636 2,994
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment
- continued

Provision matrix — debtors” ageing — continued

5. SRMTA-4&
(b) HERAKETEAERKE &

S8 B B i B 5T 1d — 48

FE 1 RE [E — e kTR AR E — AR

2)  Provision of hemodialysis treatment and 2) IEMBIMRE N AR ER
consultancy services business HET
Gross
Average carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TIESEE HMERMEE <3 by
% HK$'000 HK$°000
F#ET F#ET
At 31 March 2024 A FZEF
=A=+—H
Current (not past due) BNEA (R#AHA) 6.2 19,603 1,224
1 to 90 days past due BHA1E90X 45.6 2,680 1,221
91 to 180 days past due #HEAI1E 180K 92.7 4,484 4,156
Over 180 days past due  HHAFBIB180K 98.3 1,421 1,397
28,188 7,998
Gross
Average carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
THEEIEX HERRMEE BiaRE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
At 31 March 2023 fTE=
=A=+—H
Current (not past due) BNHA (R HA) 6.0 25,466 1,520
1 to 90 days past due AHF1E0KR 7.0 10,063 709
91 to 180 days past due #HA91E 180K 35.8 2,452 879
Over 180 days past due  ZHFFEBB180K 87.7 4,837 4,242
42,818 7,350
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 5. EMIR-&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HRERIGEREEERBE &

policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE AR R BTk — &
- continued
Provision matrix — debtors’ ageing — continued P EAE [ — fEIN B AR b — 48
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on o 5t &5 48 2 Th & 52 FE UK 7R I8 T8 4B
historical observed default rates over the expected life AFERAFERRNBEEMEZELE
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking HEETH MRBEECHB
information that is available without undue cost % By 75 B 25 77 B ] JE 15 A9 A BE 1
or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by BrMEHAE LS HREERET
management to ensure relevant information about HAtE &Y > TR (R A B A E FE SRR IE /Y
specific debtors is updated. HERER BB
Trade receivables are written off when there is no BERWHRERSGEEA®RZERK
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that =] B i £ o & 12 TR R B A WR 1 R 35
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, BEE EHPERE) GHBAREER
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a EETIERETE

repayment plan with the Group.

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade B EWREBEZEREEHBEE
receivables are presented as net impairment losses EREEENANENARERRE
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of FEE o HBWEl z 5o rl B iH & &8
amounts previously written off are credited against the MRAERIEB AR

same line item.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group REE-_Z-_NONE=B=+—H
recognised loss allowance for expected credit loss LEFE REERBREEEME
on trade receivables of approximately HK$3,463,000 SEWRIEZFAREEGERED
(2023: Reversal of provision of loss allowance of BB 855 493,463,000 T (Z =
approximately HK$2,463,000), based on the provision “=F  EBOsENEEBEY
matrix. 2,463,000787T) °
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5.

202

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

Internal credit risk grading categories

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

5. SRMTA-4&
(b) HERAKETEAERKE &

S8 B B i B 5T 1d — 48

AR 15 B /a2 S AR 4 5!

FEBZAREERREFRTGE

BEUTER

Internal

credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets

AEETR R B % RWRE HittI1BEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and  Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired

B & B BFERZENRRERILEEM 2HFEBREERE- 12ERERESEESE
BREARTHE BiEEHE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired

AE BEHEANBERI BEBRERE 2HFEREEEE- 12EREREEESE
—RBHER BiEEHE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources

RER BABE RSN RRFSERTAE 2HPRMEEEE- 2BEBEERE-
MR REERBRAEEM BiEERHE BiEEHE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired

B8 FREEGERES 2HRBEERE- 2PRHEEHEE-

EERE EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is ~ Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

HsH FEEBRTEBARRBERH FRIE M 5 FRIE M 5

PR 28 e s 5 [ ff 2 2R PR MR (B RR IR AT e
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

5. *MITA-&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBRAKEEEERBE &
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE A RRE TS — 8
- continued
Maximum exposure and year-end staging R 5 A B R o K P ER
The tables below show the credit quality and the TRIITEREFTEBZEERE
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the (B JE & 7 8% 78 (1 K 8 Sb B 24s 3¢
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past KO ESZHMER > A
due information unless other information is available BEEERAHER) Z2EGEE
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging ERFIAZNESEERRE AR
classification as at 31 March 2024 and 2023. AR _NERZE=F=H
=t+—HZERMEEDE
12-month
ECLs
1288 Lifetime ECLs
BHEEER 2HRBEEER
Stage 2 Stage 3
Stage 1 Doubtful Loss
Low risk/ (non-credit (credit Simplified Allowance Average
watch list impaired) impaired) approach Total ECL loss rate
K& B3
Keex1 R 5 REHEE
BEkK/BE (BEEEE)  (EHEE itk L] GlREG  THEREE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 %
TER TFER FER TER FEn FER
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-ZME=A=+-A
Trade receivables BRENA - - - 37,907 37,907 11,156 294
Other receivables and deposits At UTEREE 5,264 - - - 5,264 1,879 35.7
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEEE 18,228 - - - 18,228 - -
3,49 - - 37,907 61,399 13,035
12-month
ECLs
1288 Lifetime ECLs
e 2HRHEERE
Stage 2 Stage 3
Stage 1 Doubtful Loss
Low risk/ (non-credit (credit Simplified Allowance Average
watch list impaired) impaired) approach Total ECL loss rate
2] K3
Kegx1 iR 5| BHEE
BEK/EFE (BREEHE) (EERfE) (o7 ELH] BREE THEEE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 %
TER TERT TAR THT Thw TER
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=%£=A=1+-H
Trade receivables BRENKA - - - 52,454 52,454 10,344 197
Other receivables and deposits HitERFIER RS 6,764 - = = 6,764 802 19
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRE&EEEE 9,876 - - - 9,876 - -
16,640 = = 52,454 69,004 11,146
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5.

204

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 5. EMITA-&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HERKEREEEREE &
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE RS ET L&
- continued
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables RIE_ONEKR_ZE_=F=H
and other financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 =t+—HRE#BHEREAEZES
March 2024 and 2023 reconcile to the opening loss FEWHRIEREMBEHEEENIR
allowances as follows: BB EB B HA Y RS 1R B B 2 B ER
wmr
Other
receivables
Other and deposits
Trade receivables (Lifetime ECL
receivables and deposits non-credit
(Lifetime ECL) (12-month ECL) impaired) Total
HihEKFIE  HtERRER
B 5 ERFRIE Rz & (24970
(RHATEHR (+=fERTEH =EHE-
=851 =8#5H) EEEREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FET FERT
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__&EWmA—H 13,829 192 6,104 20,125
Loss allowance reversed FERBEIMEERE T8
during the year, net (2,463) 674 (5,710) (7,499)
Exchange realignment ERAE (1,022) (64) (394) (1,480)
At 31 March 2023 RZIEZ=5=H=+—H 10,344 802 - 11,146
Loss allowance recognised FERHDHEERE FE
during the year, net 3,463 1,132 - 4,595
Write-off i Ge) (2,093) - - (2,093)
Exchange realignment ERAE (558) (55) - (613)
At 31 March 2024 RIZ2ZMNE=A=+—H 11,156 1,879 - 13,035
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains the level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flow. The management
manages liquidity risk by monitoring the utilisation of
borrowings, adequacy of reserves and banking facilities
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash

flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment

dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived based
on management’s best estimates at the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interest rate

curve, if available.

5. *MITA-&

(b)

MERMREEBRREE &

HENE & E R

AEERDESRBRNBERES
FEFEETHFEEEIRE
UBnTEEEERERERES
MERBTENRERFEEEEE
BKkF-EEBEERHETAR
WhZABRBREEERAKE
BRETR EMBEEERNERE
o EBRIBRITRENTERER

TREFLRIFEBEERIFR > &
EFTEMBEBHRIERS A E
B M e R AT ERAEB IR
NRFAMNUYBEERMERER
TRERBEERR-FHIZ  ME
REXEERMRORBITERSA
RERER FTRIRTETEET
EEER - HthIFtT EM B R A
R E U EE R B SRR

ZEFAREENERFEETRER
E-WMASRERFTBHANER A
AUERERNLHEREEENERS
HARBY R (E G ME BF R R
(tnA) "o
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5.
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policies — continued

Liquidity risk - continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 5.
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

TMITA-4&

(b) HBRABEEARRBE-E

REE & AR &

Weighted

average  On demand Total
effective or within Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount

M#EFY BRERH RERRE
L ES R—ER Ba—F MEHE RmfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TErn TErn TErn TEr

At 31 March 2024 RZB_MNE=B=+-H
Trade and other payables B A REMERTE - 17,617 - 17,617 17,617
Amount due to a director BN —REENE 5.75 8,648 - 8,648 8,450
Lease liabilities HESRE 6.4 3,101 14,994 18,095 13,909
Borrowings B8 11.8 1,996 - 1,996 1,691
31,362 14,994 46,356 41,667
Weighted

average On demand Total
effective or within Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount

MEFH RERS REREE
BRAE R—FR Ba—F Pkt fREfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEn TEx TEx

At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=1+—-H

Trade and other payables BRREMERTE - 23,897 - 23,897 23,897
Lease liabilities HE&R 6.3 3,583 20,180 23,763 17,716
Borrowings T 12.6 8,706 - 8,706 7,450
36,186 20,180 56,366 49,063
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Liquidity risk - continued

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amount of these borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB1,843,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,996,000). Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that
the banks and third-party financing companies will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The table below analyses the Group's
borrowings into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the end of reporting period to

the contractual maturity date.

5.

EMIA-&
(b) MBEEAREEEERBE—E

WENE &R
RERZHEA AP BFREK
BRERNEEESETE HRER
BE - R_ZE_ME=H=+—
B 25 B8N RMRAASEEY
A ANER¥1,843,0007T (FBERH
1,996,000/ 7T) © &8 & B A& E Y
BRI ARAESERARITR
BEZFMEATFRKAIREITHE
HEBE#EREBFER - TRIEE
HEBEREHAESHNINHAZET
AR AR R AR HAE
Bz EEETOC

Maturity Analysis - Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause

based on scheduled repayments

HHE A - AEERERERFARBHANERNEE

Over
1 year
Less than but less then Over  Undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 2 years cash flows amount
DME BBIFEEDRE B#2F RBRREHE IRMEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THER THER THET THET
31 March 2024 —E_mE=RA=+-H 201 1,373 422 1,996 1,691
31 March 2023 ZE=f=ZA=+-H 938 7,126 642 8,706 7,450

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at

the end of the reporting period.

W ZBHFRABS ZEBH AR K
SHREEZHMRMGAAR AL
X#BERMIFETEMBRREZH
FMERTAZEERAMEH-
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208

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates
primarily to variable-rate bank deposits (Note 25) and
borrowings (Note 29). It is the Group’s policy to keep
its bank deposits, and borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate

risk.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the Group’s
variable-rate borrowings at the end of the reporting
period. Floating-rate bank balances have not been
included in the sensitivity analysis as the management
considers that the interest rate would not fluctuate
significantly in the near future and therefore the
financial impact to the Group is not significant. For
variable-rate borrowings, the analysis is prepared
assuming the amounts outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis points increase or decrease in interest rate is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in

interest rates.

As at 31 March 2024, if the interest rates on the
borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax loss for the year would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$6,000 (2023: approximately
HK$28,000).

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(b) MBEEREEEERBE—E

) 22 B
rEBZREEsRAMNXEREER
RITEHFRER (M5E25) REE

(BE£29) BRE - AEBMBIBER S
LEBANRFAERTERREER
R, MERREMEELIFE
) R E R

TXHRESHHRBEAEBRR
BEMRCEREECHXREAR
EE-AREEBRANATRER
MERAGRIBRE, HtHAER
N BRERK, I HEKTZRR
THREMABRRED T WZER
BEMS, o MERJESHR
HARECEALFRECHRE -
FEELAXTEOEEKBAE
EEBEABRMERSH RERE
EANLER, AREEBEHAET
RERIEEHFTME-

RIZBEZME=BA=+—H, &
BRI EAH TFRESOMEERR
FiEHEMA8RREITTE, AlE
SERERZRRELEBIEHFIEM
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Currency risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's

functional currency.

The main operations of the Group were in the PRC and
most of the transactions were denominated in RMB.
Foreign exchange risk arises from the foreign currency
denominated of commercial transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group has no significant direct exposure
to foreign currencies as most of the commercial
transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
a currency as the functional currency of each entity of

the Group.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure

should the need arise.

EMIA-&
(b) MBEEAREEEERBE—E

B¥ERE
EXRBEXZACHIEER
BENLIFZBERENEERBZE
WIE RIEELEISNERR-

FEBTERFRHAEEXF BX
AR ZUARESE - 5ME E R
REUSNESHEZBHERZ BE
REE-ARABIBERZ B
ERBBZFAEEBHEEAERSR
BREZESEER  FitxEE
AR ERERINE R -

AEERFRITEEAARMIIMNER
ZEERERININEHHER-
FEBRBEZEVEREINERRE I
ENETERETREHPEAING
JELB
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(c) Fair value measurements
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

are determined as follows:

(i) The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid and ask prices

respectively.

(i)  The fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models (e.g.
discounted cash flows analysis using observable

and/or unobservable inputs).

The carrying amount of other financial assets and
liabilities carried at amortised cost, approximate their
respective fair values due to the relatively short-term

nature of these financial statements.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AT(EE
MBEERMBERNAFER
UFAAERE :

(i) MEREERRIFEGILRE
BHEEENMBEERY
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, including
lease liabilities, borrowings and amount due to a director
disclosed in notes 28, 29 and 30 respectively, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to the owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and

reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a
continuous basis taking into account the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through issue of new
shares and share buy-back as well as the issue of new debts
or debts restructuring, if necessary.

Bl E R

FEENEFEEEERFEERZE
REERECSE FARNEBEBLEEBR
B ARREREREHK - ~&EEH
ZEBERBEESFEREEH

FEEZEAEEOERS AP Es
DRI E2829KR30KBEZHES
B -EEREN—RESRMNE (HEFRE
REEEERBREABDEE AEGE
m)  MARBEAEANBEEDZOIEE R
TTRA R Mt o

EEERERNELARB LEEES
BMAEAKRAZBFETABMORAR - 04
2 AEE R BB TR R0 BRSO
URBTHEFARHEATHEER
BAREB

BEEEEZERBRAT 2N
202324 3R
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as

6. BXREMREERE—E

RBEERRNELEBERNT :

follows:

2024 2023
—EZME —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Debt (Note (a)) &% (H=x@a)) 24,050 25,166
Cash and cash equivalents HEKRAEEEEER (18,228) (9,876)
Net debt B 558 5,822 15,290
Equity (Note (b)) e (MizEb)) 73,488 118,197
Gearing ratio BEEARALLER 0.08 0.13

Notes:

(a) Debts represented borrowings, amount due to a director
and lease liabilities, as detailed in notes 29, 30 and 28

respectively.

(b)  Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to owners

of the Company.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. SEENR

Information reported internally to the chief operating MEESERRE (EEEERESE))
decision maker (“CODM") for the purpose of resource ANBERUEFE RS KRTFZDER
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses HZzEMN BEERFARNRIREEZE
on types of goods or services delivered or provided. mERFRE AEEMABAMESE
The Group organised into two operating divisions: (a) 748 BN R 2 (a) 2 an it 85 K o3 #H
pharmaceutical wholesale and distribution business, and (b) 7 Kb MBS AR KRABARSE %
hemodialysis treatment and consultancy service business in BoRENHENAERZERESEER
the PRC. These divisions are the basis on which the Group ZERo

reports its segment information.

Segment revenue and results DEWERES
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and UTFDREERFTREDER A EEY
results by the operating and reportable segment. mRFEERN DM

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_T_NF=-A=+—HLEE

Pharmaceutical
wholesale and

Hemodialysis
treatment and
consultancy

distribution service
business business Consolidated
&R
Btk ARk
DEHER [EE S =8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT FER FERT
Segment revenue from external REMPEEZ RN
customers m 51,536 129,556 181,092
Segment results DHEER (1,352) (29,538) (30,890)
Unallocated corporate income and ROz B2 IRA K
expenses, net SR (8,548)
Loss from operations EEXHEE (39,438)
Finance costs % &R (1,711)
Loss before taxation PRIRAIES 18 (41,149)

BEREEZERERAR
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7. pEEN-&
Segment revenue and results — continued PEWEmRES—E
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEE-_=F=-HA=1+—HILEE
Hemodialysis
Pharmaceutical treatment and
wholesale and consultancy
distribution service
business business Consolidated
&S
2o EKR AE RS
DIHER IRFSEH =&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT
Segment revenue from external REMBEE 2 DHEIK
customers m 52,278 121,424 173,702
Segment results DEER (1,130) 15,450 14,320

Unallocated corporate income and ROz ¥ IRA K

expenses, net SR (9,847)
Profit from operations EIEER A 4,473
Finance costs B%ER (2,018)
Profit before taxation MR AR F 2,455
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue IXBRENDERATDREINIE S
generated from external customers. There were no inter- Wes o i E S E X Ry SRR EH o

segment sales in both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating AREAKCESENGTREHRALE
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. ENgstBRER - 2 BREREZSSE
Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment Fr BN A H > R EE DR PRITERE
without allocation of central administration costs, finance B -MHBERARETHEMKA o L5753
costs and certain other income. This is the measure reported EFEFEEERAREUREERRER
to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and RIFFFERI G & ©

performance assessment.

214 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Segment assets and liabilities
For the year ended 31 March 2024

7. DEEH-E
NEEEREE
BE_S-_ME=A=+—HiIEE

Hemodialysis
Pharmaceutical treatment and
wholesale and consultancy
distribution service
business business Consolidated
mikER
Btk AEREN
PEER BR#% % =8
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FER FER
Consolidated statement of IZEMBRAER
financial position
Assets BE
Segment assets NEEE 19,532 95,083 114,615
Unallocated corporate assets RNEZEREE 2,486
Consolidated total assets HEEERE 117,101
Liabilities =N
Segment liabilities DEARE 7,522 22,365 29,887
Unallocated corporate liabilities E NP AT =N 12,019
Consolidated total liabilities HREBaREER 41,906

BEREEZERERAR
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

Segment assets and liabilities — continued
For the year ended 31 March 2023

7. pEER-&
NHEERAGRE-&
HE—=E_=F£=H=+—HIEEE

Hemodialysis

Pharmaceutical treatment and

216

wholesale and

consultancy

distribution service
business business Consolidated
&S
EOMER AEREH
DTS BRFE %75 Ra
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFAT FET TET
Consolidated statement of (& MEIRAR
financial position
Assets B5E
Segment assets DEEE 21,050 147,998 169,048
Unallocated corporate assets RO ZBEEE 4,400
Consolidated total assets EBEEME 173,448
Liabilities =R
Segment liabilities DEAaR 7,309 41,196 48,505
Unallocated corporate liabilities KO zEXEE 4,716
Consolidated total liabilities FEBEMREE 53,221
Geographical information HMEER

The Group operates in two principal areas—pharmaceutical
wholesale and distribution business, and hemodialysis

treatment and consultancy service business in the PRC and

administrative activities operate in Hong Kong.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued
Geographical information - continued

The Group's revenue is solely generated from external

customers in the PRC.

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-
current assets analysed by the geographical area in which

the assets are located:

pEEH-&

HhEEH &
AEEZKHE2BREARPE LI BE
ﬁ o

UTHRBEEMBEMED T ZIERIE
EZREEDF:

2024 2023
—E_mE | 2=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Hong Kong &5 3,311 2,842
Mainland China R ] P 3t 55,398 93,737
58,709 96,579
Information about major customers EREEERZEH

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

contributing over 10% of the Group’s total revenue are as

REREEGAAERBERDBB10%Z
ERWEMT

follow:
2024 2023
—E@Eg | —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHTT
Customer A* BERA* N/A RiEF 18,553
& Revenue from segment of pharmaceutical wholesale and * REEmit S RO HER DB o

distribution business.

There is no single customer contributing over 10% of total
sales of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

RBEE_S_NE=B=+—HLEE
WEE—FEFEMAERE10%U EB9H
E4a%E o

= e
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7.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued
Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2024

7. DEEH-E&

Hith Dy HEEH
BE_T_NF=-A=+—HLEE

Hemodialysis
Pharmaceutical treatment and
wholesale and consultancy
distribution service
business business Unallocated Consolidated
& ER
BRltER AEREH
DIHER PR EH XAE Foae]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERT TAR TERT TART
Capital expenditure (Note) BEXRREY (M) 967 3,059 - 4,026
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ ¥1%¥ - BERRZENE
equipment 212 7,363 58 7,633
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 585 1,267 928 2,780
Provision of allowance for expected ~— BHREMERZRIEZ
credit losses on trade and other BHREEHEEERE
receivables, net P 1,476 3,119 - 4,595
Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 20) 2R {ERE (H=20) - 22,310 - 22,310
Finance costs HHER 63 1,314 334 1,711

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Pharmaceutical
wholesale and

BE_ S _-—F#=HB=+—HL=ZEE

Hemodialysis
treatment and
consultancy

distribution service
business business Unallocated Consolidated
m&E
ERftERK BB KL
DIHER e KR o]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TER TET
Capital expenditure (Note) BREY () 1,176 4,115 2,822 8,113
Depreciation of property, plantand 1% BERREITE
equipment 283 8,321 399 9,003
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREESERE 436 1,476 1,008 2,920
(Reversal of)/allowance for expected B 5 REMEKFIE
credit losses on trade and other ZHEBEESER
receivables, net (B[m) /5t 35 1,995 (9,508) 14 (7,499)
Finance costs MBER 37 1,962 19 2,018

Note:

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets during both years.
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S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

Other segment information - continued
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than unallocated corporate assets. Unallocated
corporate assets mainly include office equipment,
certain right-of-use asset and cash and cash equivalent
of the central administration companies and certain
deposits and other receivables. Goodwill is allocated to

reportable segments as described in Note 20.

o all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than, amount due to directors, certain lease liabilities
and certain other payables and accrual expenses of

certain administrative costs.

DEEN &
HihyEEH -8
REZHERRRAEH EHERMD

jil[[3

BRARDRZEEEEIN FRBEEE
HREEARSENE ROk
REETEQRPREEQRTZ
MommE ETERAREEURER
ERASEERERETRER
HthEWRE DEEEAHREDEE
Z BB R M 204 -

e MKRENEERE-ETHEERK
ETHMEMRERETITHRE
Bz Bt FREREE N E
EREDE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

220

REVENUE 8. W=
An analysis of the Group'’s revenue for the year is as follows: FR REEKRZOHANT ¢
2024 2023
—E_MNFE | ZBT=HF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET THET
Revenue from contracts with customers RE— IR R & A
recognised at a point in time: =r 0l G
Wholesale and distribution of 2 o R B R E it 38 R 2 8
pharmaceutical and related products 51,536 52,278
Provision of hemodialysis treatment and RS MR EN G R KR EART
consultancy services 129,556 121,424
181,092 173,702
All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted FRrEREENIREAE—FHUT K
by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price ERAMBREENFISHNATHERTS

allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

9. OTHER REVENUE 9. Hithiz
2024 2023
—E@E —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FAET
Interest income FMEWA 43 33
Government subsidies (Note) BUF#6Bh (fFsE) - 120
43 153

Note: B 5E -

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group successfully
applied for funding support from the Employment Support Scheme
set up by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, the purpose of which is to provide financial support to
enterprises and to retain their employees who would otherwise
be made redundant. Under the terms of the Employment Support
Scheme, the Group is required not to make redundancies during the

RBE_Z_=ZF=H=+—HLEFE &
EERFBEHNERFNTREBRNRIIZ
MRELEI SR & ZEMENEREER
M FE UFREAETRENNES 1R
B IRELE ) SRR AEBEFB BT
BB URMEENREARZMEEH
T MBE_FT_NF=R=+—HILEFE"

subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to its BRI EEAE SRR
employees. During the year ended 31 March 2024, no such funding
support was received.
10. OTHER LOSS, NET 10. HAhE5HE - F 88
2024 2023
—E-mE | CB-=f
HK$000 HK$’000
FHT TET
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -BERSZEZEIR
plant and equipment 5,030 733
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNBABEZ W (3.009) =
Gain on early termination of lease AR IERE 2 & (252) =
1,769 733

BEREEZERERAR
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4R E MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

11. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The Group's (loss)/profit for the year has been arrived at after

1. BEE (58) =5
R AEEZ () /BRI TN

charging: TIEB®BER
2024 2023
—E_MFE | ZTT=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Directors’ emoluments EEME 2,601 2,287
Other staff costs (excluding directors HtMET &R

(Note 13)): (FEFEESE (M:E13)):

Salaries and allowances & RERY 17,469 16,616

Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRI F] 5t 2 & 1,380 1,313

Share-based payment (Note 36) MR AERZ 7k (i5E36) 1,031 5
Total staff costs ETEREER 22,481 20,221
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BRE R EBITE (MiE18)

equipment (Note 18) 7,633 9,003
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE (M:E19)

(Note 19) 2,780 2,920
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEMEN <&

— audit services — B 2R 725 736
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses RARZZ2HFENE 121,387 114,860
Expenses relating to short-term leases SIS ERR 2 X (MEE19)

(Note 19) 424 383

222 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

12. FINANCE COSTS 12. BB ERB

2024 2023
S 111 - —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FET
Interest on: LTEHZAE :

— Borrowings —fEE 585 893
— Lease liabilities —fHEAaE 929 1,125
— Amount due to a director — B —%EEHIE 197 =
1,711 2,018

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 13. ERHM

REBELHRUREELBFRG > HEK
FEBZZEARNNKREMEAZIMFTE
NEEFEZHMBEROT ¢

Pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, the aggregate amounts of emoluments paid by
the companies now comprising the Group to the directors of

the Company during the reporting period are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FET

Fees & 600 572
Other emoluments: HE :

— Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind — e RAEREYA G 1,840 1,697

— Retirement scheme contributions — B IRETEIERR 18 18

— Share-based payment — UMD AERZ AR 143 =

Total st 2,601 2,287

BEEEEZERBRAT 223
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

13. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS - continued

224

Details for the emoluments of each director of the Company

during the reporting period are as follows:

13. EEHHMN—48
AATREENBE I FH BN
L

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme Share-based
Fees in kind contribution payment Total
e RMR DU v .
ik BWAE  BKHEIER i Eoh
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHER TER TER THER
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE-E-ME
ZB=+—-HLEE
Executive director: HITEE.
Mr. Wang Jia Jun FHBEAE - 1,840 18 128 1,986
Non-executive director: HHTEE .
Dr. Xiao Zhixin AREBLE 150 - - - 150
Independent non-executive directors: BLHRTEE:
Mr. Wong Hon Kit BEMREE 150 - - 5 155
Dr. Liu Yongping ABTHL 150 - - 5 155
Mr. Ho Man (Note (a)) L E (M) 150 - - 5 155
600 1,840 18 143 2,601
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme Share-based
Fees in kind contribution Payment Total
‘ Fe RER URHBERY ‘
e BURE  BRAREEER OEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THER TER THET THER
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-E-Z=E
ZB=+-RALEE
Executive director: HiTEE .
Mr. Wang Jia Jun FEBEE = 1,697 18 = 1,715
Non-executive director: FHTEE .
Dr. Xiao Zhixin ABERE 143 - - - 143
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTEE
Mr. Wong Hon Kit BERRE 143 - - - 143
Dr. Liu Yongping 2BTEL 143 - - - 143
Mr. Ho Man gL 143 - - - 143
572 1,697 18 - 2,287
Note: Mz -

Mr. Ho Man resigned as the independent non-executive director of

the Company on 30 April 2024.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS - continued
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, none of
the directors and chief executive officer of the Company

waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments have been paid to the directors and chief
executive officer of the Company as an inducement to join

or upon joining the Group or as compensation.

No bonus was paid or receivable by directors or five highest
paid employee after considering the Group’s operational
and financial performance during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

13.

ESHN -4

BE_T_MNMER_ZFT_Z=ZFZ=HA
=St—RLEEE BRAARNEERE
ZTHABNRRARREEDHE -

BE_Z_NER-_ZE"Z=F=H
=+—HLEEE ARAFLEBRAF
BEERFTETHAEIMHN UEA
W5 NBAAEE MK A N BR B A 4R B >
EAHE -

R kFAEEAEE_T_NFER_-T
Z=F=B=1+—HLEEZEERY
BRAB EEd 14 ReHEEME
Z AT AEUTEAL ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 14. RABREHES

The five highest paid individuals during the year included
one (2023: one) directors and the details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 13 above. The details of
the emoluments of the remaining four (2023: four) highest
paid individuals who are neither director nor chief executive

officer of the Company are as follows:

EFRNEILERSHEERE % (ZF
TEEI R ER HMeHFBEHEN L
XHsE13 B TEE (CEZ=F:1H4%)
REiES (HELIFAATESRNIE
FETBAER) ZMeHBOT !

2024 2023

—E-mE —E_=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Salaries and other emoluments e REMBE 2,016 2,112
Retirement scheme contributions RORETEIHRR 53 52
2,069 2,164

The number of the highest paid employees who are not

WIBEABERMEFM T FLUTE

directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the BzRaiHEEZAZENT :
following band is as follows:
2024 2023
—T_WmE ==
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000 75 4 4

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to senior management
or any of the five highest paid employees as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

loss of office.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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15. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

15. FRiG#E (I8 %) FX

2024 2023
—EIWME | C2T=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAT FHET

PRC Enterprise Income Tax: FE PSR -
— Current tax - EMHARR IR - 517
— Over-provision in prior years - BEFEBIERE (854) =
(854) 517

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operated.

Provision on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations
and practices in respect thereof.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, starting
from 1 January 2008, 10% withholding income tax will
be imposed on dividend relating to profits earned by the
companies established in the PRC in the calendar year
2008 onward to their foreign shareholders. For investors
incorporated in Hong Kong which hold at least 25% of
equity interest of those PRC companies, a preferential rate of
5% will be applied. The Group has applied the preferential
rate of 5% as the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are directly
held by an investment holding company incorporated in
Hong Kong. No deferred tax has been provided for in respect
of the temporary differences attributable to such profits as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT") provision is made on the
estimated assessable profits of entities within the Group
incorporated in the PRC and is calculated in accordance
with the relevant regulations of the PRC after considering
the available tax benefits from refunds and allowances. The
general PRC CIT rate is 25% during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023 except for those as discussed below:

FEEAMSEENE QB REREE
FREBl ZEEFTEE B Z EmH > #
HEEEHMPAAIEH -

Hitth & 2 FERIREF B HE IR A ERE
BRIEERZBITRE - REAFEAL
A RBREMHE

REFETEMBREZ BZTENE
—A—HE REEPERINAEE
TR \EEFERNNEN T HIE
SMRRBIR B HUI0% N FAENFAAFIR -
HREEEAMRIEFEZSTEAR
B EL25%RENKEE  REHS%H
BERX -ARFEEEFEONEBL
A —EEEBEMKILKREER
AEEEFA BEEEES%HNEER
RYMKRIE - BN A EEH BE 7 HI 8B
O E R EENRRE BEAKRAERATR
i 2R 55 [0 B Ry 2= B SR SR L A% S s A
iz EREZRFHIRERERERE

hEEEMRESR (TEEMRESR) EE

ThEst RAIUERNERR KR FR I
BER R4 5 B E ML
EEEE’HE?WEE%%%IE%M’HHI?&E”EPI
HRREAE -BE_T_HNFER_
—ZH=ZR=+-— EIJLEE’—ﬁzEPI
EEMBMMER25% BT XFAH
HRRSH -
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15.

228

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

- continued

The Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) and State Administration
of Taxation (“SAT”) on 17 January 2019 jointly issued Cai
Shui 2019 No. 13. This clarified that from 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2021, eligible small enterprises whose
RMB1,000,000 of annual taxable income is eligible for a
75% reduction on a rate of 20% (i.e., effective rate is 5%)
and the income between RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000
is eligible for 50% reduction on a rate of 20% (i.e. effective
rate is 10%). On 14 March 2022, MOF and SAT further
jointly issued Cai Shui 2022 No. 13, which clarified that
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024, eligible small
enterprises whose income between RMB1,000,000 and
RMB3,000,000 is eligible for 75% reduction on a rate of
20% (i.e. effective rate is 5%).

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity
is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated

assessable profits above HK$2 million.

No provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax, Cayman Islands
and BVI Income Tax has been made, as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits in these jurisdictions during
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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15. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 15. FRiSM (BE%R) X —

- continued
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to loss FHEAATIREWBASFRERMEEZ %
before taxation using the statutory rate for the location in EMREAEERANRBRAIGEZER
which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the HYERERREAEZRERS 2%
tax expenses at the effective tax rate are as follows: BRANE ©
2024 2023
—E_MFE | ZTT=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TET
(Loss)/profit before taxation bR AT (B518) & F (41,149) 2,455
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before tax, RREMEBREIEEREZ
calculated at the rates applicable to AR AR E S ERR A
profits in the tax jurisdiction concerned (F518) ERNLRIRIE (9,533) 1,451
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBMANREZE
tax purpose (1,702) (3,895)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ RAJH1R B X RITR 75 B2 £
tax purposes 9,279 5,126
Tax effect of withholding tax on dividend ZEDIRNTEINRNR B E
distribution - 652
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIENMIEEENRETE 1,999 1
Effect of the preferential income tax rates HARBANBEEEFRFEREMN
for domestic entities e (43) (2,818)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBREE (854) =
Taxation I8 (854) 517

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$13,034,000 (2023:
HK$9,163,000) available for offset against future profits
and amount of approximately HK$13,034,000 will be
fully expired in 2028 (2023: amount of approximately
HK$9,163,000 will be fully expired in 2027). No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the HK$13,034,000
(2023: HK$9,163,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. At the end of the reporting period, the
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of a subsidiary for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised was approximately
HK$1,465,000 (2023: approximately HK$3,186,000). No
deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect of these
differences because the Group is in a position to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

RIREHIR > ANEE4913,034,0008 7T
(ZEZ=4:9,163,000%7T) Z2X3h
BAREEETAERERREN XY
13,034 ooo;%nﬁé}ﬁ\_ E-)N\E2zmE
H(ZE =% 49,163,0008 T 1
“ZETtFE2EEE) c Rk EA
KRB A AR > B #EFE 13,034,000 7T
(ZEZ=4:9,163,000% 7T) MR
ERMBEEE - RBSHR > BREKBA
BEARDEEAMABDBNIELERBEEE
MR ERE4EREL A 1,465,0008 T (=
T =4 :#3,186,000# T) °c B2
S BB A B B O B R = RE RIS
MARRGREEN T B R a6~ g 5%
B I ERZE EERRRIERIES

go
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16. DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the

17.

230

payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024
(2023: Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per

share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

(a)

(b)

Basic

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share
are based on (loss)/earnings per share attributable to
the owners of the Company and the weighted average
number ordinary shares in issue during the year as

16.

17.

Bz 2
ARABREFETRBRNBE_ST_NF
ZA=Z+—HLEFENEARE (ZF

=@ o

gk (58 &27
AAREEABESREERBE (5
1) /BRI TR TR

(a) B
ER> SRER (B8 BFITHIR
BARRABHE AELER (BER)
B RMEFEHBETEZERY
Bst&E #BOTF

follows:
(Loss)/earnings (518) &BF
2024 2023
—ENEF ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to ZxA T HEE AEIEREE
owners of the Company (B518) i #! (39,977) 1,820
Number of shares 30k =]
2024 2023
“EME —E-=
Weighted average number of ordinary MM#EFHERTZEREKE
shares in issue 560,222,136 560,222,136
Diluted (b) #§

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share does
not include the Company’s outstanding share options
because the effect were anti-dilutive. Therefore, the
diluted (loss)/earnings per share of the Company is the
same as the basic (loss)/earnings per share.
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

18. V¥ -BEREHE

Leasehold Office Medicine Motor Construction
improvement equipment equipment vehicle in progress Total
HENERE MAZRME BRERE AE TEIR Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TET TET TAR TAT
Cost 723
At 1 April 2022 RZE--FMA—H 24,241 14,582 30,016 228 5,704 74,771
Additions RE = 970 1,605 1,674 - 4309
Disposal HE - (1,865) - - - (1,865)
Transfer = 440 - - - (440) =
Exchange realignment ERAEZ (910) (651) (592) (24) (421) (2,598)
Reclassified as held for sale ENABARMELE (1,467) (1,062) (6,329) - - (8,858)
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=%=HA=1+-H 22,304 11,974 24,760 1878 4,843 65,759
Additions RE 963 812 1,626 8 - 3,409
Disposal HE (8,923) (1,446) (75) - - (10,444)
Transfer =4 4,648 = = = (4,648) =
Exchange realignment ERAE (689) (420) (459) (33) (195) (1,796)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ZME=A=1+—H 18,303 10,920 25,852 1,853 - 56,928
Accumulated depreciation 2iHirE
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZEME—H 9,280 8,875 18,203 33 - 36,391
Provided for the year FENEEE 3,884 1,135 3,872 112 - 9,003
Eliminated on disposals TR E R - (1,095) - - - (1,095)
Exchange realignment ERHE (706) (642) (1,089) ®) - (2,445)
Reclassified as held for sale ENNBARELE (726) (719) (6,329) = = (7,774)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=(=F=1+—H 11,732 71,554 14,657 137 - 34,080
Provided for the year FENEEE 2397 2,285 2,582 369 - 7,633
Eliminated on disposals REERHE (3,938) (1,339) 87) = = (5,364)
Exchange realignment ERHEE (589) (365) (742) (20) - (1,716)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=F=1+—H 9,602 8,135 16,410 486 - 34,633
Carrying values IREf[E
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=B=+—-H 8,701 2,785 9,442 1,367 - 22,295
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=E=A=1+—-H 10,572 4,420 10,103 1,741 4,843 31,679
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19:

232

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. ERHEEE
Leased
Properties
HEME
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2022 R-_E__FMWHA—H 18,781
Additions NE 3,804
Depreciation charged for the year FRINFRITE (2,920)
Exchange realignment PE 2 S (1,119)
Reclassified as held for sale BENMNBEARELE (2,829)
At 31 March 2023 R ZE_=F=H=+—H 15,807
Additions NE 617
Depreciation charged for the year FRNFRITE (2,780)
Exchange realignment BE 52 3R X (656)
Written-off due to early termination of lease 12 Al 4R 1 7R & T B S (1,069)
At 31 March 2024 A ZE_NE=RA=+—H 11,919
2024 2023
o 111 3 —EZ=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHAT TET
Expenses relating to short-term leases B HAEE Bz 424 383
Total cash outflow for leases MEZRERLEEE 3,696 4,257
Note: B5E :

The right-of-use assets represent the Group's right-to-use underlying
leased land and premises under operating lease arrangements
over the lease terms, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liabilities. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purpose.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS - continued

Note:— continued

For both years, the Group leases various properties for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed terms
of 1 to 20 years (2023: 1 to 20 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed
above.

19. FRKEE-&

MizE : — 48

RMBEEE ~&EEBAHEEHERZE
ME-FRE] U EESHFHBEE&A1E20
F(Z2T=F 1 1520%5F) - FAHARAER
BEEERBSIAEGERKIERH -BE
HA R TR AT B AR RAE R > 78
EEERSMNES L EE I RE
TTEHBIHARR

SEEEHEITIEIEENEHES
ER-RE_MER_T_=F=H
=t+—H iEHAEEASHE EREEN
CHATH BT ERNIEHREEH S
Lo

GOODWILL 20. BE&
2024 2023
“EINE | ZBI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHET
Cost (5%
At 1 April REA—H 912,866 923,091
Exchange realignment BE 52 3R 2 (6,680) (10,225)
At 31 March W=B=+—H 906,186 912,866
Accumulated impairment losses RetREREE
At 1 April REBE—H 863,773 870,067
Impairment loss recognised during the year 4 X B2 R E S 22,310 =
Exchange realignment PE 52 A E (4,392) (6,294)
At 31 March W=B=+—H 881,691 863,773
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 March R=A=+—H 24,495 49,093

BEREEZERERAR
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20.

234

GOODWILL - continued
Impairment test for CGUs containing goodwill

The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and
in the financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or
more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might

be impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying value of
the goodwill has been allocated to the CGU which operate
in the provision of hemodialysis treatment and consultancy
services in the PRC by Mingxi County Trading Company
Limited.

In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (including allocation of corporate
assets) that generate cash flows together with the related
goodwill are also included in the CGU for the purpose of

impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation, which is determined by
the directors with reference to the professional valuation
performed by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited,
an independent firm of professional qualified valuers. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a 5-year period
(2023: 5-year), and the pre-tax discount rate of 11.0%
(2023: 11.6%). The cash flows of this CGU beyond the
5-year period (2023: 5-year) are extrapolated using a zero
terminal growth rate (2023: zero%). This growth rate is
based on a very prudent forecast and does not exceed the

average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include average gross margin of 36.7% (2023: 39.0%) and
the average net profit margin of 4.1% (2023: 6.7%), such
estimation is based on the CGU’'s past performance and

management’s expectations for the market development.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

20. GOODWILL - continued

Impairment test for CGUs containing goodwill

- continued

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the assessment
results in the carrying amount of the CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, and impairment loss of goodwill
of approximately HK$22,310,000 (2023: HK$Nil) was

recognised.

If the pre-tax discount rate was changed to 12.0% (2023:
12.6%), while other parameters remain constant, the excess
in carrying amount of the CGU over its recoverable amount
would be increased by approximately HK$3,638,000 (2023:
headroom of the recoverable amount of the CGU over
the carrying amount would be reduced by approximately
HK$2,125,000).

20. HE-&

AEEEZREELENUZRENR
o —&

RBEE_T_MONFE=B=+—HIE
B rREEL£BEMUREENTHERE
HERWRESRETER S RERELY
22,310,000 T (ZEZ=F : THBT) °

MRARIREERA12.0% (Z2Z=
F1126%)  MEMBHEFRFRE Q)
ReEEBUNREEBHET KES
FEHYEB O A 1 IN493,638,0008 7T (Z &
TEF REELBEMNTIKESEEHR
IREE 2 BV EREER R /L 492,125,000
7T) °
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21.

236

DEFERRED TAX

21. IRFEMRIA

2024
—E_ME
HK$'000
FET

2023
—EC-=HF
HK$'000
FHET

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

RIEREBRE

The following are the deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

recognised and movements thereon during the current and

FEERBTFFEZERDELERESR
E/(af) ARHEEZHNT :

prior years:
Right-of-use Lease
assets liabilities Total
EREEE HEaE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
At 1 April 2022 (audited) RIE-_—_F£MA—H
(KE1%) - - -
Adjustment (Note 2) FEE (MfsE2) (4,639) 4,639 =
At 1 April 2022 (restated) AT "FMA—H
(= 5) (4,639) 4,639 =
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss st A (O EB) 8% 586 (586) =
Exchange realignment bE 2 s B 331 (331) =
At 31 March 2023 (restated) RZE_Z=
=RB=+—H (&E75) (3.722) 3,722 -
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss &t A, (O EH) 8% 729 (729) -
Exchange realignment bE 52 5 2 164 (164) -
At 31 March 2024 MW-E-HmE
=B=+—H (2,829) 2,829 -

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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23.

INVENTORIES 22. 78
Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial Rizs

position comprise:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

MBRRRZEFERRE

2024 2023
—E-mE | 2=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#x TET
Finished goods SRY o 7,982 12,631
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. B RHEMBEYRIE
2024 2023
—EINE | ZF-=
HK$000 HK$'000
FHAT FET
Trade receivables &5 R EIE 37,907 52,454
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses & : BREWRHIEZ
on trade receivables TEERE B E (11,156) (10,344)
26,751 42,110
Prepayments FE{IFRIE 2,046 2,587
Other receivables and deposits HthEWEIE kg & 5,264 6,764
7,310 9,351
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses 8 : HfthEWHRIBZ FEHAEE
on other receivables SR 1E (1,879) (802)
5,431 8,549
32,182 50,659

BEREEZERERAR
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. BB R HEMEUWRRIE— &

- continued

Payment terms with customers from the pharmaceutical A 2 i #it 3% e o3 85 2R 75 MU R IR EE A A
wholesale and distribution business, and hemodialysis B RBHREERE PR HAARIER
treatment and consultancy service business are mainly on UEEAET BE—RADNNEEZE
credit. Invoices are normally payable from 30 to 90 days HBHE30E90H (ZE =% : 30&
(2023: 30 to 90 days) for pharmaceutical wholesale and 90H) (EEmALE KD IHETR) K5E365H
distribution business and 5 to 365 days (2023: 5 to 365 —E =% !5F365H) (IKREA
days) for hemodialysis treatment and consultancy service BRGEHARTEER) AR R EERH
business respectively of issuance of invoices. The ageing B & 5 FEWRIEARZERVARES D ATAA T -

analysis of the gross amount of trade receivables based on

the invoices date is as follows:

2024 2023

—TWEF —E=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHExT

Within 90 days 90H AN 25,154 34,050
91 to 180 days 91&180H 4,289 8,186
181 to 365 days 181&365H 4,526 2,740
Over 365 days #BiE365H 3,938 7,478
37,907 52,454

Details impairment assessment of trade and other receivables B 5 K H i FE U IE K 32 & R B T (4 5%

and deposits are set out in Note 5(b). 15 & HEEE5(b) o
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24. FEMEAT
REF=ME=H=E—HESATZ
IEMBATZHBNOT

24. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

March 2024 are as follows:

Place and date of

Incorporation/ Issued and fully paid Percentage of equity, effective
registration ordinary share/ interest and voting power held
Name of subsidiaries and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
#lil Rk EETRAREER/ o
WEARSHE EEMERAM &S FATRAZRE RREZRRRE LA TEER
Direct Indirect
i}
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEIME | Z3ICE | ZBCmE ([ Z32=
% % % %
Putian Huihao Medicine Company Limited ** The PRC/ Registered capital - - 9 99.0 Pharmaceutical wholesale and
11 July 2008 RMB10,000,000 distribution business in the PRC
REEHEFRERRAR" wE/ ZRER RAEETERYEER
“ZE\EtA+-H AR #10,000,0007 NHEEH
Wuhua Yongke Kidney Hemodialysis Company Limited*" The PRC/ Registered capital - - 9 99.0 Hemodialysis treatment and consultancy
28 November 2016 RMB3,000,000 service business in the PRC
BERYBMORERBRAT HE/ BTN RAEETIREMARRASR
ZEE AE#3,000,0007 BEB
+-BZ+\B
Wuchuan Zhining Hemodialysis Company Limited*" The PRC/ Registered capital - - 9 99.0 Hemodialysis treatment and consultancy
6 June 2018 RMB3,000,000 service business in the PRC
R)IRENRERERAT HE/ BTN RAEETIREMARRASR
ZE-\f AE#3,000,0007 BEB
~ARA
Yangchun City Yanghe Kidney Hemodialysis Company The PRC/ Registered capital - - 9 99.0 Hemodialysis treatment and consultancy
[imited** 27 September 2016 RMB6,000,000 service business in the PRC
BETRENESORERERAR" HE/ BTN RAEETIREMARRADR
ZERE AE#6,000,0007 BEB
ABZ+tH
4 The English names of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC # AATRBENBAT ZEXLTEY
are transliteration of their respective Chinese names which ARERR DL HEMILES
have not been registered. 3o
" Company established in the PRC with limited liability. 2 RHEERIIHERSEAE

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities RBEE_E_NEER_ZE_=H£=H
=St+—HLEFEARER MERNBEA

B ETIEAREES-

during the years and at the end of years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their

LHAFMEMBABEENRHESBEM

respective place of incorporation/establishment. FRAL FR 3L BE R E o

BEREEZERERAR
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24,

25.

240

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES - continued

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive

24. T EMBAT—&

ERINHARBDEZIRTEXELE
EEENFEEZTABDMBAT &
AEREERRREMRR R ESHE
B AR Z5F 15

length.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. RE/RREEHEIER
2024 2023
—ECIE ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT F#T
Cash and cash equivalents REkFEEEEER 18,228 9,876

At as 31 March 2024, the cash at banks and cash on hand of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$17,811,000 (2023: approximately HK$8,976,000).
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on the
prevailing market rate. The cash and cash equivalents are
deposits with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
but conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorisation to

conduct foreign exchange business.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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26. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE

On 31 March 2023, Zhuhai Sheng Chuang Medical
Investment Management Limited* (BkiBFA B BEREE
EAEPRAF)(“Zhuhai Sheng Chuang”) entered into the
disposal agreement with an independent third party to sell
the entire issued share capital of Huidong Yanghe Kidney
Hemodialysis Limited® (ERZBFM B M BB BRLXED)
(“Huidong Yanghe”), a company established under the
laws of the PRC with limited liability and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Zhuhai Sheng Chuang, for a consideration of
approximately RMB3.5 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,990,000). The disposal was completed on 11 May
2023. Details of the disposal are set out in the Company’s

announcements dated 31 March 2023.

The disposal does not constitute a discontinued operation as
it does not represent a separate major line of business or a
geographical area of the Group but the assets and liabilities
attributable to Huidong Yanghe, which are expected to be
sold within twelve months, were classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations as at 31 March 2023, and
are presented separately in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The proceeds of disposal are expected to exceed the net
carrying amount of the relevant assets and liabilities and,
accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised on the

classification of these operations as held for sale.

# English translations of official Chinese names are for
identification purpose only.

26. PEBFELENEE

RZEZ=%=A=+—08 %84
BRKEEERARAR (TkiEHA)
BRUE=FTIHERZ HEER
ENBNOLBRENBERAG (TERE
M) HWEBERTRES REANVAR
#3,500,0007% (1HE 12 493,990,000#
7o) c EREBEMA—RBBEPEEEBRIL
NERAT  AKEARNZEREA
SoHEFEER _E_=FRA+—
A BRUESEFBEAELSHEA
AREAS_=F=A=+—HWA
o

HEFEAEHUERLEEER BA
HIARKRAEENBIITEEZBRN
wREE > MEHBR A RE12@8
RHENERBENNEENGR K=
E_=ZFEZR=+—HRBEEEMBR
HERESRE I EFHENFERBEERK
ERILEEER DESRFELE LN
REMBRRRTERT®R-

HEMSHRERGRBELBEREERE
BREFE B SiEMFELE
MR EFE BN ERDAERE-
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26. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE

242

26. P EABFELENEE—&

- continued
The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the MRS ERFFHENHEEMNNEE
disposal group classified as held for sale are as follows: HERARENNT
2023
—EZ=H
HK$°000
F#ET
Property, plant and equipment L EN =Y 1,085
Right-of-use assets FREEE 2,308
Inventories =758 75
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EH W RIE 147
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEFIER 88
Total assets classified as held for sale DESFHEHEEERTE 3,703
Lease liabilities, and total liabilities associated with 193 $EAIF(EHEEEHERAN
assets classified as held for sale HEaBEREAR 2,838

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. BB R EMMEMDRIA
2024 2023
—EImE | 2=
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#Ex FET
Trade payables (Note) B 5 R mIa (i) 10,458 16,965
Accruals and other payables FEst& R R EME[SRIE 5,318 4,857
Deposits received BlUtizE 1,966 2,075
17,742 23,897
Note: B EE -
The ageing analysis of trade payables of the Group presented based BREZAHMETNAERE S EHRIEN
on the invoice date is as follows: IRECDANUNT -
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHERT FHET
Within 90 days 90H MR 5,919 7,542
91 to 180 days 91&F180H 797 1,575
181 to 365 days 181F365H 33 2,722
Over 365 days Bi8365H 3,709 5,126
10,458 16,965
The average credit period on purchases of certain goods in range BEETERZTEHUEEHANF30E90H
from 30 to 90 days (2023: 30 to 90 days). (ZZEZ— =% :30FE90RH) M-

BEREEZERERAR
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HE &R
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THET
Lease liabilities payable: EHEEaE:
Within one year —FR 2,364 2,569
Within a period of more than one year —FE L ERENIAME
but not exceeding two years 2,309 2,555
Within a period of more than two years MEN LB R ENARM
but not exceeding five years 3,451 5,171
Within a period of more than five years AFE EHAR 5,785 7,421
13,909 17,716
Less: Amount due for settlement within Rt ZEAREEEEZ
12 months shown under current liabilities &% (RS &EIETIT) (2,364) (2,569)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months IR+ _{EB &R EIHFE S8
shown under non-current liabilities (RIERBERBRIETIIMR) 11,545 15,147
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to HE&EERMETSIE S G
lease liabilities range from 3.13% to 7.64% (2023: 4.63% BNF3I13%E7.64% (ZE =
to 7.50%). 4.63%%E7.50%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

29. BORROWINGS 29. B8
2024 2023
—EZME —T==

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank borrowings - unsecured (Note (a)) $R{TEE - EEER (FizE()) 1,300 6,856
Other loans — secured (Note (b)) HMER - BERF (b)) 391 594
1,691 7,450

Carrying amount repayable: FETEREME :
Within one year or on demand —FERFHIBFER 1,691 7,450

Notes:

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s unsecured bank borrowings
were floating rate borrowings of which interest rates are in
the range of People’s Bank of China’s loan prime rate plus
7.01% to 10.88% per annum (2023: in the range of People’s
Bank of China’s loan prime rate plus 7.01% to 10.88% per
annum).

Certain of our PRC subsidiaries have entered into borrowing
agreements with third-party financing companies during the
year ended 31 March 2023. Pursuant to the loan agreements,
loans were secured by vehicles with carrying amounts of
RMB766,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$830,000)
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: RMB779,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$890,000)), guaranteed by certain of our
other PRC subsidiaries and with fixed interest rates ranging
from 7.10% to 9.23% per annum (2023: ranging from 7.10%
to 9.23% per annum).

Bk -

RZEZMNE=B=+—H '&&H
ZERERBTEEAIHINEEE
HAENFEFHFEARBITERRES
FEM7.01%E10.88% (ZE_=
NFHEARBITERREZFIZEN
7.01%%E10.88%) ©

BHE_ZT-_=-—HF=-A=+—HL=F
E ZANETHTEHRBATEE=
FRBE AT EIERGE - RIEEN
mE O RZENE=A=+—H &
TUEREEAR766,0007t (FHER
#9830,000%7T) (ZZE-=F : AR
779,0007% (FBE 2 %9890,000%7T)) BY
AEER THETHEMTERBAR
REER BEMNENFEET10%E
9.23% (ZEZ=F : NFEF7.10%
F9.23%) °

BEREEZERERAR
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30. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR
As at 31 March 2024, amount due to a director was

unsecured, interest rate at 5.75% per annum and repayable

30. FE(I—REFEMIA
R-E-—mE=BA=4+—8 B —%
BE SIS A EIEE R ERKS 75%5

on demand. BERBREREE-
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. Ig7s
Nominal
value of
Number of ordinary
shares shares
BiERZ
kRir&E [i: 1§11
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RIZZEZZHFM™AB—H-
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E_=F=H=+—H-
ordinary share of HK$0.05 per share TEI=-HFNA—HK
—E_WE=ZA=+—H
SREE0.05B T L@ 1,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRHERE :
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RIZZEZZHFM™A—H-
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E_=fF£=ZRB=+—H-
T =HFMA—HK
“ZTNFE=HA=+—H 560,222,136 28,011
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z " FE=H=+—HILFE

RESERVES 32. (#fE

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

of the consolidated financial statements.

KERBEE_ S _NER_ZE-_=ZF=
B=+—HILEEEZH#EREEH T
EIRGEEMBERRZIGAHERED
13_@0

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 33. ZAFMBIRRRR
THE COMPANY
2024 2023
S 111 - T =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Non-current assets JERENEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBABZKRE 6,484 6,484
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,780 2,709
Property, plant and equipment Y E R Yk 46 94
8,310 9,287
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables and deposits HthEWERIE KRGS 550 556
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEBEIER 364 845
914 1,401
Current liabilities RENEE
Accruals and other payables FEsTE R R EMEMRIE 1,691 1,600
Lease liabilities HE&aR 901 850
Amount due to subsidiaries FEHE AT RIE 35,200 36,387
Amount due to a director BT —%EERIE 8,450 -
46,242 38,837
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 33. ZXRGIMBRRR—E
THE COMPANY - continued
2024 2023
—E-mE ==

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAET

Net current liabilities mEAaEFEE (45,328) (37,436)

Total assets less current liabilities BELERRHEE (37,018) (28,149)
Non-current liabilities ERBER

Lease liabilities HEaE 956 1,856

956 1,856

Net liabilities BEF%E (37,974) (30,005)
Capital and reserves B R #EE

Share capital fi& s 28,011 28,011

Reserves (Note 34) HfE (MF5E34) (65,985) (58,016)

Total deficit Es4li4EEa (37,974) (30,005)

The financial statement was approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Wang Jia Jun
Executive Director
F{EE
HITEE
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34. RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

34, ST EHE

Share Share option Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total

fefn ik fE fRlR e Reti5HE “st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TR TR FET

At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_"&NA—H 60,299 5,636 (117,023) (51,088)

Loss for the year FEEBE - - (6,933) (6,933)
Share-based payment (Note 36) UM AERZ AR

(MiE36) - 5 - 5

At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=f=A=+—H 60,299 5,641 (123,956) (58,016)

Loss for the year FEEBR - - (9,143) (9,143)
Share-based payment (Note 36) DUy R- S PANEN

(Mi£36) - 1,174 - 1,174

At 31 March 2024 RZE_ME=A=+-H 60,299 6,815 (133,099) (65,985)

BREEZERARAR 249
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35.

250

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates as Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the Scheme, this

contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries established
in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement
benefits schemes operated by the local government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the retirement benefits to fund the
benefits. The only obligations of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefits schemes are to make the specified

contributions.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there was
no forfeiture of retirement benefits schemes contributions
(by employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in such contributions) in the Group. As
at 31 March 2024 and 2023, no forfeited contribution under
the retirement benefits schemes of the Group is available to

reduce the contribution payable in future years.

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

2013 Share Option Schemes

On 24 September 2013, the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) whereby the
Board can grant options for the subscription of our shares
to the employees, managerial staff and senior employees
and those other persons that the Board considers that
they will contribute or have contributed to the Group (the
“Participants”) as described in the Share Option Scheme
in order to serve as compliment and to reciprocate their
contribution to the Group. The maximum number of shares
that can be issued according to the Share Option Scheme
was 56,022,213 shares, which is equivalent to 10% of the
total number of the issued shares of the Company. The
number of options that may be granted pursuant to the
terms of the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10%
of the issued shares immediately after the completion of
the Listing. Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders
of the Company in general meeting, the number of shares
that may be granted to a Participant under the options shall
not exceed 1% within any 12-month period (other than
those granted to the substantial shareholders (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or the independent non-
executive Directors or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules)), or the total number of shares
that may be granted under the options to the substantial
shareholders of the Company or the independent non-
executive Directors or any of their respective associates shall
not exceed 0.1% of the shares in issue of the Company
from time to time. There is no minimum period that the
options must be held before they become exercisable, and
the options granted shall be exercised within the period
decided by the Board; however, no options shall be exercised
10 years after they have been granted. The exercise price of
the option shall be the higher of (a) the closing price of the
shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant; (b) the average closing price of the shares
on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (c) nominal value of the share. Each grantee shall pay a
consideration of HK$1.00 at the time the option is granted.
The Share Option Scheme shall take effect from the date it
is adopted and shall remain effective within a period of 10
years from that date.

36. BERg TR

TRl
RZE—=FAAZ+HEH » xRFEX
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES - continued 36. MBR SR — &
2013 Share Option Schemes - continued —E—=FRREE &
The scheme mandate limit under the 2013 Scheme was TE—=FHEETZE AR EREETE
refreshed at the annual general meeting of the Company EABRZEZZEFNAA+—HE17
held on 11 September 2020. The total number of shares of ZRERBFERGLEEH - KEHE
the Company available for issue under the 2013 Scheme is TE—=FHAETAHETZAAR
56,022,213 shares as refreshed. As at 31 March 2024, the AR5 488 556,022,213 - R _F =M
number of shares in respect of which share options had been F=A=+—H REERESIEE
granted but not exercised under the Share Option Scheme MEATEZERESTRZEBRMHDHES
was 81,473,892 (2023: 30,473,892) shares. The grant of 81,473,892 (Z&E—_ =4 . 30,473,892
56,000,000 share options on 5 September 2023 represents ) RMZE_=%HABARBEEBHZ
approximately 9.996% of the shares of the Company in 56,000,000f7 FERG LA R B Z B Z
issue at that date. Under Rule 17.04(1) of the Listing Rules BRITIRID#99.996% o 1RiE E R AIE
and the provision of the Share Option Scheme, each grant 17.0400 & K BB IR HE 5T 8 2 15 30 B RIR
of Options to a director, chief executive or substantial HEREFTARATIES - RRITHRAR
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective FEIERFHRESBZEMBBRAE
associates, must be approved by the independent non- EEEIIEMITESHE-

executive directors.

The following table discloses details and the movements BHE_Z_NHERZZEZ=F=HA
of the Company's share options held by directors and —t+—HLEEE - ZEEkEERELA
employees during the years ended 31 March 2024 and EEREZHEBEREFN TRIESE !
2023:
Exercise Balance Granted Cancelled Balance
price for  outstanding at during during outstanding at
Grant date Validity period one share 1 April 2023 the year the year 31 March 2024
RZBZZ% RIEZME
—kkfRz mA-AZ ZA=+-H2
RHAH BB ikl HARESRS REARY RERESE  HARESGR
HK$
AT
Directors 26 October 2018 26 October 2018 - 26 October 2028 0.668 1,414,670 = = 1,414,670
BE Z2-\g+AZ+75H “2-\E+RZ+AHEZZZN\E+AZ+RA
24 April 2020 24 April 2020 - 24 April 2030 0.190 2,800,000 - - 2,800,000

“ECREMACAMA CECEENATMAE-E=TEMAZMNAH
5 September 2023 5 September 2023 - 5 September 2033 0.094 - 6,200,000 - 6,200,000
“2_=%£A\RERA ZE_CEARREAE_E==FhAEH

Total
st 4,214,670 6,200,000 - 10,414,670
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2013 Share Option Schemes - continued

36. FARRMESTEI— 1B

—E-C-HFEREstE &

Exercise Balance Granted Cancelled Balance
price for  outstanding at during during  outstanding at
Grant date Validity period one share 1 April 2023 the year the year 31 March 2024
R-B-=E RZB-mE
—kkHz mA-BZ ZR=+-H2
R AL AR iR HAEERR REARH RERFE  HREEER
HKS
AT
Employees 26 October 2018 26 October 2018 - 26 October 2028 0.668 11,689,222 - 11,689,222
& ZE-N\EHAZHRE ZE-N\EHRZHARECFINETAC4RH
24 April 2020 24 April 2020 - 24 April 2030 0.190 11,840,000 - 11,840,000
“ECRENACHMA R EEMAtRAE-F=EREENACTMA
24 April 2020 24 April 2021 - 24 April 2030 0.190 1,170,000 - 1,170,000
“ECREMACHMA  CERC-FMACHREAECF=EREENA-MA
24 April 2020 24 April 2022 - 24 April 2030 0.190 1,560,000 - 1,560,000
ZEIDEMNACHMA R CEMAZHNAE-E=ZEMA-TMA
5 September 2023 5 September 2023 - 5 September 2033 0.094 - 49,800,000 (5,000,000) 44,800,000
ZR°=FNREA ZECZENRRAEZE==FNAEA
Total
b 26,259,222 49,800,000 (5,000,000) 71,059,222
Grand total
At 30,473,892 56,000,000 (5,000,000) 81,473,892
BEEERZERERAT 253
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES - continued 36. MBRRTESTEI &
2013 Share Option Schemes - continued —E—=FRREE &
Exercise Balance Granted Cancelled Balance
price for  outstanding at during during  outstanding at
Grant date Validity period one share 1 April 2022 the year the year 31 March 2023
R-B-ZE R-®-=%
—kkHz mA-BZ =ZB=+-H2
R AL AR iR HAEERR REARH RERFE  HREEER
HKS
BT
Directors 26 October 2018 26 October 2018 - 26 October 2028 0.668 1,414,670 - - 1,414,670
B%

ZZ-N\E+AZ+AH ZE-N\ETAZHARBEZZCNE+AZtAH
24 April 2020 24 April 2020 - 24 April 2030 0.190 2,800,000 - = 2,800,000
ZZIZEMAZHME CECEEMAC+MAECE=TEMACTMEA

Total
@t 4,214,670 - - 4,214,670
Employees 26 October 2018 26 October 2018 - 26 October 2028 0.668 11,689,222 - - 11,689,222
&8 ZE-NE+RZtRH  ZE-\ETRZHAREZZRNETAZtRE
24 April 2020 24 April 2020 - 24 April 2030 0.190 11,840,000 = = 11,840,000
RCREMACAMA CECEENACTMAE-S=TEMAC-TMA
24 April 2020 24 April 2021 - 24 April 2030 0.190 1,170,000 = = 1,170,000
ZRCREMACAMA ZEC-FMAZTMAE-S=ZEMA-+MA
24 April 2020 24 April 2022 - 24 April 2030 0.190 1,560,000 = = 1,560,000
ZEIFEMAZAMA  ZEIZEMAZHMAEECZ=EEMAZHME
Total
@t 26,259,222 - - 26,259,222
Grand total
&t 30,473,892 - - 30,473,892
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES - continued

2013 Share Option Schemes - continued

Share options granted on 26 October 2018 (“Share
Option 1")

The fair value of Share Option 1 determined using the
Binomial model was approximately HK$3,944,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.119 at the grant date, exercise price shown above,
expected volatility rate of 62.873%, annual risk free interest
rate of 2.36% and dividend payout ratio of Nil. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices
from 26 October 2013 to 26 October 2018.

All of the Share Options 1 were immediately vested from the

date of granted.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no share-
based payment expense was charged to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

Share options granted on 24 April 2020 (“Share
Option 2")

The fair value of Share Option 2 determined using the
Binomial model was approximately HK$1,864,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.190 at the grant date, exercise price shown above,
expected volatility of 58.779%), annual risk free interest rate
of 0.51% and dividend payout ratio of Nil. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices
from 24 April 2015 to 24 April 2020.

36.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES - continued
2013 Share Option Schemes - continued
Share options granted on 24 April 2020 (“Share
Option 2") - continued
Among the 3,900,000 options granted to the employees
of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC, these options are

exercisable in the following manner:

1. up to 30% of the options granted to each grantee
shall be exercisable on or after 24 April 2020 to 23
April 2021;

2. up to further 30% of the options granted to each
grantee shall be exercisable on or after 24 April 2021
to 23 April 2022; and

3. all the remaining 40% of the options granted to each
grantee shall be exercisable on or after 24 April 2022
to 23 April 2023, and in each case, not later than 24
April 2030.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no share-based
payment expense was charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss (2023: HK$5,000).
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES - continued

2013 Share Option Schemes - continued

Share options granted on 5 September 2023 (“Share
Option 3")

The share options granted on 5 September 2023 are
exercisable from 5 September 2023 to 5 September 2033.
The share options granted will be vested over a period of

twelve months from the date of grant.

The fair value of the share options granted on 5
September 2023 determined using the Binomial model was
approximately HK$2,210,000. The significant inputs into
the model were share price of HK$0.092 at the grant date,
exercise price shown above, expected volatility of 59.904%,
annual risk free interest rate of 3.89% and dividend payout
ratio of Nil. The volatility measured at the standard deviation
of expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis
of daily share prices from 11 October 2013 to 5 September
2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, share-based payment
expense of approximately HK$1,174,000 was charged to the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The 2013 Scheme was terminated pursuant to a resolution
passed by its shareholders on 15 September 2023. Upon
termination of the 2013 Scheme, no further options may
be granted but in all other respects, the provisions of the
2013 Scheme shall remain in full force and effect. Therefore,
the termination of the 2013 Scheme will not in any event
affect the terms of the grant of such outstanding options
that have already been granted under the 2013 Scheme and
outstanding options granted under the 2013 Scheme shall

continue to be subject to the provisions of the 2013 Scheme.
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36.

258

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES - continued
2023 Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the
“2023 Scheme”) on 15 September 2023. The 2023 Share
Option Scheme aims to provide incentives or rewards to its
employees, directors and other eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to
recruit the best available personnel whose contributions are
important to the long-term growth and profitability of the
Group. The 2023 Scheme will remain in force for a period of

ten years commencing from 15 September 2023.

Under the 2023 Scheme, the Board may offer to grant
option(s) to subscribe for such number of shares to any
eligible participants as the Board may from time to time
in its discretion determine on a case-by-case basis. The
Company believes that the authority given to the Board
to select the appropriate participants and to specify the
terms and conditions in respect of any Options that may be
granted, including the vesting period, performance targets
and subscription price for such options, which will serve to
protect the value of the Company as well as achieve the
purposes of retaining and motivating the eligible participants
to contribute to the development and growth of the
Group for the benefit of the shareholders. Accordingly, the
Directors consider that it is in the interest of the Company

and the Shareholders as a whole to adopt the 2023 Scheme.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES - continued

2023 Share Option Scheme - continued

The subscription price in respect of any option, subject
to the adjustment made of any alteration in the capital
structure, shall be such price as determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of the
relevant option but in any case the subscription price shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares as
shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange
for the five consecutive business days immediately preceding
the offer date; or (iii) the nominal value of the share on the

offer date.

Summary of the principal terms of the 2023 Scheme was
disclosed in the circular dated 26 July 2023.

The total number of securities available for issue under
the 2013 Scheme as at 1 April 2023 and under the 2023
Scheme as at 31 March 2024 was 56,022,213 shares and
56,022,213 shares respectively, which both represented
approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the corresponding date. Under the 2023
Scheme, the maximum entitlement of each participant
should not be exceeded 1% of Shares in issue. No option
had been granted or agreed to be granted as at the date of

this report.
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37.

260

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had entered into transactions with
related parties/connected person which, in the opinion of
directors, were carried out at normal commercial terms and
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business, as shown
below:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Rl 532 5

FREMBREEMEAREEN
REE GRS FMEALETT
RGP EFERR ZEXBHEREER
EFRERAEEEEXHBREDE

(ERE AR 1

(a) FEEIEASHM

2024 2023

“EQME | ZTZ=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHET
Short term employees benefits ZHAEEEF 869 840
Provident fund contributions NEEHER 18 18
Share-based payment UMD BERZ R 5 =
892 858

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. AR5 — 4B
- continued
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) BEIRAEEF 235
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET

Expense relating to short-term lease S F{EEEFT I FEHATHE

with Wang Jia Jun BRzHX 180 180
The Group had entered into a number of transactions AEBBBAERIILZERS R
with connected parties which, upon the listing of BRI EERZF L% RiELTR
shares on the Stock Exchange, became connected B> ZEMEBESRARNT ZRE
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. These AT - ZERZBIFER S
transactions are continuing transactions exempt from GBS FHEAIETEEE IR
the independent shareholders’ approval requirements RILEZRE - HMABEHENRES
under the Listing Rules. The detailed information has BREFERERZIRME-

been disclosed on Report of the Directors “Continuing
Connected Transactions”.
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SFealBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE _ZE_MFE=H=+—HItFE

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38. MEEHELENAEBHIR

FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

Amounts due Lease
Borrowings to a director liabilities Total
B8 RE—RESRE HE&RE at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
At 1 April 2022 RZE-—_&WmB—H - 3,500 20,986 24,486
Change from financing cash flows: mﬁﬁfﬁﬁlﬁiﬁ‘@] :
Repayment of amount due to BERMEEM
directors - (3,500) - (3,500)
Proceed from borrowings BEMBME 11,564 - - 11,564
Repayment of borrowings BERE (4,992) - - (4,992)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREARE - - (3,874) (3,874)
Total changes from financing cash RERETELEEE
flows 6,572 (3,500) (3,874) (802)
Other changes: HitEg) .
New lease entered HEIIHE - - 3,804 3,804
Interest expenses FERE 893 = 1,125 2,018
Exchange realignment ERAE (15) - (1,487) (1,502)
Reclassify as held for sale BNAEARKELE - = (2,838) (2,838)
Total other changes Hit2 ez 878 - 604 1,482
At 31 March 2023 RIZZ=fF
=B=+—H 7,450 - 17,716 25,166
At 1 April 2023 —E--ENA-H 7,450 - 17,716 25,166
Change from financing cash flows: RERERSET .
Interest paid on amount due to Eff—2ESEHIEZ
a director BAFE - (197) = (197)
Proceed from amount due to a Eff—2EEHIEZ
director P8 TIE = 8,450 = 8,450
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (6,023) - - (6,023)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEER - = (3.272) (3.272)
Total changes from financing cash RERERELHLHE
flows (6,023) 8,253 (3,272) (1,042)
Other changes: Hithg )
New lease entered EIIHE - - 617 617
Interest expenses HERX 585 197 929 1,711
Exchange realignment ERAE (321) = (760) (1,081)
Early termination of lease REKLAE - - (1,321) (1,321)
Total other changes Hith&gh4a % 264 197 (535) (74)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME
=A=+-H 1,691 8,450 13,909 24,050

WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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39.

40.

41.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S a B mERMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = —E_MF=H=+—HI-FE

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no material

capital commitment.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant events
requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31
March 2024 and up to the date of this report.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 June
2024.

39.

40.

41.

B
Ro-E_MFER_EB=F=H=Z+—
B AEBAEERERKLE-

HEMEREE

EELANER -B-ME=F=+—
BREEAREAMBECATRES
EREAEE-

RETIRRSHBERR

REMBRERENR _ZZ_NERA
TtHt—HHEFSHERRETIE-

BEREEZERERAR
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Five Years Financial Summary

AEMBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the

Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

BB ETIREERMBRR]ZEEENE
ZLEMBEEZXEREELRBRZME

published audited financial statements, is set out below: =HHWTF -
==
RESULTS E 3 |
For the year ended 31 March
HEZA=1+—HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EmE =k ZEICE ZE-& ZEITE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FT#R AT BT AT AT
Results EL |
Revenue g 181,092 173,702 154,823 114,086 96,977
Cost of sales SHERM K (126,352) (116,766) (100,589) (72,750) (71,625)
Gross profit EY ] 54,740 56,936 54,234 41,336 25,352
Other revenue Htwham 43 153 50 597 158
Other gain and loss, net Hithlas A58 258 (1,769) (733) = (102) 219
(Allowance for)/reversal of expected credit B &k E eI IE 2 FH
losses on trade and other receivables, RERE (&E) BEFE
net (4,595) 7,499 (3,187) (2,409) (3,617)
Impairment loss on goodwill BERESE (22,310) = (46,630) = =
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (35,758) (34,798) (29,600) (24,987) (17,139)
Administrative expenses THEX (29,789) (24,584) (22,250) (16,524) (14,443)
(Loss)/profit from operations EEER (58) E5n (39,438) 4,473 (47,383) (2,089) (9,470)
Finance costs M%EMR (1,711) (2,018) (1,308) (1,338) (11,089)
(Loss)/profit before taxation PRifA (B548) /@R (41,149) 2,455 (48,691) (3.427) (20,559)
Taxation i 854 (517) (2,246) (1,050) (308)
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE (§518) /i (40,295) 1,938 (50,937) (4,477) (20,867)
(Loss)/profit for the year UTALRIEEEE
attributable to: (E18) /mdl .
Owners of the Company NN (39,977) 1,820 (50,999) (4,536) (20,744)
Non-controlling interests RS (318) 118 62 59 (123)
(40,295) 1,938 (50,937) (4,477) (20,867)
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZZmE | ZEZ=F T R ZZCZHE
HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
F#ER THET TER AT AT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERATR
Total assets mEE 117,101 173,448 191,818 223,587 206,700
Total liabilities meR (41,906) (53,221) (63,722) (52,512) (48,365)
Total equity G 75,195 120,227 128,096 171,075 158,335
264 WANIJIA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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